
Please ask for  Democratic Services: Telephone (01362) 656295
e-mail: democraticservices@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - CABINET
Date & Time - TUESDAY, 27TH NOVEMBER, 2018 AT 10.00 

AM

Venue - WATTON TOWN HALL, MIDDLE ST, 
WATTON, THETFORD IP25 6AG

There will be an opportunity for members of the public 
to ask questions of the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am.

Members of the Committee requiring further information, or with specific 
questions, are asked to raise these with the appropriate officer at least 
two working days before the meeting.  If the information requested is 

available, this will be provided, and reported to Committee.

The Cabinet

Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services 
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: Friday, 16 November 2018

Public Document Pack





Cabinet
27 November 2018

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)
herewith

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
There will be an opportunity for members of the public to ask 
questions of the Cabinet from 9.30 to 10.00am.

1. MINUTES 5 - 16
To confirm the Minutes together with the exempt minutes of the meeting, 
held on 16 October 2018, 

2. APOLOGIES 
To receive apologies for absence.  

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

4. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has 
a disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

5. NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

7. BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 
To consider the grants put forward (if any).  

8. SAFEGUARDING POLICY 17 - 48

Report of the Executive Member for Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.

9. QUARTER 2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2018-19 49 - 58

Report of Executive Member for Finance and Delivery, Councillor 
Philip Cowen.

10. LOCAL COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNT FOR CARE LEAVERS 59 - 66

Report of Executive Director for Place, Councillor Paul Claussen.



Cabinet
27 November 2018

Page(s)
herewith

11. NORFOLK STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE DELIVERY PLAN 
REFRESH 2018 

67 - 137

Report of Executive Member for Growth, Councillor Gordon 
Bambridge.

12. DRAFT BUDGET, MEDIUM TERM PLAN AND CAPITAL STRATEGY 
2019-20 

138 - 194

Report of Executive Member for Finance and Delivery, Councillor 
Philip Cowen.

13. Q2 2018-19 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 195 - 227

Report of the Executive Member for People and Information, 
Councillor Alison Webb.

14. NEXT MEETING 
To note that the date of the next meeting of Cabinet will be held on 8 
January at 9.30am in the Norfolk Room, Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke, 
Dereham, NR19 1EE.



1

BRECKLAND COUNCIL

At a Meeting of the

CABINET

Held on Tuesday, 16 October 2018 at 9.30 am in
Norfolk & Dereham Rooms, The Conference Suite, Elizabeth House, Dereham

PRESENT
Mr J.W. Nunn (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen (Vice-
Chairman)
Mr S.G. Bambridge
Mr P.D. Claussen

Mr J.P. Cowen
Mr M. S. Robinson
Mr A.C. Stasiak
Mrs A. M. Webb

Also Present
Mr W.P. Borrett
Mr D. M. Crawford
Mr K. Martin

Mrs S.M. Matthews
Mr J. Newton
Mr P. S. Wilkinson

In Attendance
Anna Graves - Chief Executive
Christine Marshall - Executive Director Commercialisation (S151 

Officer)
Maxine O'Mahony - Executive Director of Strategy & Governance 

(Monitoring Officer)
Ross Bangs - Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager 

(shared)
Sarah Barsby - Executive Manager for Information
Jon Berry - Head of Development Management
Ralph Burton - Strategic Property Manager (BDC)
Robert Campbell - Inward Investment Manager
Paul Corney - Head of ARP
Stephen James - Communities & Environmental Services Manager
Phil Mileham - Strategic Planning Manager
Teresa Smith - Democratic Services Team Leader

Action By

99/18 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 4 September were confirmed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 

100/18 APOLOGIES 

No apologies were received.

101/18 URGENT BUSINESS 

None.

5

Agenda Item 1



Cabinet
16 October 2018

2

Action By

102/18 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

None.

103/18 NON-MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 

Councillors Borrett, Crawford, Martin, Matthews, Newton and Wilkinson.

104/18 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

None.

105/18 BRECKLAND COMMUNITY FUNDING APPLICATIONS (STANDING 
ITEM) 

Nothing to report.

106/18 CUSTOMER ACCESS STRATEGY 

The Executive Member for People and Information informed members that 
the Customer Access Strategy had been designed to support the wider aims 
of the Corporate Plan and priorities, and in particular to ‘provide the right 
services, at the right time and in the right way’.  The report had been 
presented to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Commission where a 
number of suggested changes had been raised by Members and 
incorporated into the document.

It was highlighted that within the strategy it suggested Credit cards were not 
able to be used to pay for the garden waste services; however it was 
confirmed that residents were able to use this form of payment.

The Deputy Leader thanked the Commission for their input into the Strategy 
and said Members had an important role to play as digital champions by 
encouraging residents to use the digital services wherever possible.

Councillor Wilkinson said he had recently experienced problems where 
residents had had issues with accessing the housing information online and 
were advised to call the contact centre.  The Executive Member for Growth 
confirmed he would look into the problem in more detail.

Councillor Crawford asked where the training for residents would take place.  
The Deputy Leader explained that the final details were being considered; 
however work was under way with Norfolk County Council to work with 
communities to uplift the digital skills.  It was hoped that further information 
would be available early 2019.

Members were content with the strategy subject to a minor spelling 
amendment and reference to the credit card.

Reasons for recommendations
The strategy sets out a clear plan for making best use of Council resources to 
meet the needs of its customers, achieving value for money for the Council 
and its residents.

Options

6



Cabinet
16 October 2018

3

Action By

1. Approve the Customer Access Strategy, and that it be implemented 
from April 2019 to align with the Council’s new Corporate Plan.

2. Propose changes to the Customer Access Strategy.
3. Do nothing

RESOLVED that:
1) The draft Customer Access Strategy be approved;
2) The strategy be implemented from April 2019, to align with the 

Council’s new Corporate Plan.

107/18 ICT & DIGITAL STRATEGY 

The Executive Member for People and Information presented the report that 
looked to improve residents’ experience of contacting the council whilst 
increasing the efficiency of the overall operating arrangements.

The report had been presented to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny 
Commission where a number of suggested changes had been raised by 
Members and incorporated into the document.

The Executive Member for Place felt there was little information about 
supporting businesses within the document.

The Chief Executive added that the strategy considered how the workforce 
would use the strategy to help deliver further savings.

The Deputy Leader went on to say that work was underway to refresh the 
Corporate plan which would also take into account how the Council were 
worked with businesses effectively.  Business Managers had been introduced 
and were working closely with businesses to understand what their needs 
were.  He added the strategy would act as a tool for both Officers and 
Members to deliver the corporate priorities. 

Reasons for recommendations
The strategy sets out a clear plan for making best use of Council resources to 
meet the needs of its customers – residents, businesses, staff and elected 
Members – while achieving value for money for the Council.

Not only does the strategy aim to improve services, it also anticipates a 
reduction in costs over the three-year period, through increased productivity, 
rationalisation and re-procurement of systems and software, automation of 
service processes, and as more customers seek to access Council services 
online.

Options
1. That the new ICT and Digital Strategy and Digital Work Programme 

be approved, subject to Council approving the related funding to pay 
for the programme’s delivery, and be implemented from April 2019 to 
align with the Council’s new Corporate Plan.

2. Propose changes to the ICT and Digital Strategy.
3. Do nothing.

RESOLVED to Recommend FULL COUNCIL:

1) The draft ICT and Digital Strategy be approved, and implemented from 

7



Cabinet
16 October 2018

4

Action By

April 2019 to align with the Council’s new Corporate Plan.

2) That the Digital Work Programme associated with the strategy be 
approved, subject to Council approving the transfer of funding as detailed 
in the Pro forma B from Moving Forward (transformation) and Growth 
and Investment reserves.

108/18 Q1 2018-19 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

The Executive Member for People and Information explained that the report 
provided data on the Council’s performance for the period 1 April to 31 June 
2018.

The report suggested a recommendation that the performance measure for 
the Garden Waste revenue be changed to reflect the number of current 
subscribers to the Garden waste scheme.

The Deputy Leader added that it was important to note that the Members of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Commission had agreed to the performance 
measures and therefore it was Member driven.   

It was RESOLVED to agree to the change with the Garden Waste 
Performance Measure.  Members noted the report.

109/18 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY POLICY 

The Executive Member for People and Information explained that the current 
policy had originally been adopted in 2014.  The revised policy updated the 
Policy in line with changes that had been seen over the last 4-years.

Reasons for recommendations
The current adopted policy was 4-years old and due for a review.  Whilst 
there had not been any fundamental changes to statutory requirements, the 
new policy was improved for the benefit all those engaging with the Council.

Options
1. To adopt the amended Policy.
2. Do nothing.

RESOLVED that the Equality and Diversity Policy be adopted.

110/18 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION POLICY 

The Executive Member for People and Information explained that the current 
policy had originally been adopted in 2014.  The revised policy updated the 
Policy in line with changes that had been seen over the last 4-years.

The Chief Executive referred Members to the Performance report that 
highlighted a ‘red’ indicator and work was underway to digitalise the process 
as much as possible.

The Executive Member for Growth asked if there were people that miss-used 
Freedom of Information.  It was explained that there are a lot of general 
requests that were received from the Press which had been generated and 
sent out to all Councils.  Work was underway to look at how to deal with those 

8



Cabinet
16 October 2018

5

Action By

effectively. 

Reasons for recommendations
The current policy had been adopted 4-years ago and was due for a review.  
Whilst there had not been any fundamental changes to statutory 
requirements, the new policy had been improved for the benefit of people 
wishing to contact the Council regarding Freedom of Information.

Options
1. To adopt the amended Policy.
2. Do nothing.

RESOLVED that the Freedom of Information Policy be adopted.

111/18 NORFOLK HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 

The Executive Member for Place introduced the Chairman of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Councillor Bill Borrett, to present the report.  He highlighted 
the Strategic Framework which ultimately aimed to bring partners’ existing 
strategies together to create a single sustainable system.  It would allow 
partners to work together to use resources in the most effective way to 
prioritise prevention and support the most vulnerable.  

The Executive Member for Finance and Delivery urged the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to lobby MPs to embed Healthcare within the planning 
process, as Health practices were not currently statutory consultees. 
However, Breckland currently operated a voluntary practice to notify Health 
practices of significant growth within the District.

Councillor Crawford emphasised the need to do more for Healthcare as within 
Thetford there was only one dental practice and with the start of the new 
housing developments within Thetford he raised concerns that there was 
currently no plans to increase the dental surgeries within Thetford.

Reasons for Recommendations
By agreeing to the recommendations of the report, Breckland would continue 
to work in partnership to improve the health and wellbeing of the residents.

Options
1. Agree to the recommendations of the report.
2. Agree to some of the recommendations of the report.
3. Do not agree to the recommendations.

RESOLVED that:
1. The formal sign off of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy be 

agreed.
2. The current position of the Sustainability and Transformation 

Partnership be noted.
3. The development of a more formalised approach to Health and 

Wellbeing within the Council be agreed.

112/18 ENFORCEMENT AGENCY - DELEGATION OF FUNCTION 

The Executive Member for Place outlined that the report sought approval of 
Members for Norwich City Council to have their Enforcement work function 

9



Cabinet
16 October 2018

6

Action By

discharged by Breckland Council.

Reasons for Recommendations
Where it is in the interests of the Breckland Council to agree arrangements 
for the ARP Enforcement Agency to collect additional debt we will need to 
agree the arrangements to ensure that the joint working agreement benefits 
all partners.

Options
1. Breckland Council could decide not to accept delegation of the 

Enforcement function from Norwich City however if they do so then 
this would reduce the efficiency of the Enforcement Team.

2. Breckland Council could agree to the delegation of the Enforcement 
function from Norwich City which would increase the efficiency of the 
Enforcement team.

RESOLVED that in accordance with Section 9EA of the Local Government 
Act 2000 and the Local Authorities (arrangements for the Discharge of 
Functions) (England) Regulations 2012 including regulations 4, 5 and 7, 
subject to approval by Norwich City Council, Breckland Council shall 
discharge the Enforcement and taking control of goods function (section 12 to 
the Tribunals, Courts and Enforcement Act 2007) in respect of Council Tax 
(Section 14 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended)) and 
Non Domestic Rates (Section 62A of the Local Government Finance Act 
1988) for Norwich City Council.

113/18 COUNCIL TAX – LONG TERM EMPTY PROPERTY PREMIUMS 

The Executive Member for Place presented the report to Members explaining 
that since April 2013 councils had the discretion to charge up to 50% empty 
homes premium for properties that had been empty for over 2-years.  In 
offering the new powers the Government were seeking to influence owners to 
bring empty homes back into use as well as the ability for councils to increase 
Council Tax income.

Reasons for Recommendations
To bring long term empty properties back into use as soon as possible and to 
incentivise this by adding penalties through the additional Council tax 
premium charged.

Options
1a) That subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 

following any guidelines issued, Cabinet approve an additional 50% 
Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 2 
years, raising the Council Tax to 200%, from 1 April 2019; and

1b) That subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 
following any guidelines issued, Cabinet approve an additional 100% 
Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 5 
years, raising the Council Tax to 300%, from 1 April 2020; and

1c) That subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 
following any guidelines issued, Cabinet approve an additional 100% 
Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 10 

10



Cabinet
16 October 2018

7

Action By

years, raising the Council Tax to 400%, from 1 April 2021; and

1d) That subject to recommendations 1-3 being agreed, the Long Term 
Empty Premium will not apply where a property already subject to a 
Long Term Empty Premium changes ownership until a further 2 years 
has passed. At which time the 100% Long Term Empty Premium will 
apply and this will increase in line with normal progression of the 
Premium.

2) That subject to the relevant legislation coming into force some but not 
all of the options are approved by Cabinet.

3) Do nothing.

RESOLVED that:
1) Subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 

following any guidelines issued,  an additional 50% Council Tax premium 
on Long Term Empty properties longer than 2 years, raising the Council 
Tax to 200%, from 1 April 2019 be approved.

2) Subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 
following any guidelines issued, an additional 100% Council Tax 
premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 5 years, raising the 
Council Tax to 300%, from 1 April 2020 be approved.

3) Subject to the relevant legislation coming into force and subject to 
following any guidelines issued, an additional 100% Council Tax 
premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 10 years, raising 
the Council Tax to 400%, from 1 April 2021 be approved.

4) Subject to recommendations 1-3 being agreed, the Long Term Empty 
Premium would not apply where a property already subject to a Long 
Term Empty Premium changes ownership until a further 2 years had 
passed. At which time the 100% Long Term Empty Premium would apply 
and this would increase in line with normal progression of the Premium 
be approved.

114/18 SNETTERTON HEATH GROWTH AND DESIGN PLAN 

The Deputy Leader explained that the allocation of £150,000 would be used 
to support the proposed project, allowing Landowners to be involved in the 
future planning of the Snetterton Heath area.

The Executive Member for Assets added that it would create quality 
employment opportunities within the Breckland area.

The Executive Member for Finance and Delivery said it was vital for 
Breckland to work with neighbouring authorities to develop the employment 
opportunities. 

Reasons for Recommendations
Snetterton Heath is Breckland’s single largest under developed employment 
area, with significant development potential.  Without further direct actions by 
the Council, there was a danger that the site would not bring forward enough 
significant high value sector development, with a corresponding loss of high 

11



Cabinet
16 October 2018

8

Action By

value job opportunities.

Proactive action by the Council could significantly increase the pace of 
development at Snetterton and influence the quality of developments, 
especially those which would support high tech sector development and 
corresponding higher value jobs.

The gathering pace of the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor initiative provide 
a timely opportunity to push forward development opportunities at Snetterton 
Heath.

The proposed project supports delivery of the new Local Plan in a significant 
way.

Options
1) Agree the proposed project to support the growth of the Snetterton 

Heath employment area and authorise the allocation of up to £150k 
from the Growth and Investment Fund to allow the project to be 
implemented (Recommended)

2) Decide not to pursue a proactive approach to Snetterton Heath and 
limit the Council’s involvement to the provision of additional electricity 
power (Not Recommended)

It was RESOLVED:

1) to proceed with the proposed programme of activity in pursuit of 
supporting the growth of the Snetterton Heath employment area, be 
approved.

2) an allocation of £150k from the Growth and Investment Fund to allow 
the proposed project to be implemented be agreed.

115/18 ANGLIA REVENUES AND BENEFITS PARTNERSHIP 

The minutes of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership Joint 
Committee held on the 25 September 2018 were noted.

116/18 NEXT MEETING 

The arrangements for the next meeting on Tuesday 27 November 2018 at 
10.00am at Watton Town Hall, Middle Street, Watton, Thetford IP25 6AG 
were noted.

There would be an opportunity for the members of the public to ask questions 
of Cabinet members from 9.30am to 10:00am.

117/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

RESOLVED that under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act.

12



Cabinet
16 October 2018

9

Action By

118/18 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING - TRANSFER OF SERVICE 

Consideration was given to the options as set out in the report.

It was RESOLVED to RECOMMEND to FULL COUNCIL that Option 1 be 
approved.

119/18 BARNHAM BROOM GOLF & COUNTRY CLUB INVESTMENT ASSET 

Consideration was given to the options as set out in the report.

RESOLVED that Option 1 be approved.

The meeting closed at 10.50 am

CHAIRMAN

13



Document is Restricted

14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Paul Claussen, Executive Member for Place

To: Cabinet 27th November 2018

Author: Donna Hall, Licensing and Business Support Manager
Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy, Legal Services Manager

Subject: Safeguarding Policy 

Purpose: To consider and approve the new Safeguarding Policy for Breckland 
Council

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the Cabinet approve and agree to adopt the new Safeguarding Policy

2) That delegated authority be given to the Executive Director for Strategy and Governance in 
consultation with the Executive Member for Place to make minor amendments to this policy

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Safeguarding encompasses legal duties and responsibilities to protect people’s health, 
wellbeing and human rights, supporting them to prevent problems from escalating and 
enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and neglect.

1.2 District Councils have a range of statutory duties to safeguard and promote the 
wellbeing of individuals and communities which complement but do not duplicate those 
of our partners. We work with a wide range of partners including: Childrens Services; 
Adult Social Care; Health; Police; voluntary organisations and may more.

1.3 This Council embraces its duties and responsibilities to keep people safe. A policy 
ensures that we fulfil our legal duties, taking consistent and effective action to protect 
those who need safeguarding. This includes:

 Having effective safeguarding policies and procedures in place
 Having a workforce who know how to identify concerns
 Referring concerns to partner agencies
 Working with closely partners (e.g. police, social care, etc)
 Undertaking regular audit and scrutiny to test our effectiveness.

1.4 This policy and its related procedures apply to and must be available to and followed 
by all staff, councillors, volunteers, and contractors or consultants working on behalf of 
and/or representing the Council. 

1.5 An up to date detailed policy is a key tool which goes some way to enabling us to 
demonstrate compliance with our obligations as a District Council under the Children Act 
2004 and the Care Act 2014.

17

Agenda Item 8



1.6 Breckland Council has had a Child Protection Policy in place for many years which has 
been due a refresh. It was agreed that the Council also needed to ensure that a policy in 
relation to safeguarding adults was adopted, so a joint policy has now been developed.

1.7 The Safeguarding Policy has been developed in consultation with the Norfolk Children and 
Adults Safeguarding Boards. Much of the detail in the policy is there to reflect the Boards’ 
current positions and protocols on safeguarding.

1.8 The policy sets the strategic position and outlines key information in relation to 
safeguarding. Procedures have also been written for staff to provide information and 
processes in more detail. The procedures relate to key areas including: Children; Adults; 
Domestic Abuse; Hate crime; Modern Day Slavery and Human Trafficking; PREVENT and 
radicalisation.

1.9 Internally, safeguarding is governed by a Strategic Board which is chaired by the Executive 
Director of Strategy and Governance who is also the Council’s Designated Safeguarding 
Officer. Underneath this board there is an Operational Safeguarding Group which meets 
regularly and is made up of officers across the Council whose role touches safeguarding: 
such as Housing and Community Safety. This is facilitated by the Council’s two Deputy 
Safeguarding Lead Officers. In order to support this important work, an internal secondment 
has now been recruited to, for a 12 month Safeguarding Officer post.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Consider the report and attached policy and agree the recommendations.

2.2 Do nothing

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Under section 11 of the Children Act we have a duty to ensure our functions are 
discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children.

3.2  The Care Act 2014 requires us to work with other agencies to prevent and stop the risk    
and experience of abuse or neglect, and ensure that adult’s wellbeing is promoted.

3.3  A policy is an essential part of meeting this, and we would be criticised by the Children 
and Adults Safeguarding Boards for failing to adopt and follow such a policy. 

3.4 It is therefore recommended that the attached policy is considered and approved by 
Cabinet.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The policy upholds the Council’s position in taking all aspects of safeguarding very 
seriously and provides a clear and consistent framework in doing so.

4.2 The policy will enable us to demonstrate compliance with the adult and children   
safeguarding duties, and will be made available to relevant agencies when we are 
audited.

4.3 The policy will be made available to all staff and members and training and 
communications will be used promote the key areas within it.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

18



In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Constitution & Legal

5.1.1 The Legal Services manager has been involved in the preparation of this policy. The policy 
does not form part of the major policy framework and can be approved by Cabinet.

5.2 Contracts

5.2.1 The policy will be made available to all contractors. The Council’s approach to safeguarding 
in respect of contracts is contained within the policy.

5.3 Corporate Priorities

5.3.1 The safeguarding policy strongly support the corporate priority of “Enabling stronger, more 
independent communities”

5.4       Crime and Disorder 

5.4.1 The policy reflects the Council’s approach to tackling some criminal acts such as domestic 
abuse, human trafficking etc. Officers work closely with other agencies such as the police in 
relation to these matters.

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.5.1 It is not considered that the policy would infringe human rights. Due consideration has been 
given to the matters such as obtaining consent, when deciding whether to refer a matter to 
another agency. 

5.6 Health & Wellbeing

5.6.1 The policy strongly supports the Council’s approach in promoting health and wellbeing.

5.7 Reputation 

5.7.1 Failure to adopt and implement a robust safeguarding policy could lead to reputational risk 
in the event of a serious case review or audit.

5.8 Staffing

5.8.1 The policy does not require any additional staffing resources, however a temporary 
Safeguarding Officer has been appointed to support safeguarding work in general.

5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.9.1 The Operational and Strategic Safeguarding Boards have been directly consulted on this 
policy.

19



5.9.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Commission considered this policy on 8th November. Feedback 
was given in relation to use of the term “Honour based violence” and whether this was still 
the correct terminology. It has been decided to leave this in the policy unchanged, because 
this is still the terminology used by the Norfolk Safeguarding Children and Adults Boards, 
but this will be monitored. At this meeting a query was also raised regarding the frequency 
of member training on safeguarding. It was agreed that this would be reviewed and training 
would be provided following approval of the policy.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

Although this is an internal policy, it is designed to safeguard everyone, therefore will affect 
all wards.

Background papers:- Care Act 2014 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted

Children Act 2004 
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents

Government Guidance “Working Together to Safeguard Children” 
https://www.norfolklscb.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Working-
Together-to-Safeguard-Children-2018.pdf

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Donna Hall
Telephone Number: 07866 810466
Email: donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report:
 Appendix A Safeguarding Policy

20

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.norfolklscb.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Working-Together-to-Safeguard-Children-2018.pdf
https://www.norfolklscb.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/Working-Together-to-Safeguard-Children-2018.pdf


Safeguarding Policy 

Date …………………………

21



2

Contents Page Page Number

Introduction 3
Safeguarding Roles and Responsibilities 3/4/5/6/7
Policy Overview 7/8
Components of Safeguarding 8
Safeguarding Children and Young People 9
Safeguarding Adults at Risk 9/10
Domestic Abuse 10
Radicalisation and Extremism: Prevent / Channel 10/11
Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking 11
Hate Crime and Mate Crime 11
Recognising Potential Abuse 11/12/13/14
Equality 14
Mental Capacity 14
Professional Curiosity and Respectful Uncertainty 15
Inter-Agency Disputes, Escalation Policies & Challenge Logs 15/16
Confidentiality, Information Sharing and Consent 16/17/18
Record Keeping 18/19
Photography and Pornography 19
Recruitment, Induction and Training, Supervision 
and Appraisal 19/20/21
Support to Staff Experiencing Abuse 21
Safe Working Practices 21/22
Responding to allegations and/or abuse and neglect by 
Employees 22/23
Complaints and Whistle Blowing 23
Audit and Quality Assurance 23
Monitoring and Review 23

        

Appendix A Reporting 
Appendix B Advice and Support
Appendix C Legislation and Guidance
Appendix D Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Version Control

22



3

Introduction

Safeguarding encompasses legal duties and responsibilities to protect people’s 
health, wellbeing and human rights, supporting them to prevent problems from 
escalating and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and neglect.
 
Safeguarding involves many organisations including: Criminal Justice Agencies, 
Children’s Services, Adult Social Care and Health. District Councils have a range of 
statutory duties to safeguard and promote the wellbeing of individuals and 
communities which complement but do not duplicate those of our partners. 

This Council embraces its duties and responsibilities to keep people safe. This policy 
ensures that we fulfil our legal duties, taking consistent and effective action to 
protect those who need safeguarding. This includes:
 Having effective safeguarding policies and procedures in place
 Having a workforce who know how to identify concerns
 Referring concerns to partner agencies
 Working closely with partners (e.g. police, social care, etc)
 Undertaking regular audit and scrutiny to test our effectiveness.

This policy and its related procedures apply to and must be followed by 
all staff, councillors, volunteers, and contractors or consultants working 
on behalf of and/or representing the Council. 

Everyone must:
 Know where and how to access this policy and its related procedures;
 Read and comply with these documents;
 Complete appropriate training for their role;
 Identify and respond to concerns, abuse, alleged abuse, neglect, exploitation 

and/or poor practice;
 Understand how, why and who to contact with concerns or for further advice;
 Always respond to concerns, discussing these with their manager, the 

safeguarding lead officer or another appropriate organisation;
 Act swiftly to ensure the safety and wellbeing of anyone at risk or suspected of 

being at risk.

Safeguarding Roles and Responsibilities

Safeguarding is everyone’s business. 

A) All Employees
All employees must read this policy and associated procedures and complete relevant 
safeguarding training in order to fulfil their legal responsibility to identify and respond 
to actual or alleged abuse and poor practice. Those who visit people’s homes must be 
particularly alert to signs of abuse or neglect. All officers must always report and 
respond to concerns, doing so swiftly to ensure the safety and wellbeing of those 
involved. Early intervention and empowerment are key, working with the person in a 
multi-agency approach to prevent the situation deteriorating. Officers will be alert to 
and record their response to the person’s wishes, keeping details of safeguarding 
activity on the individual’s case file and advice the Safeguarding Officer.
 
All officers should exercise professional curiosity and respectful uncertainty, looking 
beneath the surface and testing the facts and also their ‘gut feelings’ rather than 

23



4

accepting every explanation, however plausible. Staff may need to discuss concerns 
with their manager and/or refer these to another agency. If an employee and their 
manager do not agree on the best course of action when a concern is raised, they 
should speak to the Designated Safeguarding Officer (DSO) or their Deputies. 

B) Managers and Supervisors
Managers and supervisors are responsible for increasing safeguarding awareness in 
their services, ensuring that staff are properly trained and follow good practice. They 
will include relevant safeguarding actions in their annual team plan, ensure that team 
and individual training needs are identified in appraisal and supervision, and ensure 
training is completed. They will review and manage progress on cases identified by 
their teams. Dealing with abuse and neglect can be stressful and distressing. Managers 
will support and supervise staff appropriately. They will respond promptly to requests 
for information regarding specific cases, and maintain clear communication with the 
Designated Safeguarding Officer and their Deputies, and good working relationships 
with other agencies, addressing any difficulties between frontline staff. 

C) Housing and Homelessness Services
All Housing staff working with individuals and families in difficult and/or crisis situations 
may identify concerns regarding their welfare. Intervening early, working with parents 
or carers, taking account of the needs of the individual, in a multi-agency approach 
e.g. joint home visits with a Health Visitor; referral to Children’s Services or Adult 
Care, often prevents the situation deteriorating. This policy requires such a response 
in every case where staff work with a 16 or 17 year old homeless child, a pregnant 
teenager or teenage parent, care leaver, or where Domestic Abuse is suspected. 
Housing staff also assess the needs of families, including those with disabled children 
who may need home adaptations to enable them to participate fully in family life, and 
are alert to the child’s own needs and wishes. Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004 requires 
authorities to take account of the impact of health and safety hazards in housing on 
vulnerable occupants, including children, when deciding on the action to be taken by 
landlords to improve conditions.

Housing Officers work with and assess the needs of adults who may be vulnerable due 
to their circumstances, including older people, those with disabilities, long-term 
conditions and sensory impairment, those fleeing domestic violence, those with 
learning disabilities, mental health needs or who abuse drugs or alcohol. They may 
need specialist housing, medical help and/or housing adaptations. The Housing Act 
1996 section 213A requires housing authorities to refer to adult care services people 
with whom children normally reside or might reasonably be expected to reside, who 
they believe may be ineligible for assistance, or who may be homeless and may 
become so intentionally or who may be threatened with homelessness intentionally, 
as long as the person consents. If homelessness persists, any child in the family could 
be in need. In such cases, if social services decide the child’s needs would be best met 
by helping the family to obtain accommodation, they can ask the housing authority for 
reasonable advice and assistance, and the housing authority must give reasonable 
advice and assistance.

D) Community Safety Service
Community Safety Officers work with children, young people and adults who are the 
victims or the perpetrators of anti-social behavior or crime, or who live in families 
involved in anti-social behaviour. They are involved in agreeing multi-agency 
responses to meeting people’s needs and ensuring that they live in a safe environment 
e.g. through Anti-Social Behaviour Advisory Group (ASBAGs). Staff are alert to signs 
of abuse or neglect, including the links with Domestic Abuse and Prevent, know how 

24

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/34/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/213A
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/section/213A


5

to record and act on their concerns, and make referrals to other agencies as 
appropriate. 

E) Licensing Service
The Council has a responsibility to undertake its functions under the Licensing Act 
2003 and the Gambling Act 2005. The Licensing Act 2003 requires ‘the protection of 
children from harm’, one of four licensing objectives. The Council must indicate in its 
statement of licensing policy the body (responsible authority) it deems to be 
competent to advise on matters relating to child protection: for the local district 
councils, this is Norfolk Safeguarding Children Board (NSCB). Also, where a premises 
license authorises the exhibition of films, this must include a condition requiring the 
admission of children to be restricted from viewing age-restricted films classified 
according to the recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) or 
the licensing authority itself. The licensing service is well-placed to raise awareness of 
abuse and neglect and promote good practice with taxi drivers and owners of licensed 
premises, requiring compliance with specific criteria such as completion of training in 
order to receive their licence.

F) Designated Safeguarding Officer / Deputy DSO/Safeguarding Officer
The Designated Safeguarding Officer (DSO) is the senior person responsible for 
ensuring that the Council meets its responsibilities under the Children Act 2004, the 
Care Act 2014, and related statutory guidance. Their role is to provide leadership and 
accountability, increasing awareness of safeguarding issues across the Council. They 
have authority to commit resources and make strategic decisions, providing expert 
advice to Senior Managers, staff and councillors. They co-ordinate safeguarding 
activity: implementing and reviewing policy and procedures; co-ordinating and 
monitoring training; ensuring safer recruitment; supporting referrals; overseeing 
complex cases to ensure these are dealt with promptly, thoroughly and fairly; ensuring 
appropriate reporting and recording systems which comply with Data Protection and 
Confidentiality requirements; meeting external requests for information; engaging in 
serious case reviews, audits and inspections, and conducting assurance reviews, 
reporting on and implementing the outcomes of these. They also disseminate 
information from NSCB and NSAB as necessary.

The DSO leads on inter-agency arrangements, liaising with Norfolk Safeguarding 
Children Board and Adults Board (NSCB and NSAB). They support case referrals to 
NSCB / NSAB for review where: there is a need to enhance inter-agency working or 
the case is of particular interest or concern; a case is an example of good and effective 
practice; or where there is a split decision regarding action to be taken to safeguard 
an individual. The DSO contributes to multi-agency reviews and investigations, with a 
role in agreeing the scope of reviews and representing their agency; and assists in 
overcoming difficulties in inter-agency working which cannot be resolved by other 
colleagues, including initiating and responding to cases in line with the agreed 
escalation policy.
The Executive Director of Strategy and Governance is the Designated 
Safeguarding Officer.

The Deputy DSO’s are the Licensing and Business Support Manager and the 
Legal Services Manager.

The Safeguarding Officer’s role is:
 To support the DSO to produce, disseminate, implement, monitor, review and 

promote the Council’s Safeguarding Policy, Procedures and Strategic Plan.

 To advise staff on responding to and referring safeguarding concerns.

25

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted


6

 To work with the DSO and Deputies to ensure that the Council fulfils its duties and 
can evidence delivery of its legal duties under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 
and the Care Act 2014, along with locally agreed standards such as the Norfolk 
Domestic Abuse Charter, through regular audits, required by Norfolk’s 
Safeguarding Adults, Children’s and Domestic Abuse Boards.

 To work closely with a wide range of partner agencies, to build trust and provide 
robust challenge, to promote effective safeguarding activity in the District.

 To ensure that all cases are collated, recorded, reported and reviewed, and all 
requests for information are responded to within the required timescales to support 
case reviews, inspections, etc.

G) Chief Executive and Management Team
The Chief Executive leads and promotes the Council’s work to identify, respond to and 
prevent abuse and neglect, in line with national legislation and local guidance. The 
Chief Executive must assure themselves that safeguarding systems and practices 
within the Council are effective. 

The Council’s Senior Management Team must ensure that resources are available to 
support staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants, including lead 
officer time, training budgets, etc. and ensure appropriate scrutiny and reporting 
arrangements are in place to review legal compliance with safeguarding requirements.

The Chief Executive as Head of Paid Service is responsible for recruitment and 
disciplinary action in relation to all staff.

H) All councillors need a good understanding of safeguarding and the need to 
balance this with empowerment. All councillors must read this Policy, adhering to this 
at all times and undertaking appropriate training. Councillors attending Norfolk Health 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) and County 
Community Safety Partnership all play a further role in assuring local safeguarding 
measures are effective and accountable. 

I) The Executive member for Place is the Lead Councillor for Operational 
Safeguarding.

J) Political Group Leaders will be involved in matters relating to councillors in their 
Political Group, including requiring them to read and act in accordance with this Policy 
and undertake appropriate training. Group Leaders will be informed immediately of 
any safeguarding allegations or complaints about members of their group and may 
need to work with the Council’s Monitoring Officer to determine what action, if any, is 
required. 

K) The Monitoring Officer ensures that the Council, its officers and its councillors 
maintain the highest standard of conduct in all they do. The Monitoring Officer is likely 
to be involved in advising political group leaders regarding member conduct.

L) The Licensing Committee operates under the Licensing Act 2003 and the 
Gambling Act 2005, requiring members of the Committee to protect children and other 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. Committee members 
must complete appropriate training in order to serve on this Committee.

26

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/17/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/19/contents


7

M) Cabinet or Executive Member approves this Safeguarding Policy and procedures 

N) The Council as a Commissioner of Services from Key Contractors
Where a Council commissions services from key contractors, it retains a legal duty to 
assure itself of the quality and safety of their safeguarding arrangements, holding 
them to account for preventing and dealing promptly and appropriately with any 
examples of abuse and neglect. Staff and volunteers in these agencies will have 
different levels and types of contact with children, young people and adults, but all are 
required to be alert to safeguarding concerns, recording details of these and any 
actions taken in response, reporting these to their manager and to the relevant 
agencies where further action is needed. BDC key contractors are Anglia Revenue 
Partnership, Capita, Serco, and BDC requires these agencies to complete three-yearly 
Section 11 (children’s) audit reviews and annual updates on progress and to share 
their annual Modern Slavery Statements.

O) Community and Voluntary Organisations
Where the Council makes grants to community and voluntary organisations, these 
should have appropriate safeguarding policies in place. 

Anyone who does not believe they can comply with this Policy should speak 
to the Designated Safeguarding Officer.

Policy Overview

This Policy aims to protect all children, young people and adults who need 
safeguarding (including employees, apprentices and those on work experience); those 
who use our services or are cared for by others who use our services; and those with 
whom our staff, councillors, volunteers, commissioned contractors and consultants 
have contact. It aims to:

 Provide guidance for staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants 
acting on behalf of the Council, protecting the Council and those individuals from 
failing to take safeguarding actions;

 Ensure a person-centered approach which puts people’s own needs and wishes 
first, hears their voice, respects their views and upholds their human rights;

 Achieve the best possible outcomes for all individuals, including enabling all 
children  and young people to Stay Safe, Be Healthy, Enjoy and Achieve, Make a 
Positive Contribution and Achieve Economic Wellbeing (Children Act 2004);

 Secure stable relationships with professionals built on trust but with respectful 
challenge if required;

 Provide consistent support to help people to meet their individual needs, with all 
decisions taken in line with the Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005;

 Ensure that everyone gets the support they need before a problem escalates;

 Provide a proportionate, timely, supportive, informed and professional response to 
anyone experiencing abuse or neglect;

 Ensure that the Council plays its full role in safeguarding and promoting the health 
and welfare of all children, young people and adults, at all times;  

27

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents


8

 Create a safe and healthy environment within all of our services, avoiding 
situations where abuse or allegations of abuse may occur.

The Council will:

 Work within national legislation and guidance.

 Be an active member of multi-agency partnerships in Norfolk including Norfolk 
Safeguarding Adults Board (NSAB) Norfolk Safeguarding Children Board (NSCB), 
Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Board (DASVB), Multi Agency Public Protection 
Arrangements (MAPPA) and Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC) 
processes and Channel / Prevent protocols. 

 Prevent harm and minimise risks by working closely with other agencies, supporting 
risk assessments and providing proactive support.

 Designate a Lead Councillor to oversee and a Senior Manager to manage the 
Council’s safeguarding activity.

 Listen to and respect individual’s wishes and feelings, empowering and supporting 
them to make their own choices, and promoting their rights, including publicising 
routes for self-referral. 

 Respond to concerns, unmet needs and emerging issues quickly and in the 
individual’s best interests.

 Develop, implement and maintain effective procedures for recording, tracking and 
learning from incidents and how these were handled.

 Implement safer recruitment procedures. 

 Identify training needs, develop plans and provide appropriate training for staff, 
councillors, volunteers and key contractors to enable them to recognise signs of 
potential harm and to act on any concerns in line with this policy.

 Ensure ongoing supervision and support, in particular for those staff most likely to 
be dealing with those at risk of abuse or neglect.

 Develop safe working practices and environments which reduce the risk and avoid 
situations where abuse or allegations of abuse may occur.

 Aid staff, councillors, volunteers, key contractors and consultants to respond 
sensitively and seriously to anyone who discloses information about abuse, ensuring 
that they are confident to take appropriate action regardless of whom the allegation 
is about (e.g. carer, staff, councillor, partner agency, etc.).

 Develop and implement effective procedures for recording and responding to 
complaints of alleged or suspected abuse by staff, councillors, volunteers, key 
contractors or consultants, ensuring they receive appropriate advice.

 Raise awareness of the Council’s responsibilities throughout the organisation, 
actively encouraging good practice and promoting wider awareness where possible 
e.g. through partnerships and other user groups.

 Actively reflect on the Safeguarding Policy, Procedures and Practice, reporting 
regularly to the Executive Member.

28



9

Components of Safeguarding

This Policy covers six key components, each with an associated procedure guide:

 Safeguarding Children and Young People
 Safeguarding Adults at Risk
 Domestic Abuse
 Preventing Violent Extremism
 Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking
 Hate Crime and Mate Crime

Safeguarding Children and Young People

The Children Act 2004 places a statutory duty on all agencies to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. The statutory guidance Working Together 2018, 
defines this as: 

 Protecting children from maltreatment;
 Preventing impairment of children’s health or development;
 Ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision of 

safe and effective care; and
 Taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes.

The Children Act requires agencies to co-operate through the Norfolk Safeguarding 
Childrens Board (NSAB) to take co-ordinated action where there is evidence of abuse 
and neglect, to identify and prevent Child Sexual Exploitation, to safeguard the 
victims, to review and understand what occurred, and to make every effort to prevent 
this occurring again. 

The NSCB develops local guidance in response to issues arising from case reviews such 
as the Pre-Birth Protocol. 

If you have any concerns that a child, young person is at risk of significant harm or 
that through early intervention agencies working together could offer help or support, 
follow the Child Safeguarding Procedures.

Safeguarding Adults at Risk

The Care Act 2014 defines safeguarding as protecting an adult’s right to live in 
safety, free from abuse and neglect. It requires people and organisations to work 
together to prevent and stop the risk and experience of abuse or neglect, and at the 
same time to ensure that the adult’s wellbeing is being promoted.

The Care Act 2014 and Care and Support Statutory Guidance 2016 require all 
agencies to identify, record, respond to, investigate and report concerns which might 
indicate that an adult is experiencing or is at risk of experiencing abuse and neglect, 
always taking account of the needs and wishes of the individual. It requires agencies 
to co-operate through the Norfolk Safeguarding Adults Board (NSAB) to take co-
ordinated action where there is evidence of abuse and neglect, to safeguard the 
victims, to review and understand what occurred, and to make every effort to prevent 
this occurring again. 

District Councils co-operate fully with Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA) to manage registered sex offenders, violent and other offenders who pose a 
risk of serious harm to the public.

29

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/722305/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children_-_Guide.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.norfolklscb.org/about/policies-procedures/5-21-pre-birth-protocol/
https://www.norfolklscb.org/about/policies-procedures/5-8-safeguarding-children-and-young-people-from-child-sexual-exploitation-policy-procedures-and-guidance/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance


10

The Care Act specifically refers to safeguarding people who experience difficulty and 
require support as a result of hoarding behaviours. Hoarding is beyond collecting and 
in extreme cases puts the individual, and potentially others, at risk of harm. Local 
guidance in the form of a multi-agency protocol will be available shortly.

If you have any concerns that adult with needs for support and care is at risk of 
significant harm, follow the Adult Safeguarding Procedures.

Domestic Abuse

The ‘Call to End Violence Against Women and Girls’ Report and The Ending Violence 
against Women and Girls Strategy (2016-2020) outline the need for a multi-agency 
response  to support high risk victims with a commitment to preventative action to 
reduce domestic abuse. These recognise that men and boys are also victims of 
domestic abuse, challenging established attitudes and beliefs. 

The Norfolk Community Safety Partnership (NCSP) has identified domestic abuse as a 
priority. Reporting to the NCSP, the Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence Board 
(DASVB) takes responsibility for delivering action to reduce domestic abuse, creating 
an environment where domestic abuse is not tolerated and seeking to reduce the 
impact on victims. Developed in consultation with partner agencies, councillors and 
with victims and survivors of domestic abuse, Norfolk’s Domestic Abuse Strategy and 
Delivery Plan sets the vision and direction for tackling domestic abuse.  

Under the DASVB sits a number of operational subgroups and working groups which 
meet to deliver on the various objectives associated with this strategy these include:

 That domestic abuse will not be tolerated.

 That domestic abuse is not the fault of the victim.

 That staff and managers should be aware of domestic abuse, its impact and how 
to respond appropriately.

 That partner agencies must work together to provide a joined up approach when 
responding to domestic abuse situations.

 That prevention, provision of services and partnership working in relation to 
domestic abuse remains a priority.

 That there is a commitment to justice for victims and reduction in risk.

District Councils co-operate fully with Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences 
(MARACs) where information about high risk domestic abuse victims (those at risk of 
murder or serious harm) is shared to develop a risk-focused, co-ordinated safety plan 
to support the victim, ensuring their voice is heard through the Independent Domestic 
Violence Advisor (IDVA).

If you suspect or become aware that someone is experiencing Domestic Abuse, 
follow the Domestic Abuse Procedures.

Radicalisation and Extremism: Prevent/Channel

Whilst there is no specific terror threat to Norfolk, everyone has an important role to 
play in identifying and preventing people from becoming radicalised into extremist 
violence. Section 26 of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act 2015 placed a Prevent 
Duty on all local authorities, requiring councils to have “due regard to the need to 

30

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/6/section/26


11

prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”. Channel is part of the Prevent 
Strategy, nationally and locally, to intervene early to prevent people becoming 
radicalised into violent extremism. Norfolk’s Prevent Strategy (2016 - 19) aims to 
empower all communities and to stand up to the small minority who support violent 
extremism

For more information, refer to the Prevent/Channel Procedure. 

Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking

Human trafficking is the movement of a person from one place to another into 
conditions of exploitation, using deception, coercion, the abuse of power of the abuse 
of someone’s vulnerability. The Modern Slavery Act 2015 unified and simplified 
previous legislation, giving law enforcement agencies new powers, increasing 
sentencing and protection for survivors. It requires organisations, including Councils, 
to take steps to ensure that there is no slavery or human trafficking in their own 
operations or their supply chains, and to publish an annual Modern Slavery 
Transparency Statement to provide assurance of this. 

For more information, refer to the Modern Slavery & Human Trafficking 
Procedure.

Hate Crime and Mate Crime

Crimes committed because of someone’s disability, gender identity, race, religion / 
belief, or sexual orientation are hate crimes. Hate crimes include: threatening 
behaviour, assault, robbery, damage to property, inciting others to commit hate 
crimes, and harassment. Hate crimes must be reported to the police. Mate crime is a 
form of crime in which a perpetrator befriends a vulnerable person with the intention 
of then exploiting them financially, physically or sexually.
 
The Council is committed to reducing Hate and Mate Crime, identified as a priority of 
Norfolk Community Safety Partnership. The Norfolk Community Safety Partnership’s 
Priorities are:

 Domestic abuse & sexual offences

 Preventing Extremism & Radicalisation

 County Lines

For more information, refer to the Hate Crime and Mate Crime Procedures.

Recognising Potential Abuse

Even though staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants may have 
limited contact with children and adults with needs for care and support as part of 
their duties, everyone must be aware of the potential indicators of abuse and know 
about what to do if you have concerns. Recognising abuse is not easy. Everyone is 
unique. It is difficult to predict how behavior may change as a result of abuse. In all 
forms of abuse, there are elements of emotional abuse. Some people are subjected 
to more than one form of abuse at any one time.

Listed below are some physical and behavioural indicators that may be commonly 
seen in children, young people and adults who are abused. Everyone will exhibit some 
of these indicators at some time. You may see one, none or several of these, but 

31

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2015/30/contents/enacted


12

remember they are only an indication and not confirmation or proof that abuse is 
taking place.

It is not your responsibility to decide whether or not abuse has taken place or if a child, 
young person or adult is at significant risk. But you must act if you have concerns 
and pass on the information. 

Child abuse or maltreatment is:

All forms of:

 Physical ill treatment
 Sexual abuse
 Emotional ill treatment
 Neglect
 Discriminatory abuse

Abuse may consist of actual or 
potential harm to the child’s health, 
survival, development or dignity in 
the context of a relationship of 
responsibility, trust or power.

Adult abuse or maltreatment is:

All forms of:

 Physical abuse
 Sexual abuse
 Emotional or psychological abuse
 Financial or material abuse
 Self-neglect or acts of omission
 Neglect by others
 Institutional abuse
 Discriminatory abuse

Abuse may consist of a single act or 
repeated acts. It can occur in any 
relationship and may result in 
significant harm to, or exploitation of, 
the person subjected to it.

Physical Abuse:

Hitting, slapping, pushing, kicking, 
misuse of medication, being locked in a 
room, inappropriate sanctions, force-
feeding, inappropriate methods of 
restraint, and unlawfully depriving a 
person of their liberty.

 Unexplained injury or injury that is 
not consistent with the 
explanation given 

 Unexplained fractures/repeated 
admissions to hospitals

 Flinching when approached/being 
unwilling to cooperate with 
personal care

 Bruising suggesting systematic 
injury, in the shape of objects or 
finger marks

Emotional or Psychological Abuse: 

Includes threats of harm or 
abandonment, deprivation of contact, 
humiliation, rejection, blaming, 
controlling, intimidation, coercion, 
indifference, harassment, verbal abuse 
(including shouting or swearing), and 
isolation or withdrawal from services or 
support, unexplained injury or injury not 
consistent with the explanation given

 Untypical ambivalence, deference, 
passivity, resignation

 Person appears anxious or withdrawn, 
especially in the presence of the 
alleged abuser

 Person exhibits low self-esteem
 Untypical changes in behaviour (e.g. 

incontinence, sleep disturbance)

32



13

Sexual Abuse:

Forcing or enticing a person to take 
part in sexual activities, whether or not 
they are aware of or consent to what is 
happening. May involve penetrative or 
non-penetrative contact and/or looking 
at or being involved in pornography or 
prostitution.

 Inappropriate sexual behavior
 Promiscuity
 Sudden changes in behavior
 Running away from home 

(Children who go missing)
 Emotional withdrawal through lack 

of trust in adults
 Unexplained money or gifts
 Inappropriate sexually explicit 

drawings or stories
 Bedwetting or soiling
 Overeating or anorexia
 Sleep disturbances
 Secrets which cannot be told
 Substance/drug misuse

Financial Abuse:

Theft, fraud, exploitation, pressure in 
connection with wills or property and 
misappropriation of property or 
benefits. It also includes withholding of 
money or unauthorised or improper 
use of a person’s money or property. 
Staff borrowing money or objects from 
a service user is also considered 
financial abuse.

 Lack of money, especially after 
benefit day

 Inadequately explained withdrawals 
from ac counts

 Disparity between assets/income 
and living conditions

 Disappearance of bank statements, 
other documents or valuables

 Loans or credit being taken out

Discriminatory neglect:

May be a factor within any of the other 
categories of abuse and is motivated 
by oppressive and discriminatory 
attitudes towards a person based on 
their disability, race, gender, religion 
or belief, cultural background, sexual 
orientation or appearance

• Unequal treatment
• Verbal abuse
• Inappropriate use of language
• Slurs
• Harassment
• Deliberate exclusion
• Assumptions based on stereo typical 

ideas held about one aspect of a 
person

Neglect:

Self-neglect and neglect by others 
can be characterised as not 
responding to a person’s basic needs. 
Those who self-neglect often live in 
extreme conditions of squalor and can 
have a tendency to hoard.

• Has inadequate heating and/or 
lighting

• Poor physical condition / 
appearance (e.g. ulcers, 
pressure sores, soiled/wet 
clothing)

• Is malnourished, has sudden or 
continuous weight loss and/or is 
dehydrated

• Cannot access / refuses appropriate 
medication or medical care

• Is not afforded appropriate privacy 
or dignity

• Person and/or a carer has 
inconsistent or reluctant contact 
with health and social services

• Callers/visitors are refused access 
• Is exposed to unacceptable risk

33



14

Cultural Abuse
There is an increased incidence and awareness of the need to be alert to cultural 
abuse. There are a number of different issues under this heading:

Honour-Based Violence is a crime, and referral to the police must always be 
considered. It has or may have been committed when families feel that dishonor has 
been brought to them, often but not always by a young female relative. The victims 
and the violence are often committed with a degree of collusion from family members 
and the community. Many victims do contact the police or other organisations but 
others are isolated and controlled so they cannot to seek help.

Female Genital Mutilation (FGM) involves procedures that intentionally alter or 
injure female genital organs for non-medical reasons, with health benefit but 
significant physical, mental and emotional harm. The Female Genital Mutilation Act, 
introduced in 2003 and effective from March 2004, makes it illegal to practice FGM 
in the UK or to take girls who are British nationals or permanent UK residents abroad 
for FGM, whether or not it is lawful in another country. It makes it illegal to aid, abet, 
counsel or procure the carrying out of FGM abroad. It also places a legal duty on 
individual staff to report all incidents to the Police.

Forced Marriage describes a marriage in which one or both of the parties is married 
without their consent or against their will. This differs from an arranged marriage, in 
which both parties consent to the assistance of their parents or a third party in 
identifying a spouse. Where there is concern that an adult at risk is being forced into 
a marriage they do not or cannot consent to, there will be an overlap between action 
taken under the forced marriage provisions and the Safeguarding Adults process. 
Action will be co-ordinated with the Police and other relevant organisations but the 
Police must always be contacted in the first instance as urgent action may be 
needed.

Equality

Everyone, regardless of background, should be given the same level of support and 
protection. Regard should always be given to a person’s religion or belief. 

People with disabilities, migrant adults and children, unaccompanied asylum-seeking 
children (UASC), victims of trafficking, domestic abuse and bullying may have 
additional care needs and this should be remembered when considering the 
behavioural indicators. 

Mental Capacity

The Mental Capacity Act (MCA) 2005 requires an assumption that all adults and all 
young people aged 16 or over have full legal capacity to make decisions unless it can 
be shown that they lack capacity to make a decision for themselves at the time that 
the decision needs to be made. Individuals must be given all appropriate help and 
support to enable them to make their own decisions or to maximise their participation 
in any decision-making process. Unwise decisions do not necessarily indicate 
lack of capacity. 

Any decision made, or action taken, on behalf of someone who lacks the capacity to 
make the decision or act for themselves must be made in their best interests. An 
individual’s mental capacity must be considered at each stage of the process. More 
information can be found in the Safeguarding Adults Guidance and Procedures.

34

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/31/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents


15

Always exercise professional curiosity. This is the ability to ask proactive questions 
rather than making assumptions or reaching conclusions not based on assessment of 
history and current circumstances. Never be frightened to ask the obvious question 
to look beneath the surface rather than accepting everything at face value. 

Professional curiosity is much more likely if practitioners:
 have good quality training to help them develop
 have access to good management, support and supervision to review challenging 

and potentially upsetting situations
 have time to review the lived experience of children and families and undertake 

regular assessment to ensure new information and developments are reflected
 have capacity to keep 'working away' to find what might have happened.

Always exercise respectful uncertainty considering and where necessary challenging 
the responses. People do not always tell the truth, sometimes to deny a situation to 
avoid detection or because they are afraid.

Always consider and record the specific circumstances and wider context: does the 
person have mental capacity, are others at risk, is there an emerging pattern, have 
others witnessed this, what is the role of family members and/or paid staff? 

Always try to see all family members separately. When that is not possible, and 
particularly when a person (this could be an adult or a child) is not being allowed to 
be seen alone, be particularly alert: for example, when someone:
 waits for her/his partner to speak first
 glances at her/his partner each time (s)he speaks, checking her/his reaction
 smoothes over any conflict
 speaks for most of the time stopping others speaking
 sends clear signals by eye / body movement, facial expression or verbally, to warn 

the other person
 has a range of complaints about the other person, which (s)he does not deny.

If you are not sure how to proceed, test your concerns with a colleague or your 
manager. A "fresh pair of eyes" can help to assess concerns and maintain good 
practice standards. Discuss any disagreement with your manager. 

If you are still not sure what to do, or do not agree with their advice, speak to the 
Designated Safeguarding Officer. If they are not available either: contact BDC 
Customer Service Centre for advice or, if the situation is urgent, make the referral. 
Keep a record of who you speak to and their response. If you report an issue to the 
Customer Service Centre, do this yourself or give the information to your manager to 
limit the number of “hand-ons”.

Always, as soon as possible, make a factual record of everything that has happened, 
was said and was seen. Also record whether the issue was referred on or not, and the 
reasons in either case. Records must be accurate, legible, signed and dated.

Inter-Agency Disputes, Escalation Policies & Challenge Logs

If you are concerned about or unhappy with the decisions or action / lack of action of 
another agency when referring a case or securing their involvement in supporting an 
individual, this can be escalated by the Designated Safeguarding Officer or their 

Professional Curiosity and Respectful Uncertainty

35



16

Deputy. The NSCB and NSAB’s Escalation Policies and Protocols require Designated 
Safeguarding Officers in all agencies to act on issues which are escalated to them by 
partners, challenging their own staff regarding the concerns raised and seeking 
assurance about the appropriateness of decisions and actions. 

The NSCB and NSAB maintain records of any challenges made, to identify issues which 
might require additional local guidance to provide clarification for the future.

Confidentiality, Information Sharing and Consent

Personal information held by professionals and agencies is subject to a legal duty of 
confidentiality. Information would normally only be disclosed to third parties, including 
other organisations, with the consent of the subject of the information. In most cases 
you will ask for and receive their consent to share. However, in some situations, there 
may be times when it is necessary to disclose information without the subject’s 
consent. 

You cannot promise someone that you will keep their situation totally confidential. You 
should always make them aware at the earliest opportunity that you may need to 
share information with others in order to safeguard and support them. You should 
always seek their consent to share information. However, consent may not be needed 
for a referral, for example if the person lacks mental capacity. 

You should make every effort to maintain confidentiality for all concerned in an incident 
by sharing information appropriately and only on a “need to know” basis. Do not 
discuss allegations or concerns inappropriately as this could damage the individual, 
their family and any resulting investigation. 

Confidential information should always be stored securely with access limited to the 
Service Manager and/or Designated Safeguarding Officer, in line with data protection 
laws e.g. paper records in a lockable drawer, electronic data in a secure folder and/or 
password protected. Electronic data should be sent only by secure email.

Sharing information appropriately with other agencies protects people and prevents 
harm. Information sharing is key to delivering better, more efficient public services 
that are co-ordinated around the needs of the individual. It is vital to enable early 
intervention and prevention work, for safeguarding and promoting wellbeing and for 
wider public protection, to improve outcomes for all. 

Knowing when and how to share information is not always easy but it is important to 
get it right. People need to be confident that their personal information is kept safe 
and secure and that their individual privacy is considered and safeguarded. It is 
essential to share information appropriately and confidently. 

You must be aware of and adhere to information sharing protocols and data protection 
regulations, always recording who information has been shared with and on what 
basis. 

Deciding 'Who needs to know' and 'What needs to be known' should be done on a case 
by case basis in line with agency policies and national legislation. 

Before you share information, ask yourself the following questions:
 Do I have the person’s permission to disclose personal information?

 
If not: 

36



17

 Do I have the legal power to disclose this information?
 Is there a duty to protect the wider public interest, are other people at risk? 
 Am I proposing to share information with due regard to common and statute law?
 Do I have the correct level of seniority to disclose this information? 

Examples of Legitimate Purposes to share information without consent include: 
 Where a child is experiencing abuse or harm caused by their parent / carer (e.g. 

fabricated or induced illness), the parent’s consent should not be sought.
 Preventing serious harm; including through prevention, detention and 

prosecution of a serious crime.
 Providing urgent medical treatment  
 Implementing specific actions required by the Care Act 2014. 

If a child over 16 or an adult lacks capacity to consent to sharing information, then 
any information disclosed must comply with the Mental Capacity Act and Data 
Protection Act 2018.

Sharing information that may be in the public interest includes: 
 When there is reasonable cause to believe someone is suffering, or is at risk of 

suffering serious harm 
 To prevent the person from harming someone else 
 To promote the wellbeing of the person 
 Detecting crime 
 Apprehending offenders 
 Maintaining public safety. 

The Data Protection Act is not a barrier to sharing information but provides a 
framework to ensure that personal information about living persons is shared 
appropriately. 

There are Seven Golden Rules for Information Sharing

Be open and honest Be open and honest with the person (and/or their family 
where appropriate) from the outset about why, what, how 
and with whom information will or could be shared and 
seek their agreement, unless it is unsafe or inappropriate 
to do so.

Seek advice If you are in any doubt, seek advice from the Designated 
Safeguarding Officer, their Deputy or the Information 
Governance Officer, without disclosing the identity of the 
person if possible.

Share with consent Where appropriate and, where possible, respect the 
wishes of those who do not consent to share confidential 
information. You may still share information without 
consent if, in your judgment, that lack of consent can be 
overridden in the public interest. You will need to base 
your judgment on the facts of the case. Seek advice if you 
are not sure.

Consider safety and 
well-being

Base your information sharing decisions on considerations 
of the safety and wellbeing of the person and others who 
may be affected by their actions.

Necessary, 
proportionate, 

Ensure that the information you share is necessary for the 
purpose for which you are sharing it, is shared only with 

37

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/pdfs/ukpga_20180012_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/pdfs/ukpga_20180012_en.pdf


18

relevant, accurate, 
timely and secure

those who need to have it, is accurate and up-to-date, is 
shared in a timely fashion and is shared securely.

Keep a record Keep accurate records of your concerns, your decision and 
the reasons for it, whether it is to share information or 
not. If you decide to share, then record what you have 
shared, with whom and for what purpose.

Enquiries from those involved in an incident or from their families or carers should be 
dealt with by the case officer or their line manager. Always be cautious about sharing 
information with family members where this may put other relatives at risk. You may 
need consent to share even within families.

Where councillors refer cases to officers, they should seek the person’s consent, if 
possible in writing. Officers cannot share information with councillors without the 
consent of the person involved.

The Council does not disclose details about individuals or incidents to the public or to 
the media. Such enquiries should be directed to Communications Team Leader.

Enquiries from the general public regarding this policy or any specific incident should 
be referred to the Designated Safeguarding Officer.

Record Keeping

Records must always be made with great care. They will almost always be open to 
inspection by others, including those about whom they are made; they may be 
required as evidence in case reviews of legal proceedings. 

Good records are factual, accurate, legible, comprehensive and made as soon after 
the incident as possible. They include direct evidence, such as the words used by 
individuals themselves, and specific information, such as the exact location of an injury 
(e.g. bruising ‘on the left lower forearm just above the wrist’, rather than ‘on the arm’). 
Diagrams which explain family relationships, layouts of locations, or locations of 
injuries are helpful.

When making records, do not:
 Make value judgements about those involved
 Criticise those involved for their behaviours, attitudes, beliefs or actions
 Use jargon, slang, derogatory or negative language about victims or perpetrators
 Use abbreviations which are not explained
 Speculate or make assumptions about someone’s explanations or actions. 

Speculating makes assumptions; professional curiosity teases out concerns and 
prevents assumptions being made.

Always record:
 The date and time of the incident
 The person’s name, address and date of birth
 The nature of the allegation or incident and, if possible, the name, address, date of 

birth or any others involved, including the employer of anyone alleged to have 
caused the harm.

 Factual observations: visible injuries, the person’s behavior / physical / emotional 
state, etc.

 Exactly what they said, using their own words, and exactly what you said.
 Their consent to share the information.
 All actions you took: who you spoke to and all resulting actions so far. Include 

names, addresses and telephone numbers wherever possible.
 Sign and date your record and store the information securely.

38



19

 Consider whether the person needs adding to the Council’s Cautionary Contacts 
list. If you feel that staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors or consultants may 
be at risk of harm from the person, seek advice from the Data Protection Officer.

Where there is a case file for the person, your record should be stored on their file.

For every safeguarding incident, email a brief anonymised summary of the issue and 
all action taken to the Safeguarding Officer. 

Staff without IT access should telephone the Safeguarding Officer.

Photography and Pornography

Data protection legislation applies to photographic and film materials. People have a 
right to privacy. Some people have used children and young persons’ activities and 
events as an opportunity to take inappropriate photographs or video footage of 
children and young people. 

Staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants should not take photographs 
or video of children involved in Council or community based activities to which they 
are invited unless they have sought and received consent for this. Where material is 
produced by or for the Council, the consent of those appearing in any pictures should 
always be sought. Details of such materials should listed be on each service’s 
information retention schedules and kept / destroyed in line with these.

Where members of the public may expect to take photographs (e.g. birthday parties, 
sports competitions, etc.), staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants 
and anyone working for and/or on behalf of the Council should be vigilant at all times. 
In such cases, a respectful request to provide identification and contact details should 
be made. Always report any activity you deem to be inappropriate at the earliest 
opportunity to staff attending the event, to the manager of the service or event, to 
the Designated Safeguarding Officer or to the Police. This is a judgement call balancing 
the protection of individuals and the expectations of the customer. 

Recruitment, Induction and Training, Supervision and Appraisal

Recruitment
The Council takes all reasonable steps to ensure that unsuitable people are prevented 
from working with children, young people and adults at risk, through safer recruitment 
and verification processes. These are detailed in the Council’s Recruitment Policy and 
all Council staff are appointed in line with these. 

Pre-selection checks for all relevant posts include: 
 Completion of an application form and a criminal records self-disclosure.
 Where appropriate, consent to check with the Disclosure and Barring Service 

(DBS) for previous convictions.
 Receipt of 2 references for the 3 years prior to the application and, if there has 

been a period of unemployment, references from other professionals e.g. GP.
 Substantiation of identity and qualifications.

Where an employee changes roles internally, the new manager must view the person’s 
previous application form to assure themselves they are suitable for the proposed new 
role or to seek further information, and undertake a DBS check if this was not required 
for the previous role, before confirming the appointment. 

39



20

All anomalies are investigated and if this identifies concerns which cannot be resolved, 
the offer of employment is withdrawn. 

Managers appointing agency staff must always check that the agency has carried out 
appropriate checks.

DBS standard, enhanced and enhanced with barred list checks are undertaken for all 
staff whose role involves working with children young people and adults at risk as part 
of their normal duties, where this falls within the definition of ‘regulated activity’ under 
the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006, as amended by the Protection of 
Freedoms Act 2012. Other staff may be checked through the Basic Disclosure process 
where their role is not covered by DBS but it is felt to be necessary. The Council does 
not accept checks by previous employers or for other current activities. The list of 
checks completed, and those due, is held by the HR team. There is a 3-year 
programme of DBS renewal checks for those staff that require this as part of their role.

Councillors are not employees. Legislation states that DBS checks for councillors are 
not required unless they hold a specific role in relation to children and adults. 
Councillors are bound by the Council’s Code of Conduct and the requirements of the 
Constitution. They are required to abide by this policy at all times.

The Council takes care that contractors and consultants working on its behalf are 
recruited, informed and monitored appropriately. Contractors and consultants sourced 
through frameworks through Breckland District Council Procurement have already 
provided evidence of safeguarding compliance. 

Managers using the services of any contractor or consultant in areas where they or 
their staff may come into contact with children or adults with needs of care and 
support, must check that they have their own Safeguarding Policy or can demonstrate 
that they will comply with this policy, confirming in writing that they will do so, and 
that appropriate DBS checks are in place. 

Induction and Training
Appropriate induction and training enables staff to understand their roles and 
responsibilities, develop good practice and act confidently. It encourages reporting of 
good and poor practice, concerns or allegations of abuse. It supports the personal 
development and wellbeing of staff involved in dealing with cases.

All new and existing staff are required to read this Policy and Procedures; all managers 
must check that all new and existing staff have done so. Those staff without computer 
access receive a hard copy. 

Managers must clarify specific role-related expectations regarding safeguarding at 
induction with new staff, and with existing staff in supervision and appraisal. This gives 
the opportunity for clarification and support to be sought and provided, giving 
everyone assurance of compliance with the Council’s legal duties. 

Discussing specific cases as they occur, through regular supervision, Team Meetings 
and annual appraisals enable ongoing training needs to be identified and met for 
individuals and teams. 

Managers will agree a timeframe for completing the minimum required safeguarding 
training for the role. 

Training for councillors is included in the Councillor Induction Programme following an 
election and regularly after that point.

40

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/9/contents


21

Compliance with completing training will be audited by the Safeguarding Officer from 
time to time to monitor compliance. 

Supervision and Appraisal
People work best when they are well informed, trained and supported. Supervision 
should improve the quality of practice, support the development of integrated working 
and ensure continuing professional development. Effective supervision involves 
regular face-to-face discussion with skilled managers, including reflective practice, to 
enable staff to work confidently and competently with difficult and sensitive situations. 
This includes:

 Ensuring that service users and their carers receive a quality service
 Enabling understanding and implementation of policies and procedures
 Supporting staff to be clear about their responsibilities and accountabilities
 Giving staff opportunities to reflect on, analyse and evaluate practice
 Giving staff opportunities to discuss best practice and safeguarding concerns
 Providing personal support when dealing with difficult cases.

Staff leading on Team Around the Child (TAC) cases, dealing directly with complex or 
distressing cases, involved in case reviews or court cases, etc will need and should 
receive appropriate support from their manager, the Designated Safeguarding Officer 
or their Deputy. This may include regular and ad hoc de-briefs, and opportunities to 
seek external support for their wellbeing if required.
Appraisals should always include discussion of the safeguarding responsibilities of the 
role and training and development needs. To support personal development and 
professional competence, manager can identify good practice through:
 Direct observation of the activity or service
 Undertaking case file audits, where appropriate
 Reviewing service user’s feedback on the activities or services.

Team Meetings should also include regular agenda items to share safeguarding 
information, concerns and best practice.

Support to Staff Experiencing Abuse

Members of staff who experience domestic abuse, or know someone who is, can seek 
advice from the Designated Safeguarding Lead and Deputy’s. Support is also available 
from the employer assistance scheme.

Safe Working Practices

The following guidelines promote positive, safe working practices. They  examples of 
care which should be taken by staff, councillors, volunteers and contractors working 
with children, young people and adults with needs for care and support. Following 
these promotes the safety and wellbeing of children, young people and adults with 
needs for care and support, and reduces the risk of allegations against those working 
with them.

Staff, councillors, volunteers or contractors should always:

 Avoid situations where you and an individual are alone and unobserved.
 Ensure that children or young people are not left unattended. For example, it is 

the parents / carers responsibility to supervise any children in their care whilst 
visiting Council offices, or when an employee, councillor, volunteer or contractor 
is carrying out a home visit.

 How official identification when carrying out home visits
 Ensure that children and adults with needs for care and support have the right to 

41



22

privacy. Respect the individual and provide a safe and positive environment.
 Respect the rights, dignity and worth of every person and treat everyone equally 

within the context of the activity.
 If someone is accidentally injured as a result of an employee, councillor or 

volunteer’s actions; seems distressed in any way; seems to be sexually aroused 
by your actions; misunderstands or misinterprets something you have done; 
report this as soon as possible to the Designated Safeguarding Officer and make a 
written record.

 If someone shows any signs or symptoms that give you cause for concern you 
must act appropriately, be professionally curious, and follow the procedures 
outlined in appendices of this policy

It is not good practice for staff, councillors, volunteers or contractors to:

 Take children or adults with needs for care and support alone on a car journey, 
however short.

 Take children or adults with needs for care and support to their own home or any 
other location where they will be alone with you.

 Arrange to meet children or adult with needs for care and support outside an 
organised activity or service.

 Agree to ‘look after’ or be left in sole charge of children or adults with needs for 
care and support even for short periods of time during the course of your duties.

Staff, councillors and volunteers should never:

 Engage in rough physical games including horseplay.
 Engage in sexually provocative games.
 Allow or engage in inappropriate touching of any form.
 Allow anyone to use inappropriate language unchallenged, or use it yourself.
 Make sexually suggestive comments about or to a child or adult, even in fun.
 Let any allegation a child or adult makes be ignored or go unrecorded.
 Do things of a personal nature for children or adults that they can do for 

themselves, e.g. assist with changing.
 Enter areas designated only for the opposite sex without appropriate warning (e.g. 

cleaning staff for toilets etc.).
 Take a child or adult to the toilet, unless this is an emergency and a second, same-

sex member of staff is present.
 Use a mobile phone, camera or other recording device in any changing area or 

other single sex location such as toilets. Exceptions to this may arise, for example, 
where a photographic record of vandalism to a changing room is required. In such 
circumstances customers should be temporarily excluded from the location.

Responding to allegations and/or abuse and neglect by employees

If abuse or neglect is alleged or found to be carried out by an employee, the Council 
will always act. The Designated Safeguarding Officer will notify and seek advice from 
the Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) if children are involved, and will alert 
and work with other agencies to ensure that the complainant is protected and their 
wellbeing supported. The Designated Safeguarding Officer will notify the Chief 
Executive and, in the case of a councillor, the Council Leader, and will contact the 
Police and any other agency as appropriate. An allegation about the Designated 
Safeguarding Officer must be reported to the Chief Executive. 

42



23

The Council’s Code of Conduct and Disciplinary Policies are clear that the Council will 
always act quickly, if necessary moving the person to other appropriate duties or 
suspending them as a neutral act to enable a thorough and unbiased investigation. 
The employee will be made aware of their rights under employment legislation and 
any potential internal disciplinary procedures, and also provided with appropriate 
support internally and externally. A disciplinary investigation, and potentially a 
hearing, may follow and may result in informal or formal measures which may include 
dismissal and possibly referral to the Disclosure and Barring Service.

The Council will investigate unless there is compelling reason why this is inappropriate 
e.g. there is a serious conflict of interest, or concerns have been raised about non-
effective past enquiries, or there are serious, multiple concerns, or a matter requires 
investigation by the police. In such cases, the Council will seek an external person or 
agency to investigate (in line with NSAB guidelines, provided that they have had 
appropriate training). 

If an employee is dismissed or redeployed to a non-regulated activity following a 
safeguarding incident, or a person leaves their role (resignation, retirement) to avoid 
a disciplinary hearing when it is likely they would have been dismissed, the Council 
will always refer the case to the Disclosure and Barring Service.  

Complaints and Whistle Blowing

All staff, councillors, volunteers, contractors and consultants should use the Council’s 
Corporate Feedback and Whistle Blowing Policies if they are concerned about how a 
safeguarding issue has been dealt with. 

Audit and Quality Assurance

As a statutory agency, the Council is subject to a number of internal and external 
audits and quality assurance mechanisms to ensure compliance and effective practices 
in each of the areas covered by this policy and associated procedures. All audit 
recommendations will be integrated into a safeguarding action plan. Regular reports 
are made to the Council’s Management Team and Executive Member.  

Monitoring and Review

This Policy and its Procedures are fully reviewed every three years and signed off by 
the Strategic Safeguarding Board.  If any changes are needed in the interim e.g. 
resulting from changes to the law, national or local guidance, then the Policy and/or 
its procedures will be amended by the Designated Safeguarding Officer, agreed by 
Management Team and signed off by the Executive Member, with the decision 
recorded and published via a Decision Notice. All staff, councillors, volunteers, key 
contractors or consultants will be notified of any changes. All policy revisions will be 
dated and recorded at Appendix D.

43

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/3352/Code-of-Conduct
http://democracy.breckland.gov.uk/documents/s1245/Procedures%20-%20Cluster.pdf


24

Appendix A: Reporting

Safeguarding Reporting Procedure Flowchart

If you have immediate concerns for the safety of an individual call 
999 for an emergency response 

Start here if you have:

 A concern of abuse
 Disclosure of abuse made to you 
 Allegation of abuse made to you

Complete a Safeguarding Reporting Form

Does the concern, disclosure or 
allegation involve a member of 
staff or elected member?

NO YES

Make a referral as required below and 
contact a Designated Safeguarding Officer 
for support if needed. 

Record all actions on the Safeguarding 
Reporting Form and pass to a Designated 
Safeguarding Officer for scanning and 
secure storage

Inform Designated 
Safeguarding Lead or 
Deputies. If not available 
inform line manager. 

Lead will inform HR and 
Local Authority 
Designated Officer 
(LADO) if required.

Contact MASH (Multi-Agency 
Safeguarding Hub) for consultation if 
advice/guidance required (children and 
adults)

Decide not 
to refer to 
MASH

Make a referral to 
MASH 

Or contact the Early Help Team 
see if a family support process 
exists

44



25

Appendix B     Advice and Support

Designated Safeguarding Officer
Maxine O’Mahony– Executive Director Strategy and Governance
Email:Maxine.Omahony@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
Tel 07787573444

Deputy Designated Safeguarding Officers 

Donna Hall – Licensing and Business support Manager
Email: donna.hall@breckland-sholland.gov.uk
Tel: 07866 810466

Sarah Wolstenholme-Smy – Legal Services Manager
Email:sarah.wolstenholme-smy@breckalnd.gov.uk
Tel 07970 248422

Safeguarding Officer

Name: Elley Horne
Email: elley.horne@breckland-sholland.gov.uk mail

Norfolk Police - IN AN EMERGENCY CALL 999
Non emergency call, 101

Norfolk County Council Customer Services Centre: 
Tele – 0344 800 8020 ( Monday to Friday 9am – 5pm)

Children ( Contact: Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub ( MASH) )
0344 800 8020

Adults ( Contact MASH) 
As above

L.A.D.O – Local Authority Designated Officer
Email - LADO@norfolk.gov.uk   or  cs.norfolkLADOsecure@norfolk.gcsx.gov.uk.
Deals with allegations against staff working with children and young people.

Childline - free helpline for children and young people in the UK to talk about any 
problem 0800 1111 or www.childline.org.uk 

Samaritans - Tel: 08457 90 90 90 or Text Phone (for deaf or hearing impaired) 08457 
90091092 or  http://www.samaritans.org

The Hideout - information for children who witness or are injured through domestic 
abuse www.thehideout.org.uk 

Child Exploitation and Online Protection Centre www.ceop.police.uk 

45

mailto:LADO@norfolk.gov.uk
mailto:cs.norfolkLADOsecure@norfolk.gcsx.gov.uk
http://www.childline.org.uk/
http://www.samaritans.org/
http://www.thehideout.org.uk/
http://www.ceop.police.uk/


26

Information on internet safety and safe surfing for young people 
www.thinkuknow.co.uk 

Kidscape 08451 205 204 (parents bullying helpline) https://www.kidscape.org.uk

46

http://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/


27

APPENDIX C       LEGISLATION AND GUIDANCE 

The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974

The Children Act 1989

Housing Act 1996

The Police Act 1997

Human Rights Act 1998

The Data Protection Act 2018

Crime and Disorder Act 1998

The Protection of Children Act 1999

Criminal Justice and Court Services Act 2000

Care Standards Act 2000

No Secrets: Guidance on protecting vulnerable adults in care 2000

Education Act 2002
  
Sexual Offences Act 2003  

Protection of Vulnerable Adults Scheme 2004

Domestic Violence Crime and Victims Act 2004

The Children Act 2004

Mental Capacity Act 2005

Childcare Act 2006

Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006

Mental Health Act 2007

Information Sharing: Guidance for Practitioners and Managers 2008

The Equality Act 2010

Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2013 
 
The Care Act 2014

Care Act Statutory Guidance 2015

Working Together to Safeguard Children 2015

Care and Support Statutory Guidance

FGM Mandatory Reporting

47

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1974/53/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/52/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1997/50/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/pdfs/ukpga_20180012_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1999/14/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/43/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2000/14/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/194272/No_secrets__guidance_on_developing_and_implementing_multi-agency_policies_and_procedures_to_protect_vulnerable_adults_from_abuse.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2002/32/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/42/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/28/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/31/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2005/9/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/21/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2006/47/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2007/12/contents
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/417696/Archived-information_sharing_guidance_for_practitioners_and_managers.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/13/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/23/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/592101/Working_Together_to_Safeguard_Children_20170213.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/care-act-statutory-guidance/care-and-support-statutory-guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/573782/FGM_Mandatory_Reporting_-_procedural_information_nov16_FINAL.pdf


28

Appendix D Safeguarding Policy and Procedures Version Control

Version 
Serialisation

Reason Amended by:

Position and Date

Approved 
by: Position 
and Date

Published 
and Effective 
From:

1.0 Draft

48



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance   

To: Cabinet, 27 November 2018

(Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation)

Subject: Quarter 2 Financial Performance Report 2018-19

Purpose: This report provides information on the forecast full year financial position 
of the Council as at 30 September 2018 and progress to date on the Moving 
Forward transformation programme

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the report and Appendix is noted.

1.1 Throughout the year quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 
year end out-turn against the budgets.  This report provides information on the forecast 
full year financial performance as at 30 September 2018 for revenue, transformation, 
capital and treasury, with the detail being included in the attached Appendix.

1.2 Revenue
              The full year impact based on current projections and assumptions is an overall forecast 

above budget spend of £380k at the year end.

              There are many smaller variances this quarter and these are detailed in the appendix, the 
higher value variances identified are:

 Reduced building control income of £57k
 Lost income of £57k through the water damage at Swaffham Leisure Centre
 Income lower than budget by £66k for recycling credits due to lower tonnage rates 

resulting from the dry summer weather
 Reduced letting percentage at the Business Centres leading to £46k lost income
 Efficiencies within services not yet achieved £130k – a section on the moving 

forward programme is included in the attached Appendix.
 £72k above budget spend in commercial property through additional costs of NNDR 

for vacant units and reduced rental income.
 Contribution to reserve of £121k for the additional planning fee income from 20% 

price increase
 Additional renewable energy NNDR income of £189k
 Additional Government grants of £210k, mainly from NNDR Section 31 grants

1.3 The full year forecast is showing an over spend currently, although it is likely that the 
value will change as the year progresses and more accurate forecasts are known and 
moving forward efficiencies are achieved.  

1.4 Moving Forward Transformation Programme

This programme has delivered savings of £1,717k (93%) against a target of £1,848k.  The 
programme has been flexed in this year’s budget to reflect the latest positions of project 
time frames and will continue to be adjusted throughout the programme as necessary.  

49

Agenda Item 9



Overall the programme has achieved efficiencies of £1,934k (73%) by 2021-22 and these 
have already been included in the approved budgets.  The target for the Economic 
Development Service Review of £50k will be removed from the programme as per 
Members requests and this will reduce the efficiencies achieved within the programme.  
Delivery of the remaining efficiencies is monitored through the finance board.

1.5 Capital

The forecast out-turn shows spend of £4,952k (53%) against the budget at this stage of 
the year.  From the under spend of £4,368k, £3,864k is requested to be carried forward 
into future years and this will be addressed as part of budget setting.

1.6 Treasury

The interest income budget has been increased this year and is forecast on budget for the 
year as a result of higher balances held compared to budget (through reduced capital 
spend, etc last year).

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the report and appendix be noted.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide timely information to Members on the overall financial position of the Council, 
enabling resource re-allocation to priorities where necessary.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure Members are updated regularly and in a timely fashion on the overall Council 
financial position.

4.2 To make the best use of the funding available to the Council and allow us to respond 
quickly to opportunities as they arise.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 The Council’s budget and associated spend supports the Council’s priorities.

5.3 Financial 

5.2.1 The report and appendix are financial in nature and include the financial implications.

5.8 Risk Management 

50



5.3.1 Risks are included within the report

5.9 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.4.1 Budget holders have been consulted on their variances and the reasons for those 
variances.

5.10 Transformation Programme

5.5.1 The transformation programme is intrinsically linked to the Council’s budget and this report 
includes progress on the Moving Forward programme to date.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 ARP – Anglia Revenues Partnership
7.2 DWP – Department for Work & Pensions
7.3 GDPR – General Data Protection Regulation
7.4 LIBID - London Inter-Bank Bid Rate.
7.5 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates
7.6 PFI – Private Finance Initiative

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Forecast financial report for 2018-19 full year

51

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Page 1 of 7

Breckland Council
Financial report for the quarter ended 30 September 2018

This report has three sections
o Section 1 – Revenue budget and Moving Forward Transformation Programme
o Section 2 – Capital budget
o Section 3 – Treasury update

Figures in brackets denote either income, an under spend or above budget income.
Positive figures denote either spend, an over spend or below budget income.

Section 1 - Revenue

Table 1 – Forecast Revenue Outturn 

 Budget
Forecast 
Out-turn

Forecast 
Variance

 £'000 £'000 £'000
Cost of Services  
1) Strategy Governance & Transformation 5,155 5,338 183
2) Growth & Commercialisation 1,074 1,286 212
3) Place 5,963 6,211 248
4) Housing Benefits (127) (126) 1
5) Total Cost of Services before reserves 12,065 12,709 644

6) Contributions to/from reserves 1,949 2,152 203
7) Total Cost of Services 14,014 14,861 847

Funding & Appropriations
8) Appropriations 1,082 892 (190)
9) Government grants (5,442) (5,652) (210)
10) Council Tax (3,786) (3,786) -
11) Retained Business Rates (5,868) (5,935) (67)
12) Total Funding (14,014) (14,481) (467)
 

Contribution (to)/from the General Fund - 380 380

Significant variances are detailed over the page.

Salaries
The budgeted vacancy factor for 2018-19 is 4% for Breckland staff and 2.5% for Anglia Revenues
Partnership (ARP) staff.
The achieved vacancy factor is currently below target, however this is expected at this stage of
the year and will be monitored as the year progresses.

52



Page 2 of 7

Table 2 - Significant Variances

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

1) High Impact

1a) Efficiencies Achieved (130,443) 130,443

Efficiencies achieved to date including the moving forward targets are below budget.  Work has 
started on the majority of projects to deliver the savings, however the areas of concern are raised at 
the Finance Board to ensure we keep on track for the overall savings targets.  Future years targets 
have been flexed as part of the budget setting process.

1b) Commercial Property (1,950,727) 72,138

Reserves have been utilised to cover one off large tenants reduced income in year, leaving this 
variance.  The variance is due to; additional rates costs as a result of empty units in Thetford (which 
are now mostly filled) and recued income from the main commercial property portfolio.

1c) Building Control 214,955 57,464

This is due to below budget income due to bigger development work being undertaken by approved 
inspectors rather than the Council's building control team. The fee work we are undertaking is 
smaller in scale results in less income to the Council.

1d) Breckland Business Centres (352,823) 46,491 Below budget percentage let in Thetford, partially offset by above budget in Dereham.

1e) Housing Option 325,369 36,365
This variance mainly relates to additional costs resulting from higher demand due to legislation 
changes for the Homelessness Prevention Initiative, plus additional costs of B&B accommodation.

1f) Insurance account 103,580 33,247
Additional insurance cover for GDPR which was not budgeted for and higher than anticipated costs 
for public liability and employers liability insurance due to (temporary) higher establishment levels.

1g) EHTC (28,555) 15,108 Below budget income from the EHTC service to date (which is partly offset by reduced costs). 

2) High Opportunity

2a) Appropriations 1,081,886 (189,582)
This variance relates to additional renewable energy business rates income, which has been 
included in future years budgets.  Additional income is also expected from 2019-20 in this area.

2b) Development Control (153,640) (41,265) Additional income from planning fees and reduced salary costs through a vacancy.

3c) Retained NNDR (5,867,747) (66,905) Reduced levy payment forecast due to lower income (offset  in part by additional grants).

3) One Offs

3a) Garden Waste (1,242,778) 65,611
This is mainly due to below budget recycling credits as a result of lower tonnage due to the dry 
weather this summer.

3b) PFI 323,809 57,229

Following the partial opening of Swaffham Leisure Centre (due to water damage) since September 
2017 the Council have been liable (as per the terms of the management agreement with Parkwood 
Leisure) for their loss of income and this will continue through to November 2018.  

3c) Waste Collection & 
Recycling 2,539,238 39,121

This variance is due to increased costs resulting from contamination & smoothing (mid year figures 
in October will give a better forecast) and slightly higher inflation compared to budget.

3d) Legal Services 135,483 35,545 Additional costs for legal work in the year to date, mainly within the Commercial Property area.

53



Page 3 of 7

Cost Centre

Total 
Budget

£

Total 
Variance

£ Comments

3e) Human Resources 402,447 32,669
Over spends in year relate mainly to I-Trent licence costs, additional staff hours implemented after 
the restructure and consultancy spend.

3f) Grants & Loans 63,333 21,170 The variance is due to a shortfall in income resulting from a delayed start in enforcement action.

3g) Democratic Services 689,008 20,521
This is due to additional special allowances and travel costs paid to members following a change in 
responsibilities.

3h) Elizabeth House 231,719 19,215 Additional costs relating to H&S equipment, repairs and maintenance costs in year and new CCTV.

3i) Community Safety 309,825 17,275 This is mainly due to a shortfall in income resulting from a delayed start in enforcement action.

3j) Pollution Control 282,462 16,852 Over spend is due to costs awarded following a legal case against the Council.

3k) Forward Planning 727,687 13,064 The over spend is a result of costs that have been delayed for local plan production.

3l) Community Development 252,469 11,021 Additional staffing costs resulting from maternity cover and no vacancies.

3m) Land Management 113,125 (22,739) Additional income through granting of easements within the year.

3n) ICT 756,154 (45,858) Salary savings as a result of vacancies in year.

3o) Government Grants (5,442,083) (210,356) Additional one off government grants for Rural Services and NNDR.

4) Low Impact

4a) Contributions from reserves 1,948,978 203,348
£121k of this variance relates to the additional 20% planning fees income which was not budgeted 
for.  The remainder of the variance is offset by under spends within service areas.

4c) Miscellaneous 4,517,269 63,303 Net effect of other smaller value variances

4e) Match funding 150,000 (50,000)
Reduced grant spend to date – this variance is fully offset by an overspend within contributions 
to/from reserves.

5) TOTAL - 380,495

54



Page 4 of 7

Collection Funds
Council Tax
The Council Tax collection fund account has a residual surplus of £965k overall, with Breckland’s 
share being £95k.  The forecast for 2018-19 is currently slightly higher than budget due to increased 
tax base and this value of £40k will be factored into budget setting for next year. 

Retained Business Rates
The retained Business Rates (NNDR) collection fund account has a residual surplus of £728k overall, 
with Breckland’s share being £291k.  The forecast for 2018-19 is currently a deficit of around £1,422k 
with Breckland’s share being £569k, due to high appeals levels forecast.  There is also additional 
Renewable Energy income forecast which generates an additional £655k for Breckland next year.  
The net effect of these values of £18k deficit will be incorporated into future years budgets.  

Virement Decisions Required
There are no virement decisions required.  

Other Risks
The following areas are financial risks which the Council is facing, but the actual financial implications 
have not yet been fully quantified:

o Moving forward targets not achieved has led to the targets being flexed accordingly in future 
year’s budgets.

o From 1 January 2019 clinical waste will no longer be collected by doctors surgeries, but will 
need to be collected by District Councils instead.

o A major commercial unit remains vacant which impacts income received.
o The garden waste tonnage income is lower this financial year due to weather conditions.

Full risk registers are held within the corporate improvement team.

Actions/Decisions
o None

55



Page 5 of 7

Moving Forward Transformation Programme

The Council’s transformation programme forms an integral part of the Medium Term Financial Plan and once delivered will reduce reliance on central 
government funding by the end of the medium term.  The programme includes a number of different projects within each of the four themes and progress 
against these projects and their related efficiency targets are monitored by the transformation boards.

The programme has delivered most of the 2018-19 efficiencies including service reviews and the enabling projects, however this is dependent on projects 
starting on time and delivering the full efficiency target in year.  The forecast shortfall in achievement of projects for this year is £130k, some of these 
efficiencies are now unlikely to be realised and the Finance Board has reviewed these along with the phase 2 projects to flex the budget for future years.  

Some projects have overachieved on their targets and others have been slightly delayed, but are due to achieve over the term of the programme and the 
net result is an achievement of £1,934k, 74% of the overall target.  Re-profiling of project start and end dates are made as necessary.   

The table below shows the progress against the programme as at 30 September 2018. 
 Digitalisation Commercialisation Organisational Design Aligning Public Services Other TOTAL
 Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance Target Achieved Balance
Year £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
2018-19 (28) (36) (8) (1,127) (903) 224 (612) (533) 79 (81) (81) 0 0 (164) (164) (1,848) (1,717) 131 
2019-20 (28) (36) (8) (1,363) (974) 389 (937) (787) 150 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,409) (1,896) 513 
2020-21 (28) (36) (8) (1,501) (949) 552 (937) (779) 158 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,547) (1,863) 684 
2021-22 (28) (36) (8) (1,581) (1,006) 575 (937) (793) 144 (81) (81) 0 0 (18) (18) (2,627) (1,934) 693 

Minimum £36k Minimum £1,006k Minimum £793k Minimum £81k Minimum £18k Minimum £1,934k 
Target £28k Target £1,581k Target £937k Target £81k Target £0k Target £2,627k 
Maximum £36k Maximum £1,743k Maximum £937k Maximum £81k Maximum £18k Maximum £2,815k 

56



Page 6 of 7

Section 2 - Capital

Table 1 - Progress against 18-19 approved capital programme

 
Budget  

£

Forecast
Out-turn

£

Forecast 
(under)/overspend

£
Commercialisation  
   Property (Land & Buildings) 258,629 104,999 (153,630)
   Capital grants 2,525,470 444,217 (2,081,253)
   Capital loans 483,038 463,376 (19,662)
   Not yet released 1,702,360 190,000 (1,512,360)
Total Commercialisation 4,969,497 1,202,592 (3,766,905)
Strategy & Governance
   ICT & Organisational Change 271,932 271,932 -
   Not yet released - - -
Total Strategy & Governance 271,932 271,932 -
Place
   Property (Land & Buildings) 28,542 28,758 216
   ICT & Organisational Change 430,930 430,930 -
   Grants 1,473,635 1,473,635 -
   Not yet released 2,145,205 1,543,670 (601,535)
Total Place 4,078,312 3,476,993 (601,319)
TOTAL 9,319,741 4,951,517 (4,368,224)

Forecast outturn £4,951,517 or 53%

Table 2 - The variance is shown below:

Project

(under)/ 
over spend

£

Carry over 
to Future

£
Commercialisation
DWP 27,509 - This over spend from project management cannot be 

recovered from DWP.  
Riverside (181,139) Balance available for fit out of final unit
Snetterton Utilities (2,081,253) Project is fully funded but spend profile has changed
Growth & Investment (1,000,000) Revised spend profile
CP disposals (512,360) Budget no longer required (offset by reduced receipts)
Capital loans (19,662) Balance no longer required
Strategy & Governance

- -
Place
Car Park resurfacing 216 - Minor overspend on retention sum.
Adoption of roads (601,535) Re-profile of spend
Total (504,297) (3,863,927) = (£4,368,224) Total

Virements this qtr:
o None

Risks:
o None

Actions/Decisions
o None.

57



Page 7 of 7

Section 3 – Treasury

Security

The low actual risk for the Council’s portfolio of investments reflects its cautious approach to 
counterparty selection which in turn is reflected in lower investment returns.

Maximum 
risk level

Actual 
risk level Variance

   Investments maturing in < 1 year 0.060% 0.017% 0.043%
   Investments maturing between 1 - 2 years 0.060% n/a -
   Investments maturing between  2 - 3 years 0.080% n/a -

Liquidity

The Council had an average of £5.6m instant access cash available during the reporting period.  This 
is slightly in excess of the working capital sum required (£5m) but reflects the potential requirement 
for funding for large asset purchases.  The council did not use its overdraft facility in this reporting 
period.

Yield

Budget Forecast Variance
Interest receivable 2018-19 £223,555 £223,555 -
Yield (3 month LIBID1) 0.606% 0.727% (0.121%)

The rate of return of 0.727% includes cash investments and loans to 3rd parties and is higher than the 
target yield.  The additional income is a result of loans to 3rd parties at market rates continuing for a 
longer time frame than originally budgeted, higher balances than expected (due to lower spend on 
capital programme) and an increase to the base bank rate. 

Our exposure to different counterparties is shown in the graph below.

 

24,250,636, 87%

3,230,000, 12%

270,000, 1%
Banks - 
UK

Banks - 
Non UK

Loans to 
3rd Parties

Counterparty Exposure

Actions/Decisions required

None

1 LIBID – London Inter-bank Bid Rate

Currently 
23% of 

investments 
have a 

maturity of 
less than 1 

week.

58



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Paul Claussen, Executive Director Place 

To: Joint Informal Executive, 12 November 2018
Cabinet, 27 November 2018

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject: Local Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers

Purpose: To agree a local Council Tax discount for Care Leavers with effect from 1 
April 2019

Recommendation(s): 

1) That a Local Council Tax discount for Care Leavers is approved as per the Policy at 
Appendix 1

Recommend to FULL COUNCIL:

2) That the Policy at appendix 1 is adopted from 1 April 2019

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Billing Authorities are being encouraged to offer a reduction in Council Tax for care 
leavers as part of efforts to help them avoid getting into debt and give them more time to 
learn how to manage their finances.  This follows the recommendations made in the 
Government’s care leavers’ strategy “Keep on Caring” (July 2016).  The MHCLG Select 
Committee also recommended to Government in their report into homelessness (August 
2016) that care leavers should not be required to pay Council Tax until they are 21.

1.2 This report sets out a proposal for a full local Council Tax discount for care leavers aged 
between 18 and 25 years who are solely responsible for payment of the bill or who occupy 
a property with other adult care leavers aged up to 25.  Billing Authorities have the power 
to allow a local Council Tax discount under S13A of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992 (as amended) for individual cases or a class of cases.  

CARE LEAVERS

1.3 Care leavers often have to start living independently much earlier than their peers taking 
on more financial responsibilities, when they might be on a low income and without the 
same family support network.  Norfolk County Council has a responsibility to support care 
leavers whilst they are developing the skills and confidence to live independent lives and 
learn vital life skills.  Breckland Council has a duty to co-operate and a legal obligation to 
assist in re-housing or securing support.  Norfolk County Council is working with all the 
Norfolk authorities with the aim to implement this discount across the whole of Norfolk.

1.4 By granting a 100% discount on Council Tax for the first few years of independent living, 
the Council would be providing financial assistance of great value to care leavers at a very 
vulnerable stage in their transition from care.

59

Agenda Item 10



1.5    A care leaver is defined as a person aged under 25 who has been looked after by a local 
authority (Norfolk County Council) for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14; and who was 
looked after by the local authority at school-leaving age or after that date.  The Act defines 
the categories of children entitled to leaving care support as:
 Eligible children are those young people aged 16-17 who are still in care and have 

been ‘looked after’ for a total of 13 weeks from the age of 14 and including their 16th 
birthday;

 Relevant children are those young people aged 16 and 17 who have already left care 
and who were ‘looked after’ for a least 13 weeks from the age of 14 and have been 
‘looked after’ at some time while they were 16 or 17;

 Former relevant children are those young people aged 18, 19 or 20 who have been 
eligible and/or relevant.

  COSTS AND POLICY

1.6    As at August 2018 there were an estimated total of 60 care leavers aged between 18 and 
24 living in the Breckland area.  Of those, 20 are liable for Council Tax totalling an 
estimated £24,000 for 2018-19 (based on a Band B dwelling).  The cost of allowing a 
discount under S13A falls directly on the Billing Authority (Breckland) and therefore its 
Council Tax payers.  However in this case Norfolk County Council has agreed to fund 
their share of the costs for all Norfolk authorities (approved on 15 October 2018).  Norfolk 
Police and Crime Commissioner have also agreed to fund their share of costs (6 
November 2018).

1.7   Based on the current Council Tax paid by care leavers aged 18 to 24 living in the 
Breckland area, the cost share would be as follows:

Authority Cost
Breckland Council £1,320
Norfolk Police and Crime Commissioner £3,360
Norfolk County Council £19,320
TOTAL £24,000

The Breckland share of £1,320 is manageable within the current budgets and by granting 
this discount may also avoid costs within the housing/homelessness departments at a 
future date.  These values are based on current charges and the caseload and charges 
would vary from year to year.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That a Local Council Tax discount for Care Leavers is approved as per the Policy at 
Appendix 1and;
Recommend to Full Council the Policy at appendix 1 is adopted from 1 April 2019.

2.2  The Council could decide not to award the discount.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 By granting a 100% discount on Council Tax for the first few years of independent living, 
the Council would be providing financial assistance of great value to care leavers at a very 
vulnerable stage in their transition from care.

3.2   The Council can decide to award a discount in accordance with their powers under section 
13A of The Local Government Finance Act 1992.  This discount would be fully supported 
by Norfolk County Council and Norfolk Police & Crime Commissioner.

60



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 By granting this discount on Council Tax for the first few years of independent living, the 
Council would be providing financial assistance of great value to care leavers at a very 
vulnerable stage in their transition from care.

4.2  By granting this discount the Council may avoid costs within the housing/homelessness 
departments at a future date.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Constitution & Legal
5.2.1 If approved, this discount would be actioned through S13A of the Local Government 

finance Act 1992 (as amended).

5.3 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.2.1 The recommended policy seeks to have a positive impact on care leavers who may be 
vulnerable for the period of transition from care to independence.  It seeks to help care leavers 
achieve parity of opportunity other members of the population who are supported by their own 
families.

5.4 Financial 
5.4.1 A Proforma B is included at appendix B.

5.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.12.1 The Breckland Housing team have been consulted alongside Norfolk County Council and 

Norfolk Police and Crime Commissioner and all have provided positive support to the 
policy.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 MHCLG – Ministry for Housing Communities & Local Government

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

61

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Key Decision: Yes

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Discretionary Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Care Leavers Council Tax Discount Policy
Appendix B Proforma B

62



Appendix A

Council Tax Care Leavers Local Discount Policy (allowed under S13A Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended))

1 Background
1.1 Billing Authorities have the power to allow a local Council Tax reduction under S13A 

of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 (as amended), for individual cases or a 
class of cases.

1.2 Care Leavers often have to start living independently much earlier than their peers 
taking on more financial responsibilities, when they might be on a low income and 
without the same family support network.

1.3 As a corporate parent, Norfolk County Council and, in addition, Breckland Council 
has a responsibility to support Care Leavers whilst they are developing the skills and 
confidence to live independent lives and learn vital life skills. 

1.4 By granting a full reduction in Council Tax for Care Leavers living as single adults or 
living with other Care Leavers up to attaining age 25, the Council will be providing 
financial assistance for a group of people who need help at a very important time in 
their lives.

2 Operation of the discount

2.1 This discount is available to care leavers who are liable to Council Tax as the only 
adult in the dwelling or who live only with other qualifying care leavers.

2.2 A full discount will be allowed to qualifying care leavers reducing the Council Tax 
charge to nil for the qualifying period.

2.3 The reduction will be awarded only after entitlement to other discounts have been 
applied (except Council Tax Reduction). 

2.4 The Council Tax discount will take effect from 1st April 2019 (or such subsequent 
date when Council Tax liability commences). Care leavers with responsibility for 
Council Tax on 1st April 2019 will be granted the discount from that date. Care 
leavers who become responsible for Council Tax after this date will be granted the 
discount from the date of occupation

2.5 The qualifying period will last until the Care Leaver(s) reach the age of 25 Years.

2.6 A Care Leaver is defined as a person under 25, who has been looked after by 
Norfolk county Council for at least 13 weeks since the age of 14; and who was 
looked after by the local authority at school-leaving age or after that date.

2.7 The Act defines the categories of children entitled to leaving care support as: 

63



 Eligible children are those young people aged 16-17 who are still in care and 
have been ‘looked after’ for a total of 13 weeks from the age of 14 and 
including their 16th birthday;

 Relevant children are those young people aged 16 and 17 who have already 
left care, and who were ‘looked after’ for at least 13 weeks from the age of 14 
and have been ‘looked after’ at some time while they were 16 or 17;

 Former relevant children are those young people aged 18 to 25 who have 
been eligible and/or relevant.

2.8 A written application will be required, except for cases where the authority has been 
able to establish all the conditions of entitlement to the discount from existing 
evidence held by the authority or provided to it.

2.9 Applications may be made by email to counciltax@angliarevenues.gov.uk or by post 
to:

Anglia Revenues Partnership
Breckland House
St Nicholas Street
Thetford
Norfolk
IP24 1BT

2.10 Once an award has been made an adjustment notice or bill will be sent confirming 
the discount.

2.11 The Care Leaver must advise the Council within 21 days of any change in 
circumstances which may give rise to a change in entitlement to discount such as a 
new adult moving in or the Care Leaver vacating the dwelling.

3 Review of decision and appeal process

3.1 S16 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 provides that a person may appeal 
against any decision by a Billing Authority that he or she is liable to pay Council Tax 
or a calculation as to the amount to pay.

3.2 Any Care Leaver aggrieved by a decision of the Billing Authority not to award a Care 
Leavers Discount may in the first instance request a review of the decision. 

3.3 A review should be instigated by writing to the Council Tax Team at the address 
shown in 2.9 above.

3.4 A request for a review should detail the reasons in full. 

3.5 If a review is requested, the decision on entitlement will be independently reviewed 
by a different officer from the one involved in the initial determination.

3.6 A final decision following a review will be sent in writing to the Care Leaver.

3.7 Following a request for a review, If the Care Leaver is still aggrieved an appeal may 
be made to the Valuation Tribunal within 2 months of the review response at 3.6. Or, 

64



if there has been no response, within 4 months of the date of the request for a 
review the Care Leaver may appeal to the Valuation Tribunal.

3.8 The Valuation Tribunal’s contact details are:

Valuation Tribunal
Hepworth House
2 Trafford Court
Doncaster
Yorkshire
DN1 1PN 

Email : vtdoncaster@vts.gsi.gov.uk
Tel : 0300 123 2035

65



PROFORMA B

This appraisal is valid for 1 month from issue date
If there are changes to the original report it may invalidate this document & must be reviewed by Finance.

13/11/2018 Page 1 of 1
D:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\1\0\AI00029016\$w0

4gfdl5.docx

BRECKLAND COUNCIL FINANCIAL COMMENTS & APPRAISAL

THIS DOCUMENT PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED REPORT

FROM: Alison Chubbock (Chief Accountant)
REPORT: Local Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers
REPORT DATE: 27 November 2018

£ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Revenue
Income
N/A (-) (-) (-) (-)
Costs
Council Tax discount - 1,320 1,360 1,400
Total Revenue - 1,320 1,360 1,400

Capital
Income
N/A (-) (-) (-) (-)
Costs
N/A - - - -
Total Capital - - - -
Considered By: Cabinet
Date: 27-11-18

Financial Services Comments
Based on the current 20 eligible persons who are liable for Council Tax, the cost to the council 
is minimal (as detailed in the table above).  The values above assume increases of 3% per 
year.

Financial Risk
The number of eligible persons may increase in the future and the costs to the Council will also 
then increase.

66



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge - Executive Member for Growth  

To: Cabinet – 27th November 2018

Author: Phil Mileham – Strategic Planning Manager

Subject: Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan refresh 2018 

Purpose: To advise Members of the updated Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Plan.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Cabinet supports the production of the Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan, together with its annual review and endorse the strategic and inclusive approach 
to infrastructure planning.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Norfolk County Council adopted its Economic Growth Strategy entitled ‘Delivering 
Economic Growth in Norfolk’ in April 2012. The first Norfolk Infrastructure Plan (NIP) was 
produced by the County Council to fulfil the first objective of providing support for growth 
and removing infrastructure constraints. The NIP was designed to be a management tool 
with the aim of ensuring delivery of key interventions over the plan periods of the Local 
Planning Authorities.

1.2   Since 2012, the County Council has refreshed the NIP annually, taking account of 
developments in understanding, new project information and the review of local authority 
plans meaning longer term projects and priorities could change accordingly.

1.3   The NIP was expanded to the NIDP with a stronger focus on delivery in 2017. The Norfolk 
Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan (NSIDP) pulls together information on the key 
strategic infrastructure projects needed to deliver economic growth in Norfolk, and it 
provides a clear message of Norfolk’s infrastructure priorities to the government and its 
agencies.

1.4   The SNIDP is a working document that will be fully reviewed annually as information 
becomes available and projects are progressed through to delivery. The NSIDP will help 
Norfolk County Council and its local partners to co-ordinate implementation, prioritise 
activity and respond to any funding opportunities.

1.5 The Strategic IDP
1.6 The NSIDP sets out Norfolk’s high level strategic infrastructure priorities for the next 10 

years. The list of projects has been compiled in partnership with a range of stakeholders 
and aligns with the County Councils priority for improved infrastructure, the ambitions of the 
NALEP (New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership) Norfolk and Suffolk Economic Strategy 
and the District Councils Local Plans.

1.7 The main document is accompanied by an online map http://arcg.is/2u75ooY presenting all 
the projects in the NSIDP as one vision for Norfolk. This list of projects has been compiled 
by the County Council in conjunction with stakeholders including district councils, utility 

67

Agenda Item 11

http://arcg.is/2u75ooY
http://arcg.is/2u75ooY


companies and government agencies. A copy of the Plan is included at Appendix A to this 
report, but can also be found at: https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-
howwework/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/businesspolicies .

1.8 The projects in the NSIDP are focussed on transport, utilities and sustainability and align 
with the County Council’s priority for improved infrastructure, the ambitions of the recently 
published Norfolk and Suffolk Economic Strategy (NSES) and District Council Local Plans.

1.9 In Breckland, the Attleborough Link Road, Thetford Water and Energy Supply projects and 
the Snetterton Energy Supply upgrade project are all included as key projects. In addition, 
in terms of transport schemes the Norwich Western Link project is of key importance to 
Breckland as there are a number of route options which affect the district. These options 
are due to be subject to public consultation by the County Council from November 18 to 
January 19. The County Council has also sought to identify a future project to look to grade 
separation of the junctions on the A11 at Thetford in order to look at enhancing the long-
term strategic movement traffic.  

1.10 There are many other smaller infrastructure schemes and projects important across the 
county. Not every project has been included in the NSIDP as the NSIDP only includes 
those projects which make the greatest contribution to housing and jobs targets and on 
which Norfolk County Council and other partners are actively working with a recognised 
route towards delivery.

1.11 Some projects are further forward than others so they have robust investment requirements 
and implementation timelines; others are in the early stages of design and are less well 
known. In some cases the funding sources are clear, for example where Section 106 
(S106) or Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) collected from developers will provide a 
significant contribution. Additional details on costs and sources of funding, such as 
contributions from utility companies like Anglian Water continue to be added as projects 
move forward.

1.12 The 2018 NSIDP is focussed on delivery with projects grouped by those in Local Authority 
control and those which are being delivered by external organisations. For those projects in 
Local Authority control significantly more information has been provided including a detailed 
breakdown of each project stage and the work underway to progress delivery. In addition 
the majority of projects have also received funding from the Business Rates Pool in a 
coordinated approach to ensure projects progress as planned over the coming year and the 
next stage for delivery has been identified.

1.13 This approach helps the County Council generate a pipeline of projects based on estimated 
start dates and if their current status means they will be delivered as planned. This allows 
for informed discussions to take place and will enable work with partners to co-ordinate 
implementation, prioritise activity and respond to any funding opportunities.

1.14 The NSIDP is a working document that will be reviewed annually as information becomes 
available and we progress the projects through to delivery. The first review is planned for 
the spring of 2019 to factor in any potential government announcements during Autumn 
2018, with a full review planned for November 2019. This process allows for new projects to 
come forward for inclusion and further refinement as projects progress.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are two options available to Members as follows:

68

https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-howwework/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/businesspolicies
https://www.norfolk.gov.uk/what-we-do-and-howwework/policy-performance-and-partnerships/policies-and-strategies/businesspolicies


2.2 Option 1 – Members endorse the SIDP as an iterative document highlighting wider strategic 
infrastructure projects across the County (recommended)

2.3 Option 2 – Members do not endorse the SIDP.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that Members endorse Option 1 to provide support for the NSIDP as an 
iterative supporting document to the wider approach to infrastructure coordination across 
the County.  

3.2 Endorsing option 1 will also help Norfolk County Council and its local partners to co-
ordinate implementation, prioritise activity and respond to any funding opportunities that 
arise.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefits are the continued coordination of activity to promote key 
infrastructure projects across the County. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.2 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1 This report aligns with the following corporate priorities:

 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; and
 developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth, 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 N/A

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 CIL – Community Infrastructure Levy
7.2 NIP – Norfolk Infrastructure Plan
7.3 NSES – Norfolk and Suffolk Economic Strategy
7.4 NSIDP – Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

69

file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file:///G:/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Phil Mileham – Strategic Planning Manager
Telephone Number: (01362) 656803
Email: phil.mileham@breckland-sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan

70



 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1 of 63 Norfolk Infrastructure Delivery Plan   2017-2027 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Norfolk Strategic 
Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan 

2018-2028 
2018-2028 

71



 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Norfolk County Council 

72



 
 

3 

 

Table of Contents 

INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................................... 5 

FIGURE 1 KEY HOUSING GROWTH SITES ............................................................................................................................ 7 
FIGURE 2 KEY EMPLOYMENT SITES .................................................................................................................................. 8 
FIGURE 3 STRATEGIC INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS IN LOCAL AUTHORITY CONTROL .................................................................... 9 

FUNDING OPPORTUNITIES ................................................................................................................................. 11 

FUNDED PROJECTS AT AUGUST 2018 ................................................................................................................. 12 

SUPERFAST BROADBAND ................................................................................................................................... 13 

EDUCATION ........................................................................................................................................................ 15 

INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS IN LOCAL AUTHORITY CONTROL ........................................................................... 17 

ROADS ............................................................................................................................................................... 21 

BROADLAND GROWTH TRIANGLE LINK ROAD .................................................................................................................. 22 
A10 WEST WINCH HOUSING ACCESS ROAD ................................................................................................................... 24 
ATTLEBOROUGH LINK ROAD ........................................................................................................................................ 25 
A140 LONG STRATTON BYPASS ................................................................................................................................... 26 
NORWICH WESTERN LINK ........................................................................................................................................... 28 
A47 HARDWICK JUNCTION .......................................................................................................................................... 30 

RAIL ................................................................................................................................................................... 31 

BROADLAND BUSINESS PARK RAIL STATION .................................................................................................................... 32 

UTILITIES ............................................................................................................................................................ 33 

SNETTERTON ENERGY SUPPLY ...................................................................................................................................... 34 
THETFORD ENERGY SUPPLY ......................................................................................................................................... 35 

SUSTAINABLE ..................................................................................................................................................... 36 

WEAVERS WAY ......................................................................................................................................................... 37 
THE GREEN LOOP ...................................................................................................................................................... 38 
BACTON WALCOTT SANDSCAPING ................................................................................................................................ 39 

EDUCATION ........................................................................................................................................................ 41 

BROADLAND GROWTH TRIANGLE SECONDARY SCHOOL ..................................................................................................... 42 

INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS DELIVERED BY OTHER AUTHORITIES ..................................................................... 43 

FIGURE 4 INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS DELIVERED BY OTHER ORGANISATIONS ......................................................................... 44 

ROADS ............................................................................................................................................................... 45 

A11 THETFORD BYPASS JUNCTIONS ......................................................................................................................... 46 
A47 WISBECH BYPASS JUNCTIONS ........................................................................................................................... 47 
A47 TILNEY TO EAST WINCH DUALLING .................................................................................................................... 48 
A47 ACLE STRAIGHT DUALLING ................................................................................................................................ 49 

RAIL ................................................................................................................................................................... 50 

NORWICH TO LONDON RAIL (NORWICH IN 90) ......................................................................................................... 51 
GREAT YARMOUTH RAIL STATION ............................................................................................................................ 52 
ELY AREA ENHANCEMENTS ...................................................................................................................................... 53 
EAST WEST RAIL (CAMBRIDGE TO OXFORD) ................................................................................................................ 54 

UTILITIES ............................................................................................................................................................ 55 

THETFORD WATER SUPPLY ...................................................................................................................................... 56 
THETFORD SEWERAGE SCHEME .................................................................................................................................. 57 
BROADLAND GROWTH TRIANGLE AND NORTH NORWICH SUBSTATIONS...................................................................... 58 

73

file://///norfolk.gov.uk/NCCDFS1/NDRIVE-PTCH/01EDS/01IEG/NIDP/NIDP%202018/Drafting/Norfolk%20Infrastructure%20Delivery%20Plan%20DRAFT%2024_09_18.docx%23_Toc526489362


 
 

4 

 

EARLHAM SUBSTATION ............................................................................................................................................ 59 
EASTON, HETHERSETT AND CRINGLEFORD SEWERAGE UPGRADE ................................................................................ 60 
BROADLAND GROWTH TRIANGLE TRUNK SEWER .......................................................................................................... 61 
HEIGHAM WATER WORKS ......................................................................................................................................... 62 
WYMONDHAM WATER SUPPLY CONNECTIONS ............................................................................................................ 63 
KING’S LYNN SEWERAGE IMPROVEMENTS ................................................................................................................. 64 
INCREASED SURFACE WATER CAPACITY NORTH LYNN ................................................................................................ 65 

SUSTAINABLE ..................................................................................................................................................... 66 

GREAT YARMOUTH FLOOD DEFENCES 2017 ONWARDS (EPOCH 2) ............................................................................ 67 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

74



 
 

5 

 

Introduction 

 
Norfolk County Council and its partners are determined to unlock 

Norfolk’s full potential. To make this happen we are working together 

to ensure existing and planned infrastructure links people to jobs, 

homes and local amenities as well as connecting business with 

customers. Work is already underway to achieve our social, economic 

and environmental aspirations for today whilst making Norfolk future 

fit for the challenges of tomorrow… 

 
This strategic infrastructure delivery plan (SIDP) pulls together information on the 

key infrastructure needed to deliver economic growth in Norfolk. It is a working 

document that will be reviewed on a regular basis as information becomes available 

and projects progress through to delivery. The Plan will help Norfolk County Council 

and partners to co-ordinate implementation, prioritise activity and respond to any 

funding opportunities. An online map showing all of the projects and key information 

can be found: http://arcg.is/2u75ooY 

All the information in the SIDP is correct as of the date of publication and will be 

reviewed on a regular basis, the plan has been developed by assessing the work 

required for each project to progress forward and where appropriate identify funding 

opportunities to carry out this work. 

 

 

 
The SIDP sets out the Norfolk wide high level strategic infrastructure priorities for the 

next 10 years. This list has been compiled in collaboration with stakeholders 

including internal county council departments, district councils, utility companies and 

government agencies. These projects align with the County Council’s priority for 

improved infrastructure, the ambitions of the recently adopted Norfolk and Suffolk 

Economic Strategy (NSES), District Council Local Plans, the County Council’s 

administration’s “caring for your county” priorities, Children’s Services Local Growth 

and Investment Plan and the Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework agreed by all 

Norfolk planning authorities.  

 

 

The Town and County Planning Association recently published (June 

2018) a report: Building for the Future: The Role of County Councils in 

Meeting Housing Need. This report identified Norfolk County Council as a 

case study of best practice particularly highlighting the successes of the 

Norfolk Infrastructure Delivery Plan and Norfolk Strategic Planning 

Framework in future planning and collaboration. 
 

75

http://arcg.is/2u75ooY


 
 

6 

 

There are many other infrastructure schemes and projects important across the 

county. Not every project can be included in the SIDP. The SIDP includes the most 

strategic projects on which the county council alongside partners are actively 

working to progress and which have a recognised route towards delivery. 

Infrastructure projects in this delivery plan are appropriately in sync with the recently 

published Industrial Strategy, which identifies growth as being clustered around 

centres of skills and ideas. All of the projects will deliver the physical infrastructure 

that is essential to promote these economic growth locations. 

The projects included in the SIDP are now categorised into those where Local 

Authorities lead the project and those where an external organisation is leading and 

delivering the project. This still allows us to identify all the strategic infrastructure 

projects in Norfolk but also direct resources, identify funding sources and target 

lobbying in the most effective way as different projects will have different routes 

through to delivery. 

Some projects are further forward than others so they have robust investment figures 

and implementation timelines; others are in the early stages of design and are less 

well known. In some cases the funding sources are clear, where Section 106 (S106) 

or Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) collected from developers will provide a 

significant contribution. Additional details on costs and sources of funding, such as 

contributions from utility companies like Anglian Water will be added as projects are 

firmed up. 

Figures 1 and 2 indicate that Norfolk’s key growth locations are clustered at points 

along the main transport arteries. Therefore, these growth corridors and the locations 

identified in the NSES and District Local Plans provide the spatial context for this 

plan. 

76



 
 

7 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Figure 1 Key housing growth sites 

 

77



 
 

8 

 

Figure 2 Key employment sites 
 

78



 
 

9 

 

Figure 3 Strategic Infrastructure projects in Local Authority control 
 

 
 

 

79



 
 

10 

 

The Norfolk Strategic Planning Framework suggests Norfolk authorities will need to 

collectively plan for an additional 84,000 (approx. 4,000 per annum) homes by 2036. 

Figure 1 outlines the key strategic housing sites that will deliver the majority of this 

growth, with growth focussed around key urban areas that have existing 

infrastructure and services that have the capacity to support high levels of growth. It 

also identifies all the places in our area that are expected to grow by at least 1,000 

homes over the relevant local plan period. As well as the major urban areas of 

Norwich, King’s Lynn and Great Yarmouth there are groupings of towns along the 

A11 as well as key individual market towns that can make a significant contribution to 

growth. 

Figure 2 identifies the major employment sites and opportunities in Norfolk crossing 

a range of sectors and locations. As with housing it shows the majority of 

employment sites are aligned with the urban centres and access to the trunk road 

network. The job growth locations have a diverse mix of high impact sector activity, 

but the smaller locations have mainly advanced manufacturing and agri-tech, with 

more life sciences in the southwest which is closer to Cambridge. There are 

concentrations of employment locations serving high impact sectors in: 

 Greater Norwich – Life sciences, digital cluster, finance and insurance 

 Great Yarmouth – Offshore energy 

 Attleborough, Thetford and A11 – Life sciences, agri-tech and advanced 
engineering 

 King’s Lynn and Downham Market – Advanced engineering 

 Fakenham – Clean energy 

 
Figure 3 shows all of the projects identified in this plan, which are in alignment with 

housing growth, jobs growth and NSES key places, and will create better places to 

live and work for people in Norfolk. The transport projects support major housing and 

employment sites; improving connectivity and reducing journey times for people and 

businesses. Utility projects are concentrated around urban areas and the towns 

along the A11, ensuring the developments at Thetford, Attleborough and Snetterton 

are built out as planned, and capacity for water supply and disposal is increased in 

Norwich and King’s Lynn to accommodate growth. Utilities including digital coverage 

are now as essential for homes and businesses as being able to turn a tap on, and 

should be seen in the same way with this plan identifying a range of projects that 

need to be progressed to deliver the planned growth in NSES key locations. For the 

county to grow sustainably, green infrastructure projects will mitigate the impact of 

growth to the northeast of Norwich whilst flood defences and coastal erosion projects 

along the coast will be vital in protecting both existing and future homes and 

businesses. The projects do not work in isolation, and they deliver more than one 

outcome. The transport projects are focussed on unlocking housing and job sites. 

These cannot move forward without essential utilities being in place, while green 

infrastructure projects create innovative solutions that can alleviate environmental 

constraints. Collaboratively we need to explore the funding opportunities available to 

ensure we maximise the benefits from these inextricably linked projects, for the 

continued success of Norfolk. 

80



 
 

11 

 

Funding Opportunities 

 
The funding required to pay for the strategic infrastructure projects to support 

delivery of growth is a key element of the individual Local Infrastructure Plans. 

Opportunities for funding include: 

• Growing Places Fund 
• City Deals 
• Business Rates Pooling (BRP) 
• Growing Business Fund 
• Enterprise Zone accelerator fund 
• Enterprise Zone business rates retention challenge fund 
• Local Investment Fund (LIF) 
• Local Major Transport Schemes 
• New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership (NALEP) Growth Deal Fund 
• Homes and Communities Agency 
• Housing Infrastructure Fund 
• Private Investment 
• National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) 
• Developer funding (Section 106 and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)) 

 
In December 2013, Broadland, Norwich City, Norfolk County and South 

Norfolk councils signed a City Deal with central government. A core theme 

supports infrastructure delivery to promote accelerated delivery of planned 

growth for infrastructure in Greater Norwich. 

The infrastructure priorities identified in the IDP will assist the delivery of the 

NSES and District Council Local Plan growth ambitions. This plan then sets out 

which elements of infrastructure are required to support the identified growth 

locations. 
 

Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) 

Norfolk has been successful in getting several schemes into the Homes England 

Housing Infrastructure Funds. The funds allocated in Norfolk are: 

 
Scheme  Funding agreed  Works proposed  Homes unlocked  

Marginal viability fund (single and lower tier authorities) 

Kingsfleet Urban 

Extension, Thetford  

£9.95m  Power and water 

infrastructure  

5,000 

Anglia Square, Norwich  £12m Decontamination, 

archaeology, 

demolition, 

drainage, roads and 

parking, water, 

electricals and gas 

1,230 

Cringleford, South Norfolk £5m Infrastructure  350 

Forward funding (upper tier authorities) 

Broadland growth triangle  £57m  Infrastructure  7,720 

Total £83.95m  14,300 

 

81



 
 

12 

 

Funded Projects at August 2018 

 
The following projects have successfully been funded since 2013 

Completed: 

• Broadland Northway (Norwich Northern Distributor Road (incl Postwick) - 
£205m 

• Norwich Pedalways -£14m  
• Great Yarmouth Beacon Park Link (A47/143 Link) - £6.8m 
• A11 dualling Barton Mills to Thetford- £105m 
• Great Yarmouth Right Turn at the rail station - £400,000 
• King’s Lynn Lynnsport Link Road- £3.5m 

Under construction or part-completed: 

• Attleborough Town Centre Improvements- £4.5m 
• Great Yarmouth Rail Station to the Market Place improvement- £2m 
• Great Yarmouth sustainable transport package (Part 1) - £2.5m 
• Norwich (various projects including Dereham Road roundabout- £2m, Cycle 

link extension to Wymondham- £1.3m, City centre Prince of Wales Road- 
£2.6m, Dereham Road widening- £3m) 

 

Planned, not yet started: 
 

• Thetford Enterprise Park Roundabout- £2m 
• A11/ORR Daniels Road junction improvement- £2m 
• Great Yarmouth congestion-busting projects- £3.3m 
• Great Yarmouth sustainable transport package (Part 2) - £3.5m 
• Great Yarmouth Third River Crossing- £120m 
• A47 improvements £2-300m (incl Thickthorn and Great Yarmouth junction 

improvements and dualling Blofield to North Burlingham, and Easton to North 
Tuddenham) 

• A140 Hempnall Roundabout - £4m 

82



 
 

13 

 

Superfast Broadband 

 
There are two primary infrastructure providers that have deployed fibre infrastructure 

capable of delivering Superfast broadband (24Mbps+); BT Openreach and Virgin 

Media, in addition to this there are other providers.  

Commercial investment from these two companies provided access to Superfast 

broadband for 42% of Norfolk properties. The Better Broadband for Norfolk (BBfN) 

Programme is expected to increase access to Superfast broadband to 95% of 

Norfolk properties by the end of March 2020. To date, BBfN has seen access to 

Superfast broadband speeds increase from 42% in 2013, to 91% of Norfolk 

properties in June 2018. These figures are taken from the independent organisation 

“Think Broadband” data. 

Provisions within the BBfN contract provide rebates from BT if Take-up of services 

using BBfN funded infrastructure are higher than expected. Based on this a new 

procurement has begun. This will allow the county to move towards its aim of 

achieving 100% coverage. 

UK Digital Strategy 

The Government has set-up the National Productivity Investment Fund (NPIF) to 

provide over £23 billion of investment between 2017-18 and 2021-22. Investing in 

priority areas including economic infrastructure, housing and research and 

development. Of this money £740m will be invested in digital by 2020-21. This 

investment is underpinned by the UK Digital Strategy which supports the next 

generation of fast and reliable mobile and broadband communications for consumers 

and businesses. The National Infrastructure Commission recently launched its first 

‘National Infrastructure Assessment’ which recommends nationwide fibre broadband 

is delivered by 2033 via a national broadband plan to be produced by the end of this 

year. Key digital areas include: 

Full Fibre 

The 2017 Budget announced the first steps, specifically £200m investment into the 

Full Fibre Network scheme to leverage commercial investment in Full-Fibre, the 

‘gold standard’ of fast and reliable broadband. Complementing the NPIF 

programmes, the new Digital Infrastructure Investment Fund was launched in spring 

2017. 

Government investment of £400m will be at least matched by private sector 

investors, and will accelerate the deployment of Full Fibre networks by providing 

developers with greater access to commercial finance. £67m of investment has been 

allocated to the Nationwide Gigabit Broadband Voucher Scheme (GBVS) which will 

provide vouchers worth up to £3000 for a small or medium sized business or £500 to 

residents to help with the costs of connecting to full fibre broadband (for speeds of up 

to 1Gb per second). The voucher scheme is available now in Norfolk and has been 

promoted to businesses (as the primary target of the scheme) by Norfolk County 

Council in conjunction with the District councils and the Chamber of Commerce. 

83

http://labs.thinkbroadband.com/local/index.php?area=E10000020


 
 

14 

 

Norfolk County Council is in dialogue with the Department of Digital, Culture, Media 

and Sport to access further funds for full fibre development across the county as well 

as expressing an interest in the forthcoming 5G rural trials (more of which below). 

5G 

The Budget also announced up to £16m for leading UK research institutions to 

cooperate on a cutting edge 5G facility to trial and demonstrate 5G technology. The 

first step to a new National 5G Innovation Network, this will involve government 

working as closely as possible with industry, investors, regulators, and researchers 

to refine the Government’s policy as 5G technology emerges and evolves. 

Government has also announced plans for urban and rural 5G trials. 5G 

deployment in rural areas will initially require full fibre backhaul from existing 4G 

cell towers and so Norfolk County Council has been working with the four mobile 

network operators to increase the number of 4G transmitters and improve the 

bandwidth for backhaul through the Full Fibre funding programme. 

Support consumers in getting the best deal in digital connectivity 

Ensuring adverts for broadband accurately reflect the speeds and technology actually 

on offer for the majority of customers, so that people know what they are getting and 

can better find the most competitive deal. Internet service Providers are now required 

to declare the speed a customer can expect to receive. 

84



 
 

15 

 

Education 

 
The Schools’ Local Growth and Investment Plan (SLGIP) for pupil place provision 4- 

16 sets out the strategic direction of pupil place supply for those areas of the County 

where pupil numbers are expected to increase in the next 5-10 years. The Plan is a 

response to the District Local Plan frameworks and is presented as the basis for 

discussion, planning and decision-making for the County Council and its partners 

across the increasingly diverse educational landscape. The Plan links to the County 

Council’s schools’ forward capital programme which was reported and approved at 

Committee in May 2018. 

Major growth areas which will require multi-school solutions: 

 Thetford Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) of 5,000 new dwellings; 

 Broadland Growth Triangle (Sprowston/Old Catton/Rackheath) of 12,000+ 

new dwellings; and 

 Attleborough Sustainable Urban Extension (SUE) of 4,000 new dwellings. 

 
 
Thetford 

Existing primary phase provision in Thetford remains a mix of infant/junior and all 

through primary. There are currently 12 forms of entry (360 places) at reception with 

just a few spare places in the September 2017 admissions round. Pupil forecasts 

indicate some stability in pupil numbers over the next few years until new housing 

begins to yield pupils. There is a range of academy providers. Pursuing the County 

Council’s policy of moving to all-through primary schools would be achievable in 

Thetford the County Council are considering options when related to growth 

infrastructure. At secondary phase a single high school serves the Town with 

capacity to accept additional forms of entry until the SUE is well under way. The high 

school is capable of expansion on its existing site when additional places are 

required. 

Sites for three new 420 place primary schools have been secured. It is expected that 

a Reserved Matters application for the first sub-phase of 300+ homes which includes 

the site for the first primary school will be submitted shortly. Children’s Services have 

been working with the land promoters and agreed the new school position on the site 

and the infrastructure requirements. The Children’s Services capital budget will need 

to underwrite the cost of this first school until developer contributions come through. 

Broadland Growth Triangle 

This housing growth area extends from Old Catton in the west to Rackheath in the 

east. Existing provision is extensive and affects three secondary schools: Sprowston 

Community High School, Thorpe St Andrew School, Broadland High School and their 

feeder primary phase schools. Existing primary phase provision remains a mix of 

infant/junior in Old Catton and Sprowston and all through primary in Rackheath and 

Thorpe. 

85



 
 

16 

 

To the immediate south-east, the new primary school at White House Farm is 

progressing with the land transfer underway and a planning application for the new 

school building submitted in 2017. The target date for opening of this new school is 

September 2019 but is dependent on the construction timescale. 

The two new primary phase schools within the new Beeston Park development have 

been allocated to Reach2 Academy Trust as part of the DfE Free School programme 

as well as White House Farm, which is going ahead and will be built in discussion 

with Reach2. Confirmation will be sought from the Regional Schools Commissioner 

that the DfE Free School programme will continue to support the two Beeston Park 

schools. Further new primary phase schools in addition to those mentioned above 

will be proposed as planning applications come forward for consultation. 

Norfolk County Council has made a commitment for a new Secondary phase 

school in the Sprowston area and a preferred site has been identified on the 

current Park and Ride site. Planning towards feasibility of this new school is under 

way. Consideration may also be given to the possibility of an all-through 4-16 

school model. See page 42 for more details on this project.  

Attleborough 

The town of Attleborough is served by two all-through primary schools, namely 
Attleborough Primary School and the new Rosecroft Primary School and one 
secondary school – Attleborough Academy. The two primary schools offer five forms 
of entry between them. The town is surrounded by villages with local schools. Some 
children in Attleborough catchment do choose a nearby village school as opposed to 
their local primary school in the Town - e.g. in September 2017, around 25% of 
Attleborough catchment children expressed a preference for a reception class 
outside catchment. This figure has increased since last year and is likely due to the 
apprehension of re-organisation. Future preferences will be monitored to see if this 
pattern continues once re-organisation settles. 
Attleborough Infant School moved off the Attleborough Academy site into the new 
Rosecroft Primary School building allowing the Academy more space for future 
expansion. A masterplan has been drawn up for future growth at this school once 
pressure for places is evident. 

 

Discussions with Land promoters have continued throughout 2017 and an outline 
planning application was submitted to Breckland District Council in the summer of 
2017. Discussions are still ongoing with the land promoters regarding the 
requirements for education provision in response to the proposed 4,000 new 
homes and land for two new primary phase schools have been secured once 
outline permission is approved. 

 

In addition to these major growth areas which require multi-school solutions the 
SLGIP also sets out development locations where one new school is expected and 
growth areas with implications for existing schools. The full report can be found: 
http://norfolkcc.cmis.uk.com/norfolkcc/Decisions/tabid/67/ctl/ViewCMIS_DecisionDet 
ails/mid/391/Id/28b66d42-e0b7-48e5-983f-2d0f5214ba22/Default.aspx 

86

http://norfolkcc.cmis.uk.com/norfolkcc/Decisions/tabid/67/ctl/ViewCMIS_DecisionDet


 
 

17 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13 of 63   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Infrastructure projects in 

Local Authority Control 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Key Infrastructure Projects 

87



 
 

18 

 

Infrastructure Projects in Local Authority control 

The County Council in collaboration with partners is seeking to progress a number of 
key infrastructure initiatives for the next 10 years as listed below. 

 

All of the projects in this list are judged on four criteria: 
 

• Delivering significant housing and jobs growth 
• Identified in existing plans/programmes 
• Have a committed route to delivery 
• Project is in Local Authority control 

 

Tick system key: 

No ticks = Issue identified but no work carried out to identify project/solution 
= Feasibility work on scheme has begun to identify options 
= Feasibility/development work underway on preferred option 
= Project is shovel ready 

 
Road Projects 

 

Project 

Name 

Estimated 

Start Date 

Estimated 

Cost 

Scheme 

Development 

Potential 

Funding Source 

Broadland 

Growth 

Triangle 

Link Road 

2017 £38m  
 

Developer funding, 

CIL, BRP, HIF 

A10 West 

Winch 

Housing 

Access 

Road 

2020 £22.8m  
 

 

Developer funding, 

Growth Deal 

Attleborough 

Link Road 

2020 £18m 



Developer funding, 

Growth Deal 

A140 

Long 

Stratton 

Bypass 

2020 £31m 



Developer funding, 

Growth Deal, CIL, 

NPIF, Government 

Major Road Network 

Norwich 

Western Link 

2023 Indicative 

£160m 





Growth Deal, Local 

major transport 

scheme 

A47 Hardwick 

Junction 

2025 £17m  


Developer funding, 

Growth Deal 

88



 
 

19 

 

Rail Projects 
 

Project 

Name 

Estimated 

Start Date 

Estimated 

Cost 

Scheme 

Development 

Potential 

Funding Source 

Broadland 

Business 

Park Rail 

Station 

Mid 2020s £6.5m  


Growth Deal, Rail 
Industry 

 
Utilities Projects 

 

Project 

Name 

Estimated 

Start Date 

Estimated 

Cost 

Scheme 

Development 

Potential 

Funding Source 

Snetterton 2018 £4.1m 



UK Power Networks, 

Energy    Breckland District 

Supply    Council, Developers, 

    Landowners 

Thetford 2018 £6.5m-  Growth Deal, Private 

Energy  £13.6m  Sector 

Supply     

 
Sustainable Projects 

 
 

Project 

Name 

Estimated 

Start Date 

Estimated 

Cost 

Scheme 

Development 

Potential 

Funding Source 

Weavers 

Way 

2018/19 £1.1m  
 

RDPE, HLF, LEP 

The Green 
Loop 

2019/20 £4.7m  
 

DfT, LEP, Sustrans, 
Lottery, Developer 
contributions, CIL 

Bacton 

Walcott 

Sandscaping 
 

2018 £19.3m  Public sector, Regional 
Flood and Coastal 

Committee, Environment 
Agency, DEFRA, NALEP, 

private sector 
 
 
 

 
 
 

89



 
 

20 

 

Education Projects 
 
 

Project 

Name 

Estimated 

Start Date 

Estimated 

Cost 

Scheme 

Development 

Potential 

Funding Source 

Broadland 

Growth 

Triangle 

Secondary 

School  

2025/26 – 
dependent on 
development 

progress 

£26m   
 

NCC, BRP, CIL 

90



 
 

21 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19 of 63   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Roads 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Accessible 

91



 
 

22 

 

Broadland Growth Triangle Link Road 

The project will provide a road linking the strategic employment areas of Broadland Business Park and Norwich Airport through the 
development sites within the northern suburbs of Norwich. It will significantly increase the accessibility of employment sites in the 
Broadland Growth Triangle area and support the development of approximately 55 hectares of employment land in this vicinity. A 
section of the link between Wroxham Road and Salhouse Road has already been delivered through development and is expected 
to be open to traffic in the near future. The remaining sections are outlined below. 

 
 

Broadland Growth Triangle  Norwich Link Road  

Description of stage 
Airport Industrial Estate to 
St Faiths Road 

St Faiths Road to North 
Walsham Road and North 
Walsham Road to 
Wroxham Road 

Salhouse Road to 
Plumstead Road 

Plumstead Road to 
Broadland Business 
Park 

Estimated cost to 

deliver the stage 

Additional feasibility and 
scheme development 
costing approx. £200k 

Additional feasibility and 
scheme development 
costing approx. £500k 

Possible need for 
additional feasibility and 
scheme development 
costing approx. £300k 

n/a 

Indicative timeframe 

to deliver stage and 

start date 

Feasibility underway to 
establish optimal location, 
nature and timing of 
vehicular link to Airport - 
completion by March 2019. 
Scheme development and 
planning applications to 
follow as appropriate.  
 
Ongoing negotiations with 
developer to establish 
appropriate design of link 
road connection to St 
Faiths Road. Consent for 
Link Road by December 
2018. Construction 
complete by March 2020. 

A detailed application has 
been submitted part of the 
link between St Faiths 
Road and Norwich RFU. 
NCC and BDC are working 
with the developer to 
achieve a planning 
approval. Approval 
anticipated by March 2019 
and delivery by March 
2020.  
 
NCC, BDC and developer 
are working through the 
co-development of the HIF 
bid to develop scheme for 
remainder of link. If HIF is 

Outline planning 
permission for 
development scheme 
across majority of link 
expected by end of 2018. 
 
Detailed consent for 
junction with Plumstead 
Road and northern link 
road spur currently under-
consideration. 
 
Construction of link road 
currently expected to be 
begun late 2019/early 
2020.     

Developer current 
intention is to begin 
constructing 1st phase of 
the Brook Farm Link 
Road by the end of 
2019. 
 
BDC and NCC are in 
ongoing negotiations 
with developer about 2nd 
phase of link road.  
 

92



 
 

23 

 

successful delivery is 
expected by March 2021. 
 

Potential funding 
source 

CIL, developer finance 
CIL, BRP, HIF, developer 
finance 

CIL, HIF, developer 
finance 

Developer finance 

Tick system     

93



 
 

24 

 

A10 West Winch Housing Access Road 
 
To facilitate planned housing growth in West Winch a new road is required between the A47 and A10 to enable distribution of trips 
from the new development and to alleviate congestion on the A10 through West Winch and at the Hardwick junction. In order to 
protect the existing A10 from increased traffic, a new route through or around the new development in this quadrant is proposed in 
the Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Local Plan.  
 
As outlined above the A10 West Winch Housing Access Road is intrinsically linked to some improvements at the Hardwick junction 
and the need to dual a short length of the A47. These other measures will form part of the overall West Winch Housing Access Road 
scheme. Work carried out by Mott MacDonald in 2014 indicated some £22.8m for the total package of these measures. 
 
 

A10 West Winch Housing Access Road 

Description of stage Stage 1: Scheme development  
Stage 2: Preparation of planning 

application  
Detailed design and 
procurement 

Estimated cost to deliver 

the stage 
£280k Est. £525k Est. £1.5m 

Indicative timeframe to 

deliver stage and start date 
Jan- Dec 2018  Jan-Dec 2019 2020 

Potential funding source 
Being funded by BRP, NCC and 

KLWNBC 

Being funded by BRP, NCC and 

KLWNBC 

Potentially BRP, local 

authority funding match, 

developer contribution 

Tick system 
Completion of this stage will take it 

from  to 
Initial stage to take from  to  

Completion of this stage 

will take it to 

94



 
 

25 

 

Attleborough Link Road 

A key transport priority for Attleborough, required for planned strategic growth, is a link road between the B1077 near Bunns Bank 

to London Road to the south of the town. The link road will distribute new and existing traffic away from the town centre and enable 

traffic management measures to be implemented within the town centre such as HGV restrictions. 

Delivery of the link road will be a planning requirement but is likely to be phased to allow about 1,200 homes to be built before the 

planning requirement is triggered. The planning application has been submitted and determination is likely to be at the end of 

2017. Discussions are ongoing with the development interests to understand how best to bring the road forward. 
 

 

Attleborough Link Road 

Description of stage 

Development phase: Preliminary Design; Statutory procedures 

and powers; Construction preparation 

NB: This work could be broken down into the three above phases 

Construction phase 

Estimated cost to deliver 

the stage 
Circa £1.4m £14m 

Indicative timeframe to 

deliver stage and start date 
Two years  

Potential funding source BRP, local authority, developer 
BRP, developer, Growth Deal, Homes 

England loan, HIF 

Qualifications for BRP and 

or Growth Deal funding 

Required for 4,000 new houses and 1,500 new jobs. Strategic 

scheme identified in the IDP. Funding would be for detailed 

technical work designed to progress strategic schemes towards 

readiness for implementation. 

Required for 4,000 new houses and 

1,500 new jobs. Strategic scheme 

identified in the IDP. Funding would 

be for construction. 

Tick system 
 

 Completion of this stage will take from  to  
 

 

95



 
 

26 

 

A140 Long Stratton Bypass 

Long Stratton is located approximately 10 miles south of Norwich on the A140 Norwich to Ipswich road. There is planned growth in 

Long Stratton of at least 1,800 homes in the period 2008-2026 to deliver a bypass but this growth is also highly dependent on the 

provision of water supply, sewerage and improved electricity supply. The need for a bypass has long been a priority and is 

considered to be a prerequisite to provide for the needs of the proposed growth. South Norfolk District Council has adopted an Area 

Action Plan (AAP) for Long Stratton and a planning application was submitted by the developer in 2018. This is expected to be 

determined in early 2019. 
 

A140 Long Stratton Bypass 

Description of stage 

An economic viability study for the Long 
Stratton bypass. This will be carried out by an 
expert consultant to provide a professional 
opinion on the: 
estimated cost of the bypass; estimated 
funding gap; 
direct and indirect economic benefits of the 
bypass; and added benefits of early delivery 
of the bypass 

Development phase: 
Preliminary Design; Statutory 
procedures and powers; 
Construction preparation NB: 
This work could be broken 
down into the three above 
phases 

Construction phase 

Estimated cost 
to deliver the 
stage 

£200,000 (funded) Circa £4m 

£31m - A bid has been submitted 
to DfT for major Road Network 
funding in 2018. If successful, 
this would allow construction to 
start in late 2020 with completion 
in mid-2022 

Indicative 
timeframe to 
deliver stage and 
start date 

Dec 2017 to July 2018 Two years 
2020 start on bypass 
2018 Hempnall Crossroads 

96



 
 

27 

 

Potential funding 
source 

Funded from: 
Pooled Business Rates: £100,000 SNC: 
£15,000 
HCA:£35,000 
NCC:£50,000 

BRP, local authority, developer 
BRP, Developer, Growth 
Deal, HIF, Government Major 
Road Network 

Qualifications for 
BRP and or 
Growth Deal 
funding 

 

Required for 1,800 new houses 
and to overcome traffic 
problems on A140. 
Strategic scheme identified in 
the IDP. Funding would be for 
detailed technical work 
designed to progress strategic 
schemes towards readiness for 
implementation 

Required for 1,800 new houses 
and to overcome traffic 
problems on A140. Strategic 
scheme identified in the IDP. 
Funding would be for 
construction 

Tick system Will take scheme from  to 
Completion of this stage will 
take it from  to 

 

97



 
 

28 

 

Norwich Western Link 

This link – to connect the Broadland Northway at Taverham to the A47 west of Norwich – has been identified as one of the county 
council’s priority road infrastructure schemes. Scheme development work has commenced, looking at the business case for such 
a link and to consider possible routes. The County Council has recently consulted on this project and there is a significant amount 
of public support for the project. 

 

 

Norwich Western Link 

Description of stage 

Option development and initial appraisal 
Development of business case: progress 
Design; Environmental assessment; 
Traffic modelling; and economic 
appraisal 

Development phase: Preliminary 
Design; Completion and submission of 
Outline Business Case; Statutory 
procedures and powers; Procurement 
and Detailed Design for Construction 
preparation 

Construction phase 

Estimated cost to 
deliver the stage 

£1m £10m Indicative £160m 

Indicative timeframe 
to deliver stage and 
start date 

Feb 18- Dec 18 

Three years (2019-2022) 
-(2019/2020) Prelim Design and OBC 
development submission - £3m 
-(2020 – 2022) Statutory process 
(development and delivery) - £4m 
-(2021-2022) Procurement and 
detailed design/construction prep -
£3m 

Two years (2022 to 2024) 

Potential funding source 
Funded from BRP (£500k) and NCC 
(£500k) 

BRP, Growth Deal, local major 
transport scheme, local authorities 

Growth Deal, local major 
transport scheme, local 
authorities 

98



 
 

29 

 

Qualifications for BRP 
and or Growth Deal 
funding 

Strategic scheme identified in the IDP. 
• Support sustainable housing growth in the western quadrant 
• Improve the quality of life for local communities 
• Support economic growth 
• Protect and enhance the natural environment 
• Improve strategic connectivity with the national road network 
 

Funding for detailed technical work designed to progress strategic schemes      
towards readiness for implementation 
 

Strategic scheme identified in 
the IDP. 
• Support sustainable 
housing growth in the western 
quadrant 
• Improve the quality of 
life for local communities 
• Support economic 
growth 
• Protect and enhance 
the natural environment 
• Improve strategic 
connectivity with the national 
road network 
Funding would  be for 
construction 

Tick system Will take scheme from  to  Will take scheme from  to   

99



 
 

30 

 

A47 Hardwick Junction 
 
The Hardwick Junction is the major gateway into King’s Lynn from the south and east. It is an important route into the town providing 
access to King’s Lynn’s main retail and employment areas. It is also an important hub for tourists travelling to the north Norfolk coast. 
Previous improvements to the junction included the addition of a flyover allowing through traffic on the A47 to bypass the junction 
altogether. The growth set out in the King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Core Strategy will place an additional burden on the highway 
network and further measures at the Hardwick junction will be required to ensure it operates without undue congestion and delay. Some 
improvements at the Hardwick junction, including the need to dual a short length of the A47, will form part of the overall West Winch 
Housing Access Road scheme. These will support the local economy and facilitate economic development. Planned growth in the 
immediate vicinity of the junction amounts to a total of 1,600 new homes to 2026 in the South East of King’s Lynn and some 27 ha of 
employment land at the Hardwick Estate Extension. This scale of growth will require improvements to the junction to increase capacity 
and allow for a new public transport corridor into town. In the next plan period, further improvements will be required to mitigate the 
impact of addition planned housing growth beyond 2026. 
 
 

A47 Hardwick Junction 

Description of stage 
Development Phase: Preliminary Design; Statutory procedures and 

powers; Construction preparation 
Construction phase 

Estimated cost to 

deliver the stage 
£1.7m £17m 

Indicative timeframe 

to deliver stage and 

start date 

1-2 years but not until 2026 1-2 years 

Potential funding 
source 

BRP BRP, developer, Growth Deal, HIF 

Qualifications for 

BRP and or Growth 

Deal funding 

Required for 3,500 new houses. Strategic scheme identified in the IDP. 

Funding would be for detailed technical work designed to progress 

strategic schemes towards readiness for implementation 

Required for 3,500 new houses. Strategic 

scheme identified in the IDP. Funding 

would  be for construction 

Tick system 
 

Will take scheme from  to   

100



 
 

31 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rail 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Accessible 

101



 
 

32 

 

Broadland Business Park Rail Station 

Currently services operate every hour between Norwich and Sheringham. New rolling stock will be delivered across the whole of 

the franchise between 2018 and 2020. Further capacity improvements are required to accommodate passenger demand and the 

County Council has been pressing for services every half hour (rather than hourly). Broadland Business Park is a strategic 

employment site located adjacent to the rail line just east of Norwich. Work to establish the benefits of adding a new station at this 

location has been ongoing 

Broadland Business Park Rail Station 

Description 
of stage 

Feasibility GRIP 
2 and option 
selection GRIP 
3 

Further work to develop single option 
Development phase: Preliminary Design; 
Statutory procedures and powers; 
construction preparation 

Construction 
phase 

Estimated cost 
to deliver the 
stage 

£140k Not known. Likely to be Circa £250,000 Circa £2m Circa £20m 

Indicative 
timeframe to 
deliver stage 
and start date 

Dec 17 
2018 
1 year 

2019-2022 
3-5 years 

Circa 2027 
1 year 

Potential 
funding source 

Funded through 
BRP and 
Broadland 
District Council 

BRP, local authorities BRP, Growth Deal, local authorities  

Qualifications 
for BRP and or 
Growth Deal 
funding 

Strategic 
scheme 
identified in the 
IDP. 

Strategic scheme identified in the IDP. 
Funding would be for detailed technical 
work designed to progress strategic 
schemes towards readiness for 
implementation 

Strategic scheme identified in the IDP. 
Funding would be for detailed technical 
work designed to progress strategic 
schemes towards readiness for 
implementation 

Strategic 
scheme 
identified in 
the IDP. 
Funding 
would be for 
construction 

Tick system  To take scheme from  to  To take scheme from  to   

102



 
 

33 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46 of 63   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Utilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Serviced 

103



 
 

34 

 

Snetterton Energy Supply 

Snetterton is a strategic employment site located along the Cambridge Norwich Tech Corridor and is adjacent to the Snetterton 

Racing Circuit so there are opportunities for expansion of the automotive sector engineering and there is also a rail head serving a 

well- established logistics and warehousing centre. The site has the potential to generate an additional 3,200 gross (1,750 net) jobs 

across a range of engineering, production and logistics sectors. This is estimated to be capable of generating a net additional GVA 

of £106m per annum. According to the major land owners, current levels of development enquiries are high but dependent on the 

current proposed scheme to establish a 33kV Primary Substation at Snetterton with the capability to draw electricity power from the 

new 33kV cable linking the Snetterton BioMass generator to the UKPN Grid point at Diss. 

 

Snetterton Energy Supply  

Description of stage 

Construction of a new 33kV primary electricity sub-station at Snetterton Heath and a new 11kV electricity 

distribution ring covering the Snetterton Heath employment area. Will deliver an additional 6MW of power 

for the local area 

Estimated cost to deliver 

the stage 
£4,092,706  BRP funding: £782,706 

Indicative timeframe to 

deliver stage and start date 

2.4 years 

Start date:  November 2017 

Potential funding source BRP:  Growth Deal: Landowners: 

Qualifications for BRP and 

or Growth Deal funding 
To unlock the Snetterton site through overcoming power constraints 

Tick system At completion 

104



 
 

35 

 

Thetford Energy Supply 

A major 5,000 unit housing development (Thetford SUE) which commenced on site in spring 2018 with the first 343 units now in 
contract. This first phase will substantially use the current spare electricity capacity power in the north of Thetford. A phased 
approach to increasing electricity capacity is proposed with the first phase being the building of a new Primary Substation to be 
located on the Thetford SUE and serving the housing development, a large employment area on the SUE and an adjacent large 
employment area known as the Thetford Enterprise Park. The two employment sites have a joint capacity for circa. 140,000sq m of 
B1, B2 and B8 development and potential to create 3,600 jobs. 

 
 Thetford SUE Thetford Enterprise Park 

Description of stage Construction of a new 33kV primary electricity 

sub-station on the SUE in northern Thetford 

Distribution of power from the new substation to 

the Thetford Enterprise Park employment site. 

Estimated cost to deliver 

the stage 

£6.5m £1m 

Indicative timeframe to 

deliver stage and start date 

2 years 

Start date: 2019 

Could be done in parallel with sub- station 

construction if funding is available. 

Potential funding source HCA HIF (secured) BRP, LEP, Private Sector 

Qualifications for BRP and 

or Growth Deal funding 

To accelerate housing delivery and provide a 

source of power for the TEP 

Required to unlock the TEP employment 

site 

Tick system  

105



 
 

36 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57 of 63   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sustainable 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Sustainable

106



 
 

37 

 

Weavers Way 
 
This project will create new walking and cycling infrastructure in rural Norfolk. Weaver’s Way begins in Cromer, following a 
public rights of way network to the market town of Aylsham. Here it picks up the route of a disused railway line, following its 
course through the Norfolk countryside to the edge of the Broads National Park at Stalham. From here it meanders through 
these famous wetlands and waterways before re-joining the coast at Great Yarmouth. This project will focus principally on 
revitalising the disused railway line between Aylsham and Stalham. Route improvements will include new surfacing to 
ensure year round accessibility for walkers (including access impaired users) and cyclists, increased safety and 
accessibility at road crossings through installation of new gates and improved signage and connectivity to amenities and 
other routes throughout. 
 

 

 

Weavers Way  

Description of stage 

Feasibility –  
Being delivered as one of the three 
‘Recycling the Railways’ focused 
studies. 

Stage 1 delivery – surface and 
signage 
 
 

Stage 2 delivery – associated 
industrial heritage buildings brought 
back into use as visitor facilities  

Estimated cost to deliver 
the stage 

£45,000 £1,062,343 c. £2,000,000 

Indicative timeframe to 
deliver stage and start 
date 

January 2019 March 2018-19 March 2023 

Potential funding source 
Norfolk County Council capital - 
secured 

RDPE – bid has gone in – 
awaiting decision 

HLF, LEP 

Qualifications for BRP 
and or Growth Deal 
funding 

Supports housing and jobs growth in both Broadland and North Norfolk District Councils through provision of 
housing related GI and mitigating the effects of housing growth on vulnerable environmental sites. Also 
increases the visitor offer supporting tourism related job growth. 

Tick system     

107



 
 

38 

 

The Green Loop 
 
A 46 mile circular route for walking / cycling and disabled use. Encompassing the Marriott’s Way, Bure Valley Path and 
Broadland Way. Broadland Way is partially built through the Broadland Northway and connects with the Broadland Growth 
Triangle. Marriott’s Way and Bure Valley Path exist and are used currently for walking and cycling but require upgrading in 
some areas to make them more accessible for disabled users particularly. Both routes are biodiversity corridors. Broadland 
Way has been part built by the Broadland Northway and will link to the east end of the Green Pedalway. The Green Loop 
will also connect to the DfT, Norfolk County Council and Broad’s Authority funded Three Rivers Way Cycle route and to 
Weaver’s Way.  

The Green Loop 

Description of stage Feasibility 
Phased delivery of Broadland Way and upgrades to 
Marriott’s Way and the Bure Valley Path 

Estimated cost to deliver 
the stage 

£15,000 £5.7m 

Indicative timeframe to 
deliver stage and start 
date 

Delivered May 2018 
Staged – various completion dates dependent on funding 
source 

Potential funding source Norfolk CC Capital funding S106, CIL, DfT, LEP 

Qualifications for BRP 
and or Growth Deal 
funding 

Supports housing growth in the NE Broadland Growth Triangle and the Western Broadland growth allocation 
areas. Provides mitigation for the impact of the additional houses on vulnerable environmental sites, 
particularly those located in the Broads Authority Area. Contributes to the local visitor related economy 
through providing a very attractive sporting facility. Contributes to the health and wellbeing of residents in the 
Greater Norwich Area.  

Tick system    

108



 
 

39 

 

 

 

Bacton Walcott Sandscaping 

This project involves a major investment that will secure Bacton Gas Terminal and the adjacent villages against the imminent 

threat of erosion. It will thus facilitate the future development and diversification of the Gas Site, which transfers approximately one 

third of the UK’s gas supply. Using pioneering techniques, the coast protection scheme will also ensure that the ‘down-drift’ 

frontages that are imminently at risk of failure are also protected. As well as safeguarding significant levels of investment it will help 

to provide new economic development opportunities in the local visitor economy. 
 
 
 

Bacton Walcott Sandscaping 
Description Assessment/ Preparation/ Flood and Coastal Procurement Development/ Public Construction Ongoing 

of the stage development of submission erosion Risk of project and agreement of communications of Scheme Monitoring 

 outfall design of Management Grant contract Operation, and liaison  and research 

 and applications In Aid Outline management Monitoring   opportunities 
 incorporation for licenses Business Case and main Plan and    

 into programme and preparation and works Monitoring    
  consents submissions contract Agreement    
Estimated Confidential Confidential £40,000 £75,000 £20,000 £25,000 £18M – 22M £500,000 tbc 

cost to information information     tbc  

deliver 

the stage 

(Bacton 
Terminal 
Operators) 

(Bacton 
Terminal 
Operators) 

      

Indicative 5 months 11 months 6 months 7 months 11 months Ongoing Spring 2019 Summer 2018 

timeframe to Nov 17 – Mar June 17 – Sept 17 – May 18 May 18 – Nov 17 –Sept   - ongoing 

deliver stage 19 June 18  November 18 18    
and start         

date         

Potential Funded via Funded via Funded Flood and Project cost Project cost Project cost Project cost tbc 

funding Bacton Bacton Coastal Erosion Risk funded funded funded through funded  

sources 
Terminal 
Operators 

Terminal 
Operators 

Management Grant 
in Aid 

through 
contributions 

through 
contributions 

contributions 
from a number of 

through 
contributions 

 

  and NNDC  from a from a sources from a  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 number of number of  number of  
    sources sources  sources  
Qualification    BRP and BRP and BRP and Growth BRP and  

109



 
 

40 

 

 
for BRP or 

Growth 

Fund (as 

appropriate) 

   Growth Fund 
approved 

Growth Fund 
approved 

Fund approved Growth Fund 
approved 

 

Tick system 
 
 

        

 
 
 
 

110



 
 

41 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57 of 63   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Education 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Sustainable

111



 
 

42 

 

Broadland Growth Triangle Secondary School  
 
Norfolk County Council has made a commitment for a new Secondary phase school in the Sprowston area and a preferred site has been identified 
on the current Park and Ride site. Planning towards feasibility of this new school is under way. Consideration may also be given to the possibility of 
an all-through 4-16 school model. 
 

 

Broadland Growth Triangle  Secondary School  

Description of stage 
Scoping & option assessment & 
design feasibility 

 

Planning 

 

Construction Phase 

 

Estimated cost to deliver 
the stage 

£100k £300k £26M 

Indicative timeframe to 
deliver stage and start 
date 

Present to March 2020 - Initial stage 
underway and has verified 
Sprowston P&R as preferred 
location. Locational considerations 
will however continue to be kept 
under review as part of ongoing 
scheme development. 

April 2022 to March 2023, 
subject to successful funding 
award and implementation of 
Housing Infrastructure Fund 
scheme for Beeston Park and 
development progress in 
Broadland Growth Triangle. 

April 2025 to March 2026, subject to 
successful funding award and 
implementation of Housing 
Infrastructure Fund scheme for 
Beeston Park and development 
progress in Broadland Growth 
Triangle. 

Potential funding source NCC, BRP NCC NCC, CIL 

Qualifications for BRP 
and or Growth Deal 
funding 

Required to support 13,500 planned 
homes in Broadland Growth 
Triangle. In principle agreement 
exists for BRP funding to support 
scheme development. 

Required to support 13,500 
planned homes in Broadland 
Growth Triangle. 

Required to support 13,500 planned 
homes in Broadland Growth 
Triangle. 

Tick system  
Completion of this stage will take it 
from  to  

Completion of this stage will 
take it to  

Delivery phase takes scheme 
beyond  

112



 
 

43 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13 of 63   

 

 

 

 

Infrastructure projects delivered  

by other organisations 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Key Infrastructure Projects 

113



 
 

44 

 

Figure 4 Infrastructure projects delivered by other organisations 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

114



 
 

45 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Roads 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

115



 
 

46 

 

A11 Thetford Bypass Junctions 
 
Evidence has shown that even without the proposed growth at Thetford, the junctions on the A11 
are forecast to operate over their theoretical capacity by 2026, with the Mundford Road (A134) 
junction experiencing the worst congestion. The issues are exacerbated by the proposed growth of 
Thetford. As a result, the five junctions on the A11 bypass around Thetford will need to be 
upgraded during the Plan period. A 
Masterplan for the urban extension has been developed and improvements will be made to an 
appropriate standard agreed with Highways England.  

It is likely that the agreed scope of work will comprise traffic signals on the roundabouts and speed 
limits on the A11. Because of the strategic function of the A11, which is the major trunk road 
connection between Norwich, Cambridge and London, the County Council considers that this is 
not an optimum solution and will continue to work with partners – principally Highways England – 
to bring forward measures that do not diminish the strategic status of the route. Ultimately, this 
might require grade-separation of the junctions. 
 
 

Infrastructure A11 Thetford Bypass Junctions 

Location Breckland 

Delivers 5,000 homes and 5,000 jobs 

Lead authority 
Highways England, Norfolk County Council, 

Landowners, Breckland District Council 

Estimated start date 2020-2025 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities 
NPIF, Highways England Roads Investment Strategy 

2 (2020-2025) 

Benefits Improves congestion 

Link to other 
information 

Thetford Area Action Plan - 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/ 

Documents-Library-Publications 

Status 

'Improvements, likely to be signalisation of the 

junctions will be phased with the delivery of the 

housing growth. None yet are programmed.  More 

extensive improvements, required to maintain the 

strategic function of the A11, would be delivered as 

part of a future Highways England programme, but 

is not yet committed. 

 
 

 
 
 

116

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/


 
 

47 

 

A47 Wisbech Bypass Junctions 
 
There are significant congestion issues on the A47 Wisbech bypass especially at the pinch point 
junctions of the B198 (east and west) and A1101 which are the responsibility of Highways 
England. Improvements to these junctions could be brought forward as part of Highways 
England’s trunk road programme post-2020 and /or development within the town. There are also 
safety concerns at Broadend Road which requires a new junction by developers to deliver housing 
in Wisbech. 
 
Junction improvements/Broad End Road scheme will be brought forward under the Growth Deal 
Funding from the CPCA Business Board for the Wisbech Access Strategy.  Short term to 2021 
£10.5m.  Medium Term scheme Elm High Road with CPCA funding to 2026. 
 
 

Infrastructure A47 Wisbech Bypass Junctions 

Location King’s Lynn and West Norfolk, Fenland 

Delivers 960 homes and 10,000sqm office space (up to  2026) 

Lead authority Developers/ Highways England 

Estimated start date 2020 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities NPIF, developer funding, Highways England Roads 

Investment Strategy 2 (2020-2025) 

Benefits New junctions on the A47 will overcome concerns 

regarding road safety at the junction and connect growth 

areas to the trunk road network. 

Link to other 
information 

N/A 

Status 

Fenland District Council has developed a Wisbech 

transport strategy, this identifies improvements to 

roundabouts on the A47 and they are now developing the 

schemes. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

117



 
 

48 

 

A47 Tilney to East Winch dualling 
 
The long term objective of the County Council and other partners is for complete     dualling of the 
A47 along the full length of the trunk road from the A1 at Peterborough to Lowestoft. However, it is 
recognised that this may need to be achieved through a phased approach to improvements. The 
A47 Alliance has agreed that the A47 Tilney to East Winch dualling along with the Acle Straight 
dualling above are two if its priorities for the period  2020-2025. 
A number of schemes are committed for construction on the A47 between 2020 and 2025. These 
are shown on page 12. 
 
 

Infrastructure A47 Tilney to East Winch dualling 

Location King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 

Delivers There are strategic site allocations in West Winch and North 

Runcton, adjacent to A47, which provide for 1,600 homes 

and 1ha employment land, while employment land is 

identified at Hardwick (27 ha) and Saddlebow  (23ha). 

Lead authority Highways England 

Estimated start date 2025 

Estimated cost £130m 

Unfunded cost £130m 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities Highways England Roads Investment Strategy 2 

(2020- 2025) 

Benefits Improves connectivity and reliability 

Link to other 
information 

A47  Alliance  - http://www.a47alliance.co.uk/our-work/ 

 Status 

Tilney to East Winch is a current priority of the A47 Alliance 

who are lobbying for the scheme to be in the Roads 

Investment Strategy 2. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

118

http://www.a47alliance.co.uk/our-work/


 
 

49 

 

A47 Acle Straight dualling 
 
As well Tilney to east Winch, dualling the Acle Straight is a priority for 2020-2025. Highways 
England is currently working with various stakeholders on a trial to relocate a species of snail from 
habitats in the dykes adjacent to the road. If the trials are successful it will enable road 
improvements to be brought forward (subject to funding) in the    trunk road programme 2020-
2025. Currently, it is not possible for improvements to be implemented due to their likely impacts 
on the snail species in the dykes. Early indications suggest the trial to be successful although it will 
need to continue to be monitored. 
 
 

Infrastructure A47 Acle Straight dualling 

Location Broadland, Great Yarmouth 

Delivers The Enterprise Zone covering large parts of Great   

Yarmouth and Lowestoft will help bring forward 9,000 direct 

and 4,500 indirect jobs across the area. Furthermore, 

approximately 14,000 new homes are planned across Great 

Yarmouth and Lowestoft. The plans for 37,000 new homes 

and the creation of 27,000 jobs in the Greater Norwich area 

will further increase demand along the A47 between Greater 

Norwich and between the Enterprise Zone. 

Lead authority Highways England 

Estimated start date 2025 

Estimated cost £79m 

Unfunded cost £79m 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities Highways England Roads Investment Strategy 2 

(2020- 2025) 

Benefits Improve accessibility between Norwich and Great 

Yarmouth and improve the safety record of the  road 

Link to other 
information 

A47  Alliance  - http://www.a47alliance.co.uk/our-work/ 

Status 

The Acle Straight is a current priority of the A47 Alliance 

who are lobbying for the scheme to be in the Roads 

Investment Strategy 2. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

119

http://www.a47alliance.co.uk/our-work/


 
 

50 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rail 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

120



 
 

51 

 

Norwich to London Rail (Norwich in 90) 
 
As part of the recent franchise agreement, services will be upgraded to every 20 minutes; there 
will be new rolling stock; and some services will have journey times of 90 minutes. In recognition 
of the strength of the study work and lobbying, government formed a Great Eastern Main Line 
Task Force to define how the ambition for a faster, more reliable, better quality service with more 
capacity could be delivered to serve the needs of Essex, Suffolk and Norfolk. The Norwich 
Stansted direct train is also due to commence from February 2019.  
 
Government accepted the key recommendations of the Task Force report. The government 
required the rail industry to make investments through franchise renewal but further investment is 
required to deliver the identified improvements in full. 
 
 

Infrastructure Norwich to London Rail (Norwich in 90) 

Location Norwich to London 

Delivers 48,000 jobs along the line. Improvements would lead to 

the creation of over a further 8,700 permanent jobs by 

2043. 

Lead authority Greater Anglia, Network Rail, NALEP, Local Authorities 

Estimated start date 2019- 2024 

Estimated cost Being evaluated 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities Network Rail Control Period 6 

Benefits Track improvements (Trowse swingbridge, haughley 

Junction, loops in Essex and level crossing upgrades) 

between Norwich and London, achieving London to 

Chelmsford in 25 minutes, Colchester in 40 minutes, 

Ipswich in 60 minutes and Norwich in 90 minutes. 

Link to other 
information 

New Anglia Great Eastern Rail Campaign - 

http://www.newanglia.co.uk/gerailcampaign/ 

Status 

The Great Eastern Mainline Task Force has commenced 

work on re-evalutaing the business case, which will confirm 

the measures needed, the cost of the measures and the 

benefits from their implementation.' 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

121

http://www.newanglia.co.uk/gerailcampaign/


 
 

52 

 

Great Yarmouth Rail Station 
 
Existing services are operated by Greater Anglia as part of the East Anglia franchise. Currently 
services operate every hour, with 30 minutes services to Great Yarmouth at peak times. The new 
East Anglia franchise started in October 2016. New rolling stock will be delivered across the whole 
of the franchise between 2018 and 2020. This should help to address quality issues with the rolling 
stock, but a major upgrade is required at   Great Yarmouth rail station to improve this gateway to 
the town. Work will shortly be undertaken by the local authorities to improve the Great Yarmouth 
Rail Station forecourt and onward links to the town centre using Growth Deal money and there has 
been a long standing ambition for improvements to the Rail Station itself. 
 

Infrastructure Great Yarmouth Rail Station 

Location Great Yarmouth 

Delivers Improvements to Great Yarmouth Rail  Station 

Lead authority Greater Anglia 

Estimated start date 2019- 2024 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities Network Rail Control Period 6 

Benefits Facilitate local plan jobs growth and encourage inward 

investment into the energy coast. 

Link to other 
information 

N/A 

Status 
Potential for inclusion in Network Rail spending 

programme 2019-2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

122



 
 

53 

 

Ely Area Enhancements 
 
A large number of rail services pass through Ely: King’s Lynn to Cambridge; Norwich to 
Cambridge; Norwich to Peterborough; Ipswich to Peterborough; and freight services   from 
Felixstowe. Major rail infrastructure improvements are required to accommodate all services 
committed within franchise agreements and for further frequency improvements in the future. 
Local authorities are working with local enterprise partnerships, government and Network Rail to 
bring forward the improvements for delivery in the next round of rail spending, between 2019 and 
2024, known as Control Period 6. The New Anglia LEP, GCGP LEP and Strategic Freight Network 
have invested £8.8m into feasibility work to help bring forward rail improvements in the Ely area, 
with the feasibility report expected in 2019. 
 
 

Infrastructure Ely Area Enhancements 

Location East  Cambridgeshire 

Delivers £120m wider economic benefits, and 1,000 homes and 

1,000 jobs. 

Lead authority Network Rail 

Estimated start date Around 2020 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities Network Rail Control Period 6, Growth Deal 

Benefits Supports better connectivity on the Cambridge Norwich 

corridor. 

Link to other 
information 

New Anglia website - 

http://www.newanglia.co.uk/2017/03/24/ 

vital-ely-rail-project-track/ 

Status 

Currently Network Rail are undertaking £8.8m of feasibility 

and design work which will be published in 2019 for 

inclusion in National Rail spending programme 2019/24. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

123

http://www.newanglia.co.uk/2017/03/24/


 
 

54 

 

East West Rail (Cambridge to Oxford) 
 
The complete East West Rail scheme comprises a strategic rail route that will link Ipswich and 
Norwich to Cambridge, Bedford, Milton Keynes, Bicester and Oxford, allowing connections to 
Swindon, the Thames Valley, South West England and South Wales,   together with a spur to 
Aylesbury. The route will connect the ports of Felixstowe and Harwich with the Great Eastern, East 
Coast, Midland, West Coast and Great Western main lines without the need to travel on 
congested tracks around North London. It also provides an extra route for north-south intermodal 

traffic from the port of Southampton. 
The route links the strategic growth areas in Norfolk to Milton Keynes, Aylesbury and Bedford, as 
well as Oxford, and provides a connection across the important Oxford to Cambridge “high tech 
arc”. East West Rail is supported by Norfolk County Council. 
 
 

Infrastructure East West Rail (Cambridge to Oxford) 

Location Cambridge to Oxford 

Delivers Establishes a railway connecting East Anglia with central, 

southern and western England. 

Lead authority Local authorities along the route working with DfT and 

Network Rail 

Estimated start date Late 2020s 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities Government via special purpose delivery vehicle 

Benefits Connects Oxford and Cambridge to major economies 

in New Anglia. 

Link to other 
information 

East West  Rail  - www.eastwestrail.org.uk/route 

Status 

Major upgrades led to services starting on phase 1 of 

the western section, between Oxford and Bicester, in 

December 2016. Services are due to start operating in the 

early 2020s to connect through to Bedford and Milton 

Keynes. Network Rail is currently looking at routes through 

to Cambridge on new track. Construction could start in 

the early 2020s with opening in the early 2030s. Work is 

ongoing to identify how services might extend to Norwich 

and Ipswich (on existing tracks). 

 
 
 
 

124

http://www.eastwestrail.org.uk/route


 
 

55 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46 of 63   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Utilities 

125



 
 

56 

 

Thetford Water Supply 

A major 5,000 unit housing development (Thetford SUE) commenced on site in spring 2018 
with the first 343 units now in contract.  This first phase will use all remaining water capacity in 
Thetford. Anglian Water has provided a strategy for upgrading their potable water network to 
serve the housing development, a large employment area on the SUE and an adjacent large 
employment area known as the Thetford Enterprise Park. This includes a proposed 4.75km 
rising main from Barnham Cross/Nunnery Lodge to increase capacity at the Mundford Road 
Reservoir with a new rising main from the reservoir to serve each development. The two 
employment sites have a joint capacity for circa. 140,000sq m of B1, B2 and B8 development 
and potential to create 3,600 jobs. 

 

Infrastructure Thetford Water Supply 

Location Breckland 

Delivers 5,000 homes and 3,600 jobs in Thetford 

Lead Authority Anglian Water, Breckland District Council, developers/ 

landowners 

Estimated Start Date 2018 

Estimated Cost £9.8m 

Unfunded Cost TBC 

CIL Contribution No 

Funding Opportunities HCA, Growth Deal, Private Sector 

Benefits Supports the delivery of 5,000 homes and jobs 

Link to other 
information 

Thetford Area Action Plan adopted (2012) - 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/ 

Documents-Library-Publications 

Status Baseline requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

126

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/


 
 

57 

 

Thetford Sewerage Scheme 

A major 5,000 unit housing development (Thetford SUE) commenced on site in spring 2018 
with the first 343 units now in contract.  This first phase will use remaining sewage capacity in 

Thetford. An outlet with sufficient spare capacity has been identified to the north west of 
Thetford and an outline scheme design has been produced. The project would serve the 
sewage disposal requirements of the Thetford SUE, several large employment areas on the 
Thetford SUE and an adjacent large employment area known as the Thetford Enterprise 
Park. 

 

Infrastructure Thetford Sewerage Scheme 

Location Breckland 

Delivers 5,000 homes and 3,600 jobs in Thetford 

Lead Authority Anglian Water, Breckland District Council, developers/ 

landowners 

Estimated Start Date 2019 

Estimated Cost £2m 

Unfunded Cost TBC 

CIL Contribution No 

Funding Opportunities Growth Deal, Private Sector 

Benefits Supports the delivery of 5,000 homes and jobs 

Link to other 
information 

Thetford Area Action Plan adopted (2012) - 

https://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/ 

Documents-Library-Publications 

Status Baseline requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

127

http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/
http://www.breckland.gov.uk/article/4313/


 
 

58 

 

Broadland Growth Triangle and North Norwich Substations 

This area is presently fed via four existing substations (Sprowston, George Hill, Horsford and 
Boundary park), which are all meeting capacity. When this capacity is exhausted, it is intended 
to establish a new substation near the airport. Overloading in the central area of Norwich has 
increased which has brought both the Thorpe grid and Trowse grid close to capacity. The 
Thorpe grid will need to be enhanced before any new substation could be established. 

 

Infrastructure Hurricane Way 

Substation 

Airport North 

Substation 

Sprowston 

and 

Rackheath 

Substation Location Norwich Broadland Broadland 

Delivers Airport business 

park extension 

A possible 10,000 

homes and 

Broadland Business 

Park 

A possible 

10,000 homes 

Lead Authority UK Power Networks UK Power Networks UK Power Networks 

Estimated 

start date 

TBC TBC TBC 

Delivery Short term Medium term Long term 

Estimated cost TBC TBC TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC TBC TBC 

CIL contribution Yes Yes Yes 

Funding 

opportunities 

CIL, private sector CIL, private sector CIL, private sector 

Benefits Support the delivery of 10,000 homes and job development at 

airport and Rackheath 

Link to other 

information 

GNDP Local Investment Plan and Programme - 

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/greater- 

norwich-infrastructure-plan/ 

Status Baseline requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

128

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/greater-


 
 

59 

 

Earlham Substation 

The condition of the Hapton substation has shown the probability of failure due to degradation will 
become unacceptable, therefore it is recommended that it is   replaced. 

 

Infrastructure Earlham Substation 

Location South Norfolk 

Delivers 900 homes at Easton and jobs at NRP and Food Hub 

Lead authority Greater Norwich 

Estimated start date TBC 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution Possibly 

Funding opportunities CIL, private sector 

Benefits Critical for growth of NRP and will support the delivery of 

growth in to the SW Norwich – 900 homes at Easton and 

Food Hub 

Link to other 
information 

N/A 

Status Baseline requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

129



 
 

60 

 

Easton, Hethersett and Cringleford Sewerage Upgrade 

Existing sewerage infrastructure serving Easton/Costessey is at full capacity and new 
infrastructure will be required. The Greater Norwich Development Partnership Stage 2b Water 
Cycle Study identified the need for growth to be served by upgrades to the existing Yare Valley 
Trunk Sewer discharging to the Trowse Pumping Station and then on to the Whitlingham WRC 

which has sufficient spare  capacity. 
 

Infrastructure Easton, Hethersett and Cringleford Sewerage 
Upgrade 

Location South Norfolk 

Delivers 3,200 homes 

Lead authority Anglian Water 

Estimated start date 2011-2016 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution Possibly 

Funding opportunities Private sector 

Benefits Supports the delivery of 3,200 homes to the southwest of 

Norwich 

Link to other 
information 

GNDP Local Investment Plan and Programme - 

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/ 

greater-norwich-infrastructure-plan/ 

Status Baseline requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

130

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/


 
 

61 

 

Broadland Growth Triangle Trunk Sewer 

There is no significant capacity constraint from the existing works at Whitlingham or Belaugh, 
but there is in the existing sewerage network. An existing trunk main connecting from 
Sprowston to Whitlingham has a limited amount of capacity. After capacity within this main is 
used, new infrastructure would be required to give a connection of adequate capacity to the 
Whitlingham Water Recycling Centre (WRC). 

 

Infrastructure Northeast Norwich Trunk Sewer 

Location Broadland 

Delivers A possible 10,000 homes 

Lead authority Anglian Water 

Estimated start date 2011-2026 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution Yes 

Funding opportunities Private sector, CIL 

Benefits Supports the delivery of 10,000 homes to the northeast of 

Norwich 

Link to other 
information 

GNDP Local Investment Plan and Programme - 

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/ 

greater-norwich-infrastructure-plan/ 

Status Baseline requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

131

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/


 
 

62 

 

Heigham Water Works 
 
Anglian Water investment programme identified upgrades to Heigham Water Treatment works in 
Norwich to protect the environment along the River Wensum, and secure supplies for the growing 
city of Norwich. 
 
 

Infrastructure Heigham Water Works 

Location Norwich 

Delivers Water supply for growth in the Norwich area 

Lead authority Greater Norwich 

Estimated start date TBC 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution Possibly 

Funding opportunities Private Sector 

Benefits Will secure the water supply for future housing and 

population growth in the Norwich area 

Link to other 
information 

GNDP Local Investment Plan and Programme - 

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/ 

greater-norwich-infrastructure-plan/ 

Status Baseline requirement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

132

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/


 
 

63 

 

Wymondham Water Supply Connections 
 
Water resource is available in principal for the 4,400 homes planned for Wymondham. However, 
network improvements will be required before connection can take place. 
 
 

Infrastructure Wymondham Water Supply Connections 

Location South Norfolk 

Delivers 4,400 homes 

Lead authority Anglian Water 

Estimated start date TBC 

Estimated cost £22m 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution Yes 

Funding opportunities Private sector 

Benefits Supports the delivery of 4,400  homes 

Link to other 
information 

GNDP Local Investment Plan and Programme - 

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/ 

greater-norwich-infrastructure-plan/ 

Status Baseline requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

133

http://www.greaternorwichgrowth.org.uk/delivery/


 
 

64 

 

King’s Lynn Sewerage Improvements 
 
To help facilitate growth in King’s Lynn, sewerage improvements may be required. 
 
 

Infrastructure Upgraded waste water 

flow capacity in 

King’s Lynn 

Major sewerage 

improvements at 

King’s Lynn 

Location King’s Lynn and 

West Norfolk 

King’s Lynn and 

West Norfolk 

Delivers Housing growth in King’s Lynn 

Lead authority Anglian Water Anglian Water 

Estimated start date TBC TBC 

Estimated cost Circa £500,000 £1-1.2m 

Unfunded cost Circa £500,000 £1-1.2m 

CIL contribution Possibly Possibly 

Funding opportunities CIL, private sector 

Benefits To help facilitate growth in King’s Lynn, 

sewerage improvements may be required 

Link to other 
information 

N/A N/A 

Status Baseline requirement Baseline requirement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

134



 
 

65 

 

Increased Surface Water Capacity North Lynn 
 
In addition, increased surface water capacity is required in North Lynn (through the North Lynn link 
scheme linking the Black Drain with the Bawsey Drain and providing a second pump at North Lynn 
Pumping Station) to enable the development of the strategic housing allocation at South Wootton 
and other housing land in North Lynn. 
 
 

Infrastructure Increased Surface Water Capacity North Lynn 

Location King’s Lynn and West Norfolk 

Delivers Up to 800 homes at South Wootton and some 700 homes 

in North Lynn 

Lead authority King’s Lynn IDB 

Estimated start date 2020-21 

Estimated cost TBC 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution Possibly 

Funding opportunities IDB, private sector 

Benefits Enables housing development in South Wootton/ 

North Lynn 

Link to other information N/A 

Status Commissioning of feasibility work has begun.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

135



 
 

66 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 57 of 63   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Sustainable 

136



 
 

67 

 

Great Yarmouth Flood Defences 2017 onwards (Epoch 2) 
 
There are approximately 12km of flood defences in Great Yarmouth that help reduce the risk of 
tidal flooding to over 5000 homes and 1000 businesses from the River Yare. However, the steel 
piled quays supporting our flood defence walls are badly corroded and need replacing. Failure of 
these defences during a surge tide event would result in rapid flooding of properties in the lower 
lying land adjoining the river. We have developed a 5 epoch project over the next 40 years to 
address this issue, prioritised based on the condition of the defences. 
 
 

Infrastructure Great Yarmouth Flood Defences 2017 

onwards (Epoch 2) 

Location Great Yarmouth 

Delivers The Environment Agency is currently developing Epoch 

2 to improve 2.4km of frontage and external contributions 

are required to secure funding approval. Instead of 

replacing the steel sheet pile quayside walls some of the 

assets planned for the Epoch 2 work have been identified 

to be in better condition. As a result we have trialled the 

rejuvenation of the sheet piling of Wall 36 using a Limpet 

Dam to enable patching of the corroded pile sections 

and installation of cathodic protection to stop future 

accelerated low water corrosion. It is anticipated that 

adopting this approach will allow a further 50 years of life 

to be gained from the assets for an estimated 30% of the 

cost of replacement.  

Lead authority Environment Agency 

Estimated start date TBC 

Estimated cost TBC £27-76m 

Unfunded cost TBC 

CIL contribution No 

Funding opportunities NALEP, local authorities, private sector 

Benefits Land enabled for economic growth and appropriate 

resilient development, in line with local development 

strategies and supporting policies. 

Link to other 
information 

Environment Agency announcement - 

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/thousands-of- 

properties-protected-in-first-phase-of-flood-

defence- scheme 

Status The EA have begun the options appraisal to confirm the 

other flood risk management improvement works to be 

delivered during Epoch 2. 

 
 

137

http://www.gov.uk/government/news/thousands-of-
http://www.gov.uk/government/news/thousands-of-
http://www.gov.uk/government/news/thousands-of-


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Phillip Cowen, Executive Member Finance and Delivery 

To: Cabinet, 27 November 2019
Overview & Scrutiny, 13 December 2018

Author: Christine Marshall, Executive Director Commercialisation

Subject: Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 

Purpose: To consider the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the medium 
term financial plan and the capital strategy.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft medium term financial plan and 
the draft capital strategy are reviewed, in preparation for the final budget setting in 2019.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The appendices to this report outline the draft 2019-20 revenue and capital estimates for 
the General Fund, the proposals for setting of discretionary fees and charges, the outline 
position through to 2022-23, the medium term financial plan and the capital strategy.  The 
medium term financial plan sets out the framework within which the budget is to be set to 
ensure that it enables the Council to achieve its own corporate objectives.  The capital 
strategy sets out the framework for capital budget setting which also supports the 
Council’s corporate objectives.

1.2 This draft budget accommodates the latest known position at the time of writing the report, 
however there remain estimates where final figures are not yet known, such as the 
Government Settlement (expected around 6 December 2018).

1.3 This draft budget is presented to Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny for consideration.  In 
addition the budget will be available on the website for customers to view and provide 
feedback from 1 December 2018 to 1 January 2019.  The final budget will be presented to 
Cabinet and Full Council in February 2019, incorporating final information such as the 
Government Settlement, along with the formal Council Tax setting report.

Funding
1.4 2019-20 is the final year of the Government’s four year Settlement.  There are 

unprecedented levels of change planned for 2020-21 onwards and at this stage there is 
too little information to enable accurate forecasts in this budget.

1.5 75% retained NNDR
Currently it is expected that the new scheme will include the existing Business Rates 
retention baseline income plus Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) and any remaining 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) plus the Section 31 grants currently received (which 
compensate for national NNDR discounts such as Small Business Rates Relief).  It is not 
yet known how the additional 25% retention will be distributed between Counties, Districts 
and Fire, nor is it known how much of the NNDR growth Authorities may retain.  The 
levels of RSDG, RSG and baseline are also not yet known as these link to the Fair 
Funding Review.  Therefore assumed income levels in this budget include the Business 

138

Agenda Item 12



Rates retention baseline income plus Rural Services Delivery Grant plus Section 31 
grants plus 50% growth retained and no additional income from the 25% share.

1.6 Fair Funding Review (FFR)
This review will set new baseline funding allocations for all Local Authorities and aims to 
simplify the existing system and provide an up to date assessment of Authorities relative 
needs and resources.  Early consultations have taken place by MHCLG, but there is 
insufficient information to make informed estimates to date.  It is likely that any changes 
would be transitioned to manage the impact, so there would not be major impacts on 
Authorities (positive or negative) immediately.
This budget assumes no financial changes from this review, but as the budget currently 
has no reliance on RSG or NHB, the Council is very well placed to respond to funding 
reductions if they occur.  

1.7 Spending Review (SR)
There are no details on what the outcome of this Spending Review may be, however as 
the budget currently has no reliance on RSG or NHB, the Council is very well placed to 
respond to funding reductions if they occur.

1.8 New Homes Bonus (NHB)
It is possible that the NHB baseline of 0.4% may increase this year, but no indications by 
how much.  This baseline is the level of growth in homes before the Council receives any 
NHB reward.  It is also likely that the NHB will not exist in its current form after 19-20 but 
could be refreshed into an alternative reward funding stream.  This budget assumes a 
0.5% baseline and assumes reward income from 19-20 only, followed by the reducing 
legacy payments for the following 3 years.  All the remaining NHB income is contributed 
into the Communities reserve in this budget.

Revenue
1.9 The budget approved by Full Council in February 2018 provided a robust budget over the 

medium term, supported by the Transformation programme.  Since this time additional 
cost pressures and approved growth have been identified, along with additional income 
and service budgets have been refreshed to produce this draft budget.  
This draft budget provides the following:

 Continued non reliance on Revenue Support Grant (RSG).
 No reliance on New Homes Bonus (NHB) funding which will be contributed into the 

Communities reserve.
 No cuts to service delivery.
 A balanced budget over the medium term using ‘mid point’ assumptions for major 

funding sources (i.e. NNDR).
 Financial support in reserves for feasibilities which lead to growth and investment 

(Invest Breckland) (subject to release in line with the constitution).
 A strong financial position to manage any future changes from the Fair Funding 

Review or Spending Review, allowing time to put an appropriate program in place 
if this is required.

Staffing
The Medium Term Plan at Appendix A provides a breakdown of the 2019-20 budget 
compared to the current year’s budget.  The gross costs of staffing have increased in this 
table above the value you would usually expect to see here, however these additional 
costs are mostly offset by either additional income or from reserve funding (for fixed term 
roles).  

139



True cost increases which impact the Council Tax include the effect of the 2% pay 
increase and incremental salary increases for staff, plus the costs of the pension deficit as 
determined by the Norfolk Pension Fund each year and other small changes such as 
standby payments for on-call staff (approved via Full Council).  

Cost increases which are offset by income relate mainly to ARP staff who may be 
employed directly by Breckland Council but are working across all 7 partners within ARP 
and costs are met in full through either Government grants or income/contributions from 
other Councils.  

Temporary staff numbers have increased (i.e. in housing) as a result of Government grant 
funding which allows us to temporarily increase the staffing in that area through targeted 
Government funding.

1.10 At this stage of the budget there are still some un-knowns which should be confirmed in 
the Government Settlement, expected around 6 December 2018:

 New Homes Bonus baseline.
 Referendum limits for Council Tax are not yet known and this budget assumes a 

£4.95 rise to a Band D council tax in all years (as proposed in last year’s budget).
 Norfolk has submitted a bid for a 75% Business Rates Pilot but the outcome is not 

known and therefore nothing is included in this budget.

1.11 Despite the unprecedented challenges of reduced funding and economic uncertainty, the 
Council remains in a secure financial position across the medium term with no 
dependency on reserves.  Key to the success of this balanced budget is the continued 
delivery of the Transformation programme outcomes.

Details of the Medium Term Financial Plan are shown in Appendix A, with summary 
finance shown in Appendix B.

Capital
1.12 The draft capital programme for 2019-20 to 2022-23 is:

19-20 to 22-23
Forecast Spend £28,745k
Forecast Receipts (£2,547k)
Forecast Funding (£18,278k)
Net Spend £7,920k
Forecast Capital Funding Available (£2,849k)
Shortfall in Funding £5,071k

1.13 This shows a borrowing requirement of just over £5 million, however, within this 
programme are two projects which are repaid through revenue over the course of time – 
waste contract vehicles and equipment £5m over 8 years and the Dereham Health Hub 
£1.6m over 8 years.  If we take into account the repayment through revenue for these 
items the borrowing requirement would by £121k.  Currently the budget makes no 
allowance for borrowing costs as we may be able to borrow from internal balances, 
however this will be re-visited in next years budgets when there is more certainty.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the draft capital and revenue budget estimates, the draft medium term financial plan 
and the draft capital strategy are reviewed.

140



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To comply with budgetary and policy framework and allow consultation with Members.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To set an affordable and balanced budget for 19-20 which delivers on the Council's 
priorities. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; 
Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or more 
of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities
5.1.1 The budget supports the Council’s priorities and the final budget will be considered 

alongside the Corporate Plan in February 2019.

5.2 Financial 
5.2.1 The report is of a financial nature and financial implications are covered within the report.

5.3 Risk Management 
5.3.1 Risk has been considered and is included within the appendices.

5.4 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales
5.4.1 Consultation has been undertaken with the service managers and Directors for every 

budget and public consultation will be included in the final budget.

5.5       Transformation Programme
5.5.1 The budget and transformation programme are intrinsically linked and information on the 

Moving Forward programme is included as necessary within the report and appendices.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
7.2 NNDR – National Non-Domestic Rates

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide for guidance on how to complete 
this section

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Alison Chubbock, Chief Accountant
Telephone Number: 01362 656865
Email: alison.chubbock@breckland.gov.uk

141

../../../../../Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
../../../../../Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to Mandatory and Discretionary Services

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Budget estimates and medium term financial plan
Appendix B General Fund summary
Appendix C Tax base
Appendix D & D2 Fees and charges
Appendix E Reserves
Appendix F Sensitivities
Appendix G Capital Strategy
Appendix H Capital Programme

142



Appendix A 
 

Budget Setting Report and Financial Medium Term Plan 2019-20 
 
This appendix is the combined budget estimates and medium term plan 2019-23.  
The medium term plan is the link between the Corporate Plan, which sets out the 
aims and ambitions agreed with our partners, and the medium term financial plan 
which sets out the cost of what the Council is currently providing.  The plan also 
establishes a set of financial policies and principles which provide a sound basis for 
maintaining the financial integrity of the Council over the medium term. 
 
1. Budget Summary 
The following table shows the headline figures relating to the budget estimates for 
2019-20 compared to the 2018-19 position: 
 

 
Description 

 
2018-19 

 
2019-20 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

Breckland precept requirement £3,590,567 £3,851,234 7.26% 

Council Tax Band D £83.88 £88.83 5.90% 

Revenue Support Grant £1,070,950 £646,265 (39.65%) 

Contrib’n to growth & investment fund £1,248,224 £1,168,372 (6.39%) 

Retained NNDR (incl S31 grants) £5,301,721 £5,109,957 (0.04%) 

Retained NNDR – Renewable £1,740,344 £2,443,477 40.40% 

Other non-ring fenced grants £379,118 £379,118 - 

New Homes Bonus (NHB) £2,395,582 £2,106,418 (12.07%) 

New Homes Bonus to Growth Fund £411,070 £32,847 (92.00%) 

NHB to Community Reserve £1,785,946 £1,479,766 (17.14%) 

Special expenses account £76,466 £79,502 3.97% 

 
Of all the homes in the Breckland area, 76% are in bands A-C and 54% are in band 
A or B.  Therefore the majority of homes pay less than £1.52 a week towards the 
District services we provide. 
 
The following chart shows the average Band D Council Tax levels (excluding parish 
precepts) for all Norfolk district and borough authorities in 2018-19. 
 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

83.88 

121.14 121.37 

143.82 145.00 

156.48 

143



The following table details the Band D Council Tax levels for all precepting authorities 
over the last seven years: 

  
Norfolk 
County 
Council 

£ 

 
Norfolk 
Police 

Authority 
£ 

Breckland 
(Excl 

special 
expenses) 

£ 

 
 
 

Parish 
£ 

 
 
 

Total 
£ 

 
 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

% 

2013-14 1,145.07 200.79 69.03 69.91 1,484.80 1.4 

2014-15 1,145.07 204.75 69.03 76.32 1,495.17 0.7 

2015-16 1,145.07 208.80 69.03 76.99 1,499.89 0.3 

2016-17 1,190.79 212.94 73.98 81.09 1,558.80 3.9 

2017-18 1,247.94 217.17 78.93 85.46 1,629.50 4.5 

2018-19 1,322.73 229.14 83.88 90.13 1,725.88 5.9 

2019-20 Tbc Tbc 88.83 Tbc Tbc tbc 

 
The budget report provides for a council tax rise of £4.95 for 2019-20 and for the 
remainder of the medium term. Future levels will be considered each year as the 
Budget and Medium Term Plan are updated.  
 
The council maximises its sources of funding to help keep the council tax at a low 
level.  The chart below details the income sources for 2019-20.  
 

 
 
 
2. 2019-20 Estimates 
The table below shows the budget estimates for 2018-19 and 2019-20 by type of 
expenditure/income split over the standard CIPFA classifications.  Notes explaining 
the major variances between the two years are given below the table. 
Full details of the overall position are shown at appendix B. 
 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000 7,553  

4,663  

3,851  
3,435  

2,666  2,658  
2,334  

1,685  

594  582  
386  379  

£
'0

0
0

 

144



  2018-19 
£ 

2019-20 
£ 

Variance 
£ 

Variance 
% 

1 Staffing Costs (BC & 3rd Party) 10,459,087 12,112,591 1,653,504 15.81 

2 Premises 2,283,317 2,389,822 106,505 4.66 

3 Transport 367,455 425,268 57,813 15.73 

4 Supplies & Services 13,636,925 14,120,001 483,076 3.54 

 Drainage board levies 80,700 81,989 1,289 1.60 

5 Transfer Payments 28,679,677 27,941,753 (737,924) (2.57) 

6 Support services 4,570,837 5,086,543 515,706 11.28 

7 Capital charges 3,478,877 3,219,080 (259,797) (7.47) 

8 Capital financing (2,847,399) (3,144,839) (297,440) 10.45 

 Total Expenditure 60,709,476 62,232,208 1,522,732 2.51 

      

9 Rents/service charges (3,281,284) (3,434,708) (153,424) (4.68) 

10 Fees and charges (5,150,970) (4,662,565) 488,405 9.48 

11 Grants (29,592,474) (29,076,348) 516,126 1.74 

12 Other (6,613,255) (7,992,288) (1,379,033) (20.85) 

 Total Income (44,637,983) (45,165,909) (527,926) (1.18) 

      

 Transformation (43,828) (144,753) (100,925) 230.28 

 Less trading units (4,403,017) (4,964,011) (560,994) (12.74) 

 Budget Requirement 11,624,648 11,957,535   

 
Notes: 
1 – The increase in employee costs is due to: increases in pension costs resulting 
from the last triennial review, additional ARP employed staff whose costs are fully 
offset by income (these staff have been employed on a temporary basis previously 
and may have been employed by another partner authority), reserve funded or fixed 
term roles (i.e. Housing, Commercial Property, Programme Delivery) and an annual 
inflationary uplift for salaries plus incremental increases for staff.. 
2 – The increase is a result of additional rates costs for car parks, contract inflation 
for grounds maintenance and increase in landlord responsibility costs for our own 
buildings. 
3 – Increases relate to increased travel allowance costs for shared staff. 
4 – Annual inflationary increases for contracts (Leisure, Planning and Waste) are 
included in these values plus other costs which are offset by additional income or 
reserves such as; election costs, bulky waste, BTS and EPC certificates. 
5 – Transfer Payment costs are Housing Benefit payments and these have reduced 
as claimant levels have reduced.  The reduction is offset by reduced grant income.   
6 – Increased support service costs as a result of additional capital charges within 
ICT due to recent investment in the service and Broadband contribution (this is 
reversed out through capital financing). 
7 – This variance relates to changes in the capital programme compared to last year, 
these figures are fully reversed within the capital financing (see note 8). 
8 – Capital Financing costs reflect the appropriations to and from reserves and the 
reversal of the capital charges figures and accounting entries.  These are items such 
as depreciation which is not a real charge to the Council Tax payer.  The change in 
2019-20 reflects the changes in capital charges (see note 7), revenue contributions 
to capital and also funding from reserves for one off costs. 
9 – Additional rental income is forecast which partly offsets the Commercial Property 
transformation target. 
10 – Income relating to the ARP Enforcement service which relates to the other 6 
partners is now shown under other income through changes to the way we budget 
(see note 12). 

145



11 – Reduced grant income resulting from lower Housing Benefit claims (see note 5). 
12 – Increases relate to additional recharge income receivable by ARP which offsets 
staff costs and ARP Enforcement income previously included in fees and charges 
(see note 10). 
 
A significant proportion of the Councils costs are for staffing related costs, the table 
below details the permanent and temporary establishment Full Time Equivalents 
(FTEs) which are included in the budgeted costs (excluding agency staff). 
 

  18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 

Breckland Permanent 270.47  267.30  267.30  267.30  

SHDC recharge permanent (14.30)  (14.15)  (14.15)  (14.15)  

Breckland Temporary 9.00  15.00  10.00  0.00  

SHDC recharge temporary (1.70)  (2.40)  (1.00)  0.00  

Total Breckland FTE 263.47  265.75  262.15  253.15  

 
The increase in temporary staff in 19-20 relates to the graduate roles and the 
housing roles (funded by government grant).  
 
3. Funding Assumptions 
2019-20 is the final year of the 4 year local government settlement offer and the 
Government has clearly signalled that the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) will end.  
There are unprecedented levels of change planned for 2020-21 onwards, with little 
information to date in order to aid estimates.  Changes to schemes in respect of 
business rates and the localised council tax reduction scheme (LCTRS) have brought 
a greater degree of risk and variability to the Council’s funding.  Our budgets have 
removed reliance on RSG and New Homes Bonus over the medium term, which 
means the Council is well placed to respond to funding changes after 2019-20.  This 
budget continues planned contributions to the investment and growth fund, the 
budgeted values are shown in the table over the page. 
 
The rural services delivery grant (RSDG) was previously included within the revenue 
support grant, however the government separated this grant out from 2016-17, 
recognising the additional pressures rural authorities face.  Whilst it is likely that the 
RSDG will not continue in its current form after 2019-20, it should be rolled into the 
retained business rates scheme, therefore this budget assumes a continuance of the 
value of RSDG, but is included within retained business rates. 
 
Under the retained business rates scheme 50% of business rates income is retained 
by district and county councils through a system of top-ups and tariffs.  The 
remaining business rates income is centralised by government and distributed back 
to local authorities through the formula grant process, thus allowing the government 
to retain a proportion of business rates centrally to meet public expenditure targets.  
Whilst the headline figures of this scheme quote a 40% share of business rates 
income retained by district councils, in reality this is not the case.  The tariff system 
reduces the business rates income retained by Breckland to a “baseline funding” 
figure calculated by government which is actually around 13% of the overall business 
rates income collected by the Council.  Any growth over and above the business 
rates income that Government has assumed for the year is shared between central 
and local government, with our local share equating to 20% of the total growth. 
 
The retained business rates forecasts are based on forecast amounts collectable 
following the 2017 revaluation process, which are then adjusted for local knowledge 

146



(i.e. appeals, charitable relief, etc) and uplifted by an inflationary increase to allow for 
the increase in business rates multiplier each year.  The level of appeals for future 
years has been set based on the expected reduction resulting from the new Check-
Challenge-Appeal process, but this is open to risk of increase/decrease in all years.   
 
From 2019-20 the retained business rates scheme will become a 75% retained 
scheme.  Currently it is expected that the new scheme will include the existing 
Business Rates retention baseline income plus Rural Services Delivery Grant 
(RSDG) and any remaining Revenue Support Grant (RSG) plus the Section 31 
grants currently received (which compensate for national NNDR discounts such as 
Small Business Rates Relief).  It is not yet known how the additional 25% retention 
will be distributed between Counties, Districts and Fire, nor is it known how much of 
the NNDR growth Authorities may retain.  Alongside this MHCLG will be carrying out 
a Fair Funding Review to update the current ‘needs’ formula for local authorities , 
therefore the levels of RSDG, RSG and baseline are not yet known as these will link 
to the Fair Funding Review.  Therefore assumed NNDR income levels in this budget 
include the Business Rates retention baseline income plus Rural Services Delivery 
Grant plus Section 31 grants plus 50% growth retained and no additional income 
from the 25% share. 
  
The Government is carrying out a Fair Funding Review (FFR) which will set new 
baseline funding allocations for all Local Authorities and aims to simplify the existing 
system and provide an up to date assessment of Authorities relative needs and 
resources.  This means that retained NNDR will be redistributed according to the 
outcomes of a new ‘needs’ formula.  Early consultations have taken place by 
MHCLG, but there is insufficient information to make informed estimates to date.  It is 
expected that any changes will be transitioned over 3 to 5 years, so there will not be 
major impacts on Authorities (positive or negative) immediately. 
 
There are no details on what the outcome of the Spending Review may be, however 
as the budget currently has no reliance on RSG or NHB, the Council is very well 
placed to respond to funding reductions if they occur. 
 
There is little information at this stage on the outcomes of the Fair Funding Review or 
the Spending Review, which means the budgets from 2020-21 onwards are based on 
high levels of estimate and will be subject to change.  
 
The Norfolk business rates pool which includes all the Norfolk authorities is 
continuing.  Tariff that otherwise would be paid to Central Government is paid into the 
County pool.  This pool will be used to supplement economic development activity 
throughout the county, supporting the work that the authorities are doing with the 
Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP).  Norfolk authorities have submitted a bid for a 
75% Business Rates pilot but the outcome is not known, so at this stage nothing is 
included in the budget.  
 
The new homes bonus (NHB) scheme has changed in recent years, significantly 
reducing the amount of reward funding provided to councils.  Consultation is 
underway for 2019-20 to raise the ‘baseline’ of 0.4% which will mean reward is only 
paid above this level of growth.  In addition future consultation is expected to 
fundamentally change the NHB scheme after 2019-20 and may link the scheme to 
the new Housing Delivery Test.  Due to the uncertainty of the future of NHB our 
budgets include contribution of the New Homes Bonus funds into a Communities 
Reserve over the whole medium term to fund short term community based projects. 
 
 

147



The table below shows the level of budgeted central grants. 

 18-19 
£’000 

19-20 
£’000 

20-21 
£’000 

21-22 
£’000 

22-23 
£’000 

Revenue Support Grant (1,071) (646) - - - 

Income cont’n to investment fund 1,248 1,168 324 - - 

Retained Business Rates NNDR (3,705) (3,594) (6,295) (6,427) (6,562) 

Retained NNDR - renewables (1,740) (2,443) (2,492) (2,545) (2,598) 

S31 grants in lieu of NDR (1,596) (1,515) - - - 

Rural Services Delivery grant (379) (379) - - - 

New Homes Bonus  (2,396) (2,106) (1,465) (876) (411) 

NHB to growth fund 411 33 - - - 

NHB to communities reserve 1,786 1,480 1,140 876 411 

Total (7,442) (8,002) (8,788) (8,972) (9,160) 

 
4. Collection Fund 
Each year the Council is required to calculate the balance on its Collection Fund.  
The medium term plan target is to have a minimal balance on the Collection Fund, 
aspiring for a zero balance. 
 
Figures indicate a surplus for Council Tax of £402k in total and Breckland’s share of 
this for 2019-20 would be around £40k.  
For Business Rates a deficit is forecast of £1,682k in total and Breckland’s share of 
this for 2019-20 would be around £673k, offset by a renewable energy surplus of 
£655k giving an overall deficit of £18k. 
 
5. Tax Base 
The tax base is assumed to rise by 1.3% in the next 2 years and then by 0.7% in 
future years.  The assumed figures are shown in section 7 of this report.  The tax 
base for all parishes is shown at appendix C.   
 
6. Principles of Budget Preparation 
The following principles have been used in the budget preparation process, in order 
to: 

o Provide a consistent and authorised approach to the preparation of revenue 
and capital estimates. 

o Ensure estimates are prepared in line with available resources. 
o Ensure that estimates are prepared to reflect corporate priorities. 

 
Budget principles: 

o Detailed working sheets are maintained for all budget headings and these are 
prepared by the budget manager, with the exception of central items. 

o Central items are calculated by finance.  The central items include: salaries, 
insurance, car allowances, support service recharges, capital accounting 
entries, interest paid and received, pensions, NI, special expenses, mobiles 
phones, overtime, utilities, postages and Members allowances. 

o The full effect of known pay awards is incorporated into the estimates and a 
provision made for future years, based on internally agreed assumptions 
(taking into account any Central Government policies). 

o Staffing estimates are prepared on the basis of approved staffing levels as 
provided by Human Resources.  These estimates include an allowance for 
employers NI, superannuation contributions and lump sum amounts. 

o Controllable expenditure is defined as expenditure on employees, premises 
(excluding business rates), transport, supplies and services, but excluding 
internal recharges. 

148



o There will be no allowance for inflation, unless contractual or related to 
salaries. 

o We seek to mitigate the impact on Council Tax from the consumption of 
capital resources.  In effect all decisions should be made with the knowledge 
of the impact on investment income. 

o We should seek additional scrutiny and challenge for accessing capital 
resources and ensure that the programme only reflects schemes that are 
sufficiently scoped to allow delivery. 

o A review of fees and charges to ensure maximisation of income where 
consistent with policy. 

o An acceptance that a viable budget was already created last year and we 
restate mid year with ongoing changes forming the basis of future years 
estimates. 

o To set a balanced budget with no long term dependency on general balances. 
o To work towards a zero balance on the collection fund. 
o Only the 2019-20 budget is formally approved, future years are indicative only 

for both revenue and capital for the purposes of medium term financial 
projections. 

 
7. Other Budget Assumptions 
The budget estimates and medium term plan cover the period 2019-20 to 2022-23, 
over this timescale it is important that we make realistic assumptions as to how costs 
rise or fall.  This section details the key assumptions made. 
The key assumptions used are: 

o Revenue budgets will be used to deliver services during the year for which 
they are approved. 

o We will allow for unavoidable growth on services (i.e. new statutory 
obligations and contractual inflation) but will not allow any increase for 
general inflation. 

o Estimates are prepared on the understanding that appropriate service 
budgets were produced for the previous year which will then be adjusted to 
reflect the changing financial circumstances that the public sector is required 
to prepare for. 

o Where service delivery is dependent on a specific grant we will only assume 
continuation of the grant and expenditure where such notification has been 
received. 

 
The key assumptions made for the setting of these budget estimates, which influence 
the five year financial plan are as follows: 

 18-19 19-20 20-21 21-22 22-23 

Cost of living increase 2.325% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

Staffing salary level 96% 96% 96% 96% 96% 

ARP cost of living increase 1.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 2.00% 

ARP staffing salary level 97.5% 97.5% 97.5% 97.5% 97.5% 

Pension contribution rate 14% 14% 14% 14% 14% 

Pension lump sum cont’n £956k £1,102k £1,248k £1,394k £1,540k 

Ret’n on cash investments 0.50% 0.95% 1.38% 1.55% 1.55% 

Tax base 42,806 43,355.1 43,935.1 44,234.1 44,533.1 

 
Details on the grant settlement and assumptions made are shown in section 3. 
 
 
 
 

149



8. Future Developments 
The following are areas which are currently under development or consultation which 
are likely to have an impact on the budget, but there is currently insufficient detail to 
include these in the main budget. 
 
The funding assumptions (section 3) detail the significant future changes arising from 
75% Business Rates retention, the Fair Funding Review, the Spending Review and 
New Homes Bonus and how this budget places the Council strongly to respond to 
these changes in future years. 
 
The next Pension triennial review is for 2020-21 and this will change pension 
contribution levels and set the past deficit fixed sum.  Currently the budget continues 
to assume that the past deficit fixed sum increases by the same levels as in the 
2016-17 triennial valuation. 
 
A new waste contract is currently being tendered ready for 2020-21.  The budget 
assumes that this contract will be delivered within the existing financial framework 
and budgets will be updated as more information becomes available. 
 
9. Strategy, Aspirations and Forward Projections 
The Council’s financial medium term strategy is shown below: 

1) To manage a budget process that will make progress in re-directing and 
focusing the budget on corporate priorities and in doing so, recognise the 
intrinsic link between this strategy and the Capital Strategy and the Treasury 
Management strategy. 

2) Adopt a corporate approach to budget preparation and continue to provide 
strong timely budget control. 

3) Use sound modern financial systems procedures and principles and promote 
digital record keeping and approval processes.  Ensure financial performance 
reporting remains integrated with business planning. 

4) Ensure there is a rigorous scrutiny of the financial planning process and work 
towards a more effective consultation process to engage the public and 
stakeholders. 

5) Maintain balances and reserves that will provide for known risks and liabilities 
and provide capacity for managing peaks in expenditure. 

6) Operate strategies on capital and external funding that supports the Council’s 
corporate objectives and that supports the targets of any partners. 

7) Undertake a risk assessment of material items of income and expenditure 
and report the risks to Members as part of the budget setting process (see 
section 14). 

8) Manage and use our resources to deliver value for money and better 
sustainable outcomes for local people. 

9) Set realistic targets for trading accounts and if services fail to achieve these 
they will be subject to a more fundamental review. 

10) Aim for a minimum balance on the Collection Fund. 
11) Prepare robust and realistic income and resource requirement plans for the 

next four years. 
12) Promote take up of benefits and reliefs. 
13) Maximise income collection. 
14) Recognise our role in the community throughout and beyond the period of 

economic hardship by providing assistance to individuals, groups and 
businesses. 

 

150



These strategies will be achieved through the working practices set by the relevant 
departments.  The effectiveness of these strategies and the underlying principles can 
be monitored by key outputs such as: 

o Annual audit letter 
o Financial plan 
o Governance and Audit Committee reports 
o Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 
o Grants returns submitted to deadlines 
o Governance and performance reports 

 
Section 16 details the planned savings from the transformation programme over the 
medium term in order to balance the budget with a nil reliance on revenue support 
grant. 

 
10. 2018-19 Outturn 
An assessment of the 2018-19 out turn will inform the reliance we can place on the 
baseline we use for setting the 2019-20 estimates.  Based on the position at the 30 
September 2018, various pressures, transformation items and efficiencies have been 
identified, forecasting a small above budget out-turn as an overall result.  Ongoing 
efficiencies and surpluses have been reflected in the medium term plan. The Council 
will continue to review the financial performance of its services throughout the 
year.  In preparing the budgets for 2019-20 services have reflected the on-going 
pressures and efficiencies in their new budget estimates. 
 
11. Budget Requirement and Forward Estimates 
Outline estimates through to 2022-23 are shown in appendix B.  In compiling these 
figures we have followed the assumptions shown in sections 3 and 7 of this appendix 
and made specific adjustments to service budgets as and where budget holders have 
advised of a change over the medium term. 
 
These forward estimates demonstrate a balanced budget for all years with no 
ongoing reliance on reserves and reduced reliance on grant funding.  Section 16 
gives further information on how the Council plans to achieve these efficiencies 
through a programme of efficiencies and growth and details what assumptions have 
been made on assumed efficiencies. 
 
The special expenses charge shown in appendix B is made for the maintenance of 
footway lighting in Dereham, Thetford and Watton.  This is in addition to the precept 
raised by the Council across the district.  Attleborough and Swaffham have elected to 
be recharged directly for their footway lighting costs, so it forms part of their own 
precept.  These expenses are shown in the table below.  Other parish councils 
maintain their own footpath lighting requirements and therefore manage this cost 
through their own precept.  
 

 Dereham Thetford Watton Attlebo-
rough 

Swaff-
ham 

Special Expense £9,076 £43,102 £18,490 - - 

2019-20 tax base 5,673.4 6,393.5 2,607.2 - - 

Band D equivalent £1.60 £6.74 £7.09 - - 

2018-19 band D £1.29 £7.32 £5.53 - - 

Direct charge 19-20 - - - £19,132 £15,291 

 
The County Council manage the footway lighting on behalf of Breckland and the 
Towns and Breckland Council has a planned replacement programme.     

151



12. Fees and Charges 
Income from fees and charges is an important source of revenue income for the 
Council.  Charges have a central role to play in service delivery, raising income, 
controlling access, responding to competition, funding investment and affecting 
public behaviour. 
 
As part of our overall income strategy we will seek to: 

o Maximise the return from the Council’s asset holdings. 
o Ensure that the yield from fees and charges matches the increase in base 

budget for services that levy fees and charges, otherwise the shortfall will fall 
upon the Council Tax payer. 

o Annually review fees and charges for discretionary services. 
o Ensure that statutory charges are implemented. 
o Treat windfall income as a corporate resource. 
o Use enforcement remedies effectively. 
o Seek to minimise benefit subsidy losses. 

 
Fees and charges have been reviewed and changes made where necessary to the 
levels levied.  Demand for services has also been reviewed and changes in demand 
have been reflected in the budgeted level of fees and charges income. 
 
Appendix D and D2 details all the fees and charges and highlights the charges 
which are new or have changed since they were last approved. 
 
In total £4,663k is due from fees and charges in the 2019-20 budget.  The chart 
below shows the main categories of budgeted fee income in 2019-20 and 2018-19 
for comparison.  
 

 
 
In addition to fees and charges the council has also invested £36,224k in commercial 
properties.  It uses the rent from these properties to support the delivery of front line 
services.  Gross income from commercial property rent is estimated at £3,435k in 
2019-20, excluding service charges, offices rental and finance lease adjustments 
(£2.6m in 2018-19).   
 
 
 
 

0

200,000

400,000

600,000

800,000

1,000,000

1,200,000

1,400,000

1,600,000

2018/19
Estimate

2019/20
Estimate

152



13. Reserves and Balances 
The authority carried out a review of its reserves and balances during 2018-19 and 
the finding and recommendations from this are incorporated into this budget.   
 
Appendix E outlines the position statement on reserve balances.  The proposed 
budget does not require any long term support from reserve balances, however the 
economic circumstances around business rates retention, localised council tax 
support, reliance on Commercial Property income, investment income and specific 
contractual challenges has required us to undertake a robust sensitivity analysis 
should these events require us to draw on balances.  Whilst it is apparent these risks 
could be financially significant, our reserves are healthy.  Moving forward the General 
Fund balance is maintained at £2.669m.   
 
The tables below give a summary of reserve movements: 

 
General Fund 

19-20 
£’000 

20-21 
£’000 

21-22 
£’000 

22-23 
£’000 

23-24 
£’000 

Brought forward (2,669) (2,669) (2,669) (2,669) (2,669) 

In - - - - - 

Out - - - - - 

Carried forward (2,669) (2,669) (2,669) (2,669) (2,669) 

 

 
Specific Reserves 

19-20 
£’000 

20-21 
£’000 

21-22 
£’000 

22-23 
£’000 

23-24 
£’000 

Brought forward (14,834) (11,666) (12,302) (13,231) (11,991) 

In (4,893) (3,779) (2,400) (1,812) (1,347) 

Out 8,061 3,143 1,471 3,052 1,254 

Carried forward (11,666) (12,302) (13,231) (11,991) (12,084) 

 
These are the observations from the review of reserves for the 2018-19 budget: 

o The organisational development reserve contains only £41k of unallocated 
funds to use for invest to save initiatives that will drive revenue costs down.  
Therefore any general unallocated amounts in other reserves will be 
consolidated in the organisational development reserve to increase this 
balance. 

o An un-allocated sum of £1,169k is held in a Revenue & Benefits reserve to 
cover the potential pressures and/or timing pressures resulting from the 
Housing Benefit or funding from business rates retention and the potential for 
successful back-dated appeals.  This reserve also holds some renewable 
energy business rates which may be re-allocated at a later date, dependent 
on the certainty of the income. 

o The growth and investment fund will be used to either purchase or build 
assets or to secure housing, business rates or employment growth generating 
an on-going revenue return. 

o The communities reserve holds the new homes bonus funding which is not 
required to deliver services.  The 2018-19 balance has been allocated to 
projects and the 2019-20 balance will be allocated in the new financial year. 

 
In setting the level of General Balances, consideration has been given to the 
adequacy of financial control, the overall financial position, medium-term financial 
plans and the strategic, operational and financial risks facing the Council.  Following 
this review, it is proposed that the General Fund remains set at a minimum level of 
£2,500k. 
 
 

153



14. Risk, Key Issues, Sensitivity and Monitoring 
The Council must set a budget which is a realistic statement of its estimated income 
and expenditure for the coming year, based upon information currently available.  
The Council has a duty to take into account the demand for its services and the effect 
on council tax payers of meeting those demands at varying levels of services.  Given 
the good management practices and sound financial and performance monitoring 
delivered in the past, the Council has the platform and expertise to deliver a balanced 
budget.   
 
The following table details the key risks and issues identified and how we intend to 
treat them:  
 

 
Risk 

Likeli-
hood 

 
Impact 

 
Action 

Lack of clarity for funding levels 
past 19-20 and Spending 
Review 2019 

High Medium Prudent budget set to 
provide best estimate.  
Transitional arrangements 
likely to be implemented 

Fair Funding Review could take 
into account actual levels of 
commercial income as well as 
Council Tax income 

Medium Medium Prudent budget set to 
provide best estimate.  
Transitional arrangements 
likely to be implemented 

The current levels of Housing 
Benefit Overpayments debt 
could be at risk following the 
transfer to Universal Credit 

Medium Medium National lobbying is taking 
place on this matter and 
some could be mitigated 
through the use of the 
revenues & benefits reserve 

If major asset sale(s) in poorer 
performing assets don’t take 
place, risk of lower income 
levels in future 

Medium High Reserve funding can be 
utilised in the short term. 
Legal support to resolve 
longer term if required. 

Low income levels from fees 
and charges 

Low Medium Revise spending plans 
 

Continuation of low interest 
rates 

Medium Medium Market advice and 
forecasting.  Mitigation by 
diversification 

A reduction in property rental 
income 

Low Medium Asset management plan.  
Mitigation by diversification 

Business rates retention 
scheme leaves Council 
exposed to economic downturn, 
reduced income from appeals 
(including back dated appeals). 

Medium Medium Monitor throughout year & 
reserve created to help with 
potential initial 
pressures/timing pressures 

Increased maintenance costs of 
ageing physical assets 

Low Medium Asset management plan.  
Pro-active rather than 
reactive maintenance 
programme. 

Contractors for the Council 
facing financial hardship, going 
into administration or novating 
contracts to other suppliers 

Medium Medium Contingency plans in place, 
financial checks for new 
contracts, wording in 
contracts to protect the 
Council from novation to 
alternative suppliers 
 

154



 
Risk 

Likeli-
hood 

 
Impact 

 
Action 

Inflation rises by more than 
budgeted projections 

Low Low Budget assumptions kept up 
to date with most recent 
projections 

Price increases resulting from 
contract re-tender, particularly 
the Waste Collection and street 
cleansing contract  

Medium Medium Vary the service 
specification within the 
affordability envelope 

Net budget of the Housing 
Benefit claims is costlier than 
budgeted if error threshold 
breached 

Medium Low Use of reserve to fund any 
in year additional 
costs/income shortfall 
 

Extension of internal drainage 
board (IDB) activities increases 
drainage board levies beyond 
our control 

Low Medium Liaison with IDB. 
Consider methods to 
smooth the effects of future 
costs 
 

Reduced available capital 
funding and a notional 
borrowing requirement meaning 
that borrowing will be required 
for future projects 

High Medium Continue to closely monitor 
the Council’s CFR and 
communicate remaining 
balances to Members before 
decisions made. 
Use of revenue funding to 
support capital schemes 
and use of LABV where 
appropriate. 
Dis-investment in poorer 
performing assets to re-
invest 

Future costs which are 
recharged through the special 
expenses rise as a result of 
reactive repairs, which would 
increase the Council Tax to a 
level above that which requires 
a referendum 

Medium Medium Consider methods to 
smooth the effects of future 
costs. 
Look at alternatives to the 
special expenses levy. 

Transformation programme is 
not delivered to the expected 
time frames 

Low Medium Continued monitoring & 
reporting and programme 
delivery manager in place 

Brexit negotiations & trade 
deals impact on the levels of 
NNDR income & Housing 
Benefits demand 

Medium Low Reserve to manage 
potential fall to NNDR safety 
net levels 

Reductions/removal of recycling 
credits received 

Medium Low Adjust costs to offset lost 
income 

 
In addition to the risks identified above we have calculated a sensitivity analysis of 
our key variables in order to quantify the potential financial impact.  These 
sensitivities are shown in appendix F. 
 
 
 
 

155



15. Consultation, Timetable and Links to Other Strategies 
This draft budget was put out to consultation to Overview & Scrutiny Committee and 
on the website, inviting commentary from key stakeholders.  Feedback received from 
this consultation will be considered and incorporated into the budget papers to Full 
council where necessary.   
 
It is important to have clear and agreed timetables for the budget process so that 
statutory requirements are met.  Each year a timetable will be agreed with the 
executive management team prior to the start of the process (i.e. around July each 
year). 
 
The Council has adopted a corporate risk management strategy and financial risk 
management is integrated into the Council’s overall management and decision 
making processes.  This ensures a robust and well integrated risk management 
programme, which will help the Council to identify and manage key strategic risks 
facing it, in pursuit of its corporate objectives. 
 
A new Performance Framework has been developed to manage delivery of the new 
priorities described in the councils Corporate Plan.  The annual business planning 
process will run alongside the budget setting process to ensure an integrated 
approach of performance and finance and ensure that resources are made available 
to deliver the revised corporate plan. 
 
16. Value for Money and the Efficiency Requirement 
The significant and ongoing reductions in central funding for local authorities and un-
certainty relating to future years funding has brought the value for money (VFM) 
issue to the forefront for all public services and all authorities are required to 
demonstrate VFM.  VFM is more than simply cuts to services and/or budgets, it 
includes; innovation in service delivery, investment in technology and digitalisation, 
rationalisation of back office functions and organisational development.  It is more 
important than ever that the tax payers in Breckland are receiving VFM and that 
funds are available to provide front-line services to the community while ensuring the 
impact on council tax is contained. 
 
The Council has produced the Moving Forward transformation programme, with a 
year 4 (19-20) efficiency of £2,319k, of which £1,896k (82%) has been delivered.  
This programme has been refreshed as part of this years budget and phase 2 
projects have been added and the current budget includes the following amounts 
which are either due to be delivered through the transformation programme or have 
been delivered: 
 
 18-19 19-20 20-21 21-22 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Removed from budgets/achieved (1,717) (1,896) (1,862) (1,891) 
Remaining targets (229) (322) (559) (607) 
Phase 2 new targets (24) (101) (341) (341) 

TOTAL (1,970) (2,319) (2,762) (2,839) 

 
17. Capital Estimates 
The capital programme has been created to meet the priorities of the Council.  The 
schemes and associated funding are set out in appendix H.  Each scheme is 
supported by a capital bid form, formulated where appropriate after the consideration 
of options.  The cash flow implications of all schemes and the impact on revenue 
have been included within the revenue budgets.  The joint preparation of both a 
capital and revenue budget should ensure a sustainable position for the Council.  

156



These capital budgets will be reviewed and challenged during the consultation period 
with final schemes included in the final budget. 
 
The capital programme contains both annualised projects to be delivered in year and 
larger projects that will span more than one financial year.  If a new project is to be 
included within the capital programme it must be more than an idea.  As a minimum 
criterion, costs, timescales, funding agreements, governance arrangements, risks 
and outcomes will be clearly specified for all named projects.   
 
Capital resources are diminishing over time, the capital strategy details this position 
fully in section 5.  The forecasts currently show that there is little scope for further 
capital investment in the existing capital programme by 2020-21 unless additional 
capital receipts are generated, revenue reserves are used, existing projects are 
removed from the programme or further borrowing takes place.   Prioritisation of 
capital projects in the future will be key to the best use of the Council’s resources.  
Any future decision on borrowing for capital projects would only be supported if the 
business case for the projects does not place additional cost pressure on the tax 
payer through the council tax charge.  The council would not undertake any un-
supported borrowing whilst it still has reasonable capital receipt resources available. 

157



APPENDIX B

  CODE DESCRIPTION 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

ACTUAL ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE

£     £ £ £     £ £

COUNCIL

1 Employee Related Expenses 11,967,030 10,459,087 12,112,591 12,270,987 12,619,472 12,745,667

2 Premises Related Expenses 2,351,509 2,283,317 2,389,822 2,430,795 2,445,522 2,496,880

3 Transport Related Expenses 346,266 367,455 425,268 418,912 417,935 417,935

4 Supplies & Services 18,480,282 13,636,925 14,120,001 14,198,194 14,278,957 14,578,815

6 Transfer Payments 31,712,150 28,760,377 28,023,742 25,814,036 23,781,143 23,781,143

7 Support Services 4,916,511 4,570,837 5,086,543 3,980,958 4,001,756 4,001,756

8 Capital Financing Costs 3,273,472 3,478,877 3,219,080 1,848,630 6,846,720 6,846,720

9 Other Income (22,471,254) (16,645,977) (17,774,939) (18,147,362) (18,522,027) (18,522,027)

Housing Benefit Income (31,021,714) (27,992,006) (27,390,970) (25,201,830) (23,187,680) (23,187,680)

COUNCIL TOTAL 19,554,252 18,918,892 20,211,138 17,613,320 22,681,798 23,159,209

Appropriations:

Revenue Contributions towards Capital Programme 33,728 1,100,000 2,026,000 1,000,000 3,000,000 1,201,219

IAS 19 Contra Entry (775,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Reffcus Contra Entry (1,061,967) (2,207,577) (2,357,500) (1,100,000) (6,100,000) (6,100,000)

Depreciation Contra Entry (1,156,769) (1,271,300) (861,580) (748,630) (746,720) (746,720)

MRP 572,363 541,660 593,413 611,228 629,947 665,751

Reversal Of Holiday Pay Accrual (4,723) 0 0 0 0 0

Reversal of Impairments/Movements in Value (1,054,737) 0 0 0 0 0

Capital Grants & Contributions 1,494,811 0 0 0 0 0

Mitigating Treatment for Finance Leases 173,582 31,796 0 0 0 0

Contribution To Reserves 1,589,497 1,041,641 1,098,254 935,412 935,412 935,412

Contribution From Reserves (2,534,409) (987,919) (2,060,141) (165,060) (51,850) (51,850)

COUNCIL SUBTOTAL 16,830,628 17,167,193 18,649,584 18,146,270 20,348,587 19,063,021

Less Trading Units 4,798,647 4,403,017 4,964,011 3,856,348 3,875,396 3,875,396

NET COST OF SERVICES 12,031,981 12,764,176 13,685,573 14,289,922 16,473,191 15,187,625

GENERAL FUND SUMMARY AND PRECEPT REQUIREMENT
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

ACTUAL ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE ESTIMATE

£     £ £ £     £ £

NET COST OF SERVICES 12,031,981 12,764,176 13,685,573 14,289,922 16,473,191 15,187,625

Efficiencies to be identified 0 0 (104,753) 0 0 0

Contribution (from)/to General Fund (181,899) 0 0 82,384 254,972 228,165

INVESTMENT AND GROWTH

Spend from Growth & Investment Fund Reserve (4,112) 0 0 0 0 0

Contribution from Growth & Investment Fund Reserve 0 (1,095,700) (1,583,285) (1,305,666) (3,000,000) (1,201,219)

Transformation - programmed retn on growth and investment fund 0 (43,828) (40,000) (80,000) (310,000) (358,049)

BRECKLAND BUDGET REQUIREMENT 11,845,970 11,624,648 11,957,535 12,986,640 13,418,163 13,856,522

FINANCING

Retained Business Rates (Less tarriff Payable) (4,217,766) (4,623,283) (4,671,929) (6,294,557) (6,426,742) (6,561,704)

Retained Business Rates - Renewable Energy (450,753) (1,740,344) (2,443,477) (2,492,347) (2,544,686) (2,598,124)

Collection Fund - NNDR Levy Payment on Growth 1,136,261 917,995 1,077,521 0 0 0

Revenue Support Grant (1,451,200) (1,070,950) (646,265) 0 0 0

Other Non Specified Grants (872,825) (379,118) (379,118) 0 0 0

Contribution to Growth & Investment fund 720,871 1,248,224 1,168,372 323,785 0 0

New Homes Bonus (applied in year) (3,013,520) (2,395,582) (2,106,418) (1,464,748) (876,249) (411,462)

New Homes Bonus - Excess contributed to Growth & Investment Fund 455,505 411,070 32,847 0 0 0

New Homes Bonus - Excess contributed to Communities Reserve 0 1,785,946 1,479,766 1,140,963 876,249 411,462

NNDR S31 Grants (707,384) (1,596,433) (1,515,549) 0 0 0

Collection Fund - Council Tax (25,819) (119,360) (40,497) 0 0

Collection Fund - NNDR (31,913) (395,780) 17,948 0 0

Special Expenses raised through Council Tax (64,246) (67,633) (70,669) (70,669) (70,669) (70,669)

Special Expenses funded from LCTS grant (8,830) (8,833) (8,833) (8,833) (8,833) (8,833)

BRECKLAND PRECEPT REQUIREMENT 3,314,351 3,590,567 3,851,234 4,120,234 4,367,233 4,617,192

BRECKLAND BAND D COUNCIL TAX 78.93 83.88 88.83 93.78 98.73 103.68

PERCENTAGE INCREASE 5.90% 5.57% 5.28% 5.01%

Tax Base 41,991.1 42,806.0 43,355.1 43,935.1 44,234.1 44,533.1

SUMMARY BY SUBJECTIVE HEADING

158



PARISH WARD/NAME PROPERTIES TAX BASE PARISH WARD/NAME PROPERTIES TAX BASE

ASHILL 489.0

ATTLEBOROUGH 3,731.4 LEXHAM 48.2

BANHAM 511.0 LITCHAM 212.1

BAWDESWELL 273.3 LONGHAM 82.7

BEACHAMWELL 133.3 LOPHAM NORTH 253.4

BEESTON 201.8 LOPHAM SOUTH 174.8

BEETLEY 522.9 LYNFORD 51.4

BESTHORPE 262.5 LYNG 291.6

BILLINGFORD 87.5 MATTISHALL 888.2

BINTREE 113.7 MERTON 55.4

BLO NORTON 113.5 MILEHAM 234.8

BRADENHAM 247.1 MUNDFORD 497.4

BRETTENHAM & KILVERSTONE 221.6 NARBOROUGH 408.9

BRIDGHAM 122.0 NARFORD 11.9

BRISLEY 123.8 NECTON 728.0

BUCKENHAM NEW 186.5 NEWTON BY CASTLEACRE 16.4

BUCKENHAM OLD 496.9 OVINGTON 96.4

BYLAUGH 33.5 OXBOROUGH 91.8

CARBROOKE 655.9 PICKENHAM NORTH 157.4

CASTON 199.9 PICKENHAM SOUTH 37.1

COCKLEY CLEY 44.9 QUIDENHAM 178.2

COLKIRK 251.5 RIDDLESWORTH & GASTHORPE 52.1

CRANWICH 20.5 ROCKLANDS 277.3

CRANWORTH 176.7 ROUDHAM & LARLING 111.8

CRESSINGHAM GREAT 88.4 ROUGHAM 44.3

CRESSINGHAM LITTLE 68.7 SAHAM TONEY 598.4

CROXTON 188.6 SCARNING 873.6

DEREHAM 5,673.4 SCOULTON 90.0

DIDLINGTON 26.4 SHIPDHAM 733.7

DUNHAM GREAT 122.6 SHROPHAM 149.2

DUNHAM LITTLE 116.4 SNETTERTON 82.5

ELLINGHAM GREAT 424.8 SOUTHACRE 12.9

ELLINGHAM LITTLE 93.4 SPARHAM 111.2

ELMHAM NORTH 470.1 SPORLE WITH PALGRAVE 329.7

ELSING 105.1 STANFIELD 60.8

FOULDEN 144.1 STANFORD 3.2

FOXLEY 113.7 STOW BEDON & BRECKLES 129.5

FRANSHAM 163.0 SWAFFHAM 2,602.9

GARBOLDISHAM 295.2 SWANTON MORLEY 704.5

GARVESTONE 277.8 THETFORD 6,393.5

GATELEY 29.7 THOMPSON 151.8

GOODERSTONE 144.7 TITTLESHALL 140.0

GRESSENHALL 362.0 TUDDENHAM EAST 170.9

GRISTON 197.4 TUDDENHAM NORTH 120.5

GUIST 71.5 TWYFORD 15.5

HARDINGHAM 109.5 WATTON 2,607.2

HARLING 847.1 WEASENHAM ALL SAINTS 67.8

HILBOROUGH 82.2 WEASENHAM ST. PETER 59.5

HOCKERING 235.2 WEETING WITH BROOMHILL 536.9

HOCKHAM 235.9 WELLINGHAM 22.1

HOE & WORTHING 101.1 WENDLING 103.4

HOLME HALE 186.5 WHINBURGH & WESTFIELD 149.6

HORNINGTOFT 60.0 WHISSONSETT 166.8

ICKBURGH 87.2 WRETHAM 128.8

KEMPSTONE 6.6 YAXHAM 305.3

KENNINGHALL 382.7

TOTAL TAX BASE 43,355.0

PARISH/WARD TAX BASE REPORT 2019-20

159



Appendix D

Fees and Charges 2019-20

The lines highlighted in blue are new or amended charges for 2019/20
R

e

s

p

oDept GL Code Charge Description VAT Rate

Statutory/ 

Discretionary

Current Charge 2018/19     

(excl VAT)

Proposed Charge 

2019/20      (excl VAT)

Licensing

304 0000 000 9325 Licensing Act 2003 B S Variable Variable

304 0000 000 9325 Club registration B S Variable Variable

304 0000 000 9325 Personal Licences B S 37.00 Variable

304 0000 000 9325 Temporary Events B S 21.00 Variable

304 0000 000 9325 Misc LA 2003 including Vary DPS B S variable Variable

304 0000 000 9327 Lotteries renewal B s 20.00 20.00

304 0000 000 9327 Lotteries grant B S 40.00 40.00

304 0000 000 9327 Gambling Act 2005 B S variable Variable

304 0000 000 9352 Riding establishment licence (plus appropriate vet fees) B D 323.50 323.50

304 0000 000 9355 Dog Breeders licences (plus appropriate vet fees) B D 265.50 265.50

304 0000 000 9357 Animal Boarding Establishment Act 1963 B D 166.20 166.20

304 0000 000 9359 Pet Animals Act - Pet Shops B D 184.40 184.40

304 0000 000 9366 Dangerous Wild Animals B D 362.70 362.70

Zoo Inspections

304 0000 000 9394 Zoo Inspections - Applications & Renewal B D 154.00 Variable

304 0000 000 9394 Zoo Inspections - Inspection B D 0.00 0.00

Sex Establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues

304 0000 000 9377 Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - new application B D 1,569.20 1,725.00

304 0000 000 9377 Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - Renewal (no objection) B D 828.00 910.00

304 0000 000 9377 Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - renewal (objections) B D 1,275.00 1,313.00

304 0000 000 9377 Sex establishments & Sex Entertainment Venues - Transfers & Variations B D 490.00 505.00

Street Traders

304 0000 000 9365 Street Traders - New application B D 419.00 432.00

304 0000 000 9365 Street Traders - Renewal B D 419.00 432.00

Tables/Chairs

304 0000 000 9370 Section 115 Tables & Chairs B D 192.20 198.00

304 0000 000 9370 Tables & Chairs Renewal B D 164.90 170.00

304 0000 000 9345 Hackney Carriage & Private Hire plate fix S D 0.00 0.00

Hackney Carriage & Private Hire Licences :

304 0000 000 9360 HCV (plus test) B D 129.30 129.30

Fees and Charges 2019-20

160



R

e

s

p

oDept GL Code Charge Description VAT Rate

Statutory/ 

Discretionary

Current Charge 2018/19     

(excl VAT)

Proposed Charge 

2019/20      (excl VAT)

304 0000 000 9360 HCV Renewal (plus test) B D 129.30 129.30

304 0000 000 9360 PHV Renewal (plus test) B D 152.80 152.80

304 0000 000 9360 PHV New (plus test) B D 152.80 152.80

304 0000 000 9360 Driver - Grant (plus CRB) B D 160.80 160.80

304 0000 000 9360 Driver - Renewal (plus CRB) B D 160.80 160.80

304 0000 000 9360 PHO B D 148.50 148.50

304 0000 000 9360 PHO Renewal B D 148.50 148.50

304 0000 000 9360 Replacement Breckland Stags B D 0.00 0.00

304 0000 000 9360 Replacement Vehicle Plate B D 48.40 48.40

304 0000 000 9360 Replacement Drivers Badge B D 40.40 40.40

304 0000 000 9360 Replacement Licence B D 37.75 37.75

304 0000 000 9360 Replacement Internal Sticker B D 32.10 32.10

304 0000 000 9360 Transfer existing licensed vehicle to new owner B D 55.00 55.00

304 0000 000 9360 Replacement Platform B D 21.40 21.40

304 0000 000 9360 Trailer Permission B D 109.20 109.20

304 0000 000 9360 Trailer Renewal B D 109.20 109.20

Scrap Metal

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - new Site B D 323.60 334.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - new Collector B D 229.20 236.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - renew Site B D 225.80 233.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - renew Collector B D 110.00 113.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - change of licence B D 59.10 61.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - variation to licenced site B D 63.32 65.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - change of site manager B D 40.30 42.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - variation change from site to collector B D 60.31 62.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - copy of licence B D 15.08 16.00

304 0000 000 9330 Scrap Metal - variation from collector to site B D 193.51 200.00

Tattooing and Piercing 

304 0000 000 9353 Tattooing and Piercing regs B D 218.10 225.00

304 0000 000 9353 Tattooing and Piercing regs (Admin fee) B D 0.00 45.00

Dog Warden

356 0000 000 9418 Dog Warden Fees (split of fees below)

356 0000 000 9418 Dog Collection Fines (first time) B S 53.00 53.00

356 0000 000 9418 Dog Collection Fines (second time) B S 75.00 75.00

356 0000 000 9418 Dog Collection Fines (third time) B S 93.00 93.00

356 0000 000 9418 Dog Micro chipping S D 10.80 10.80

356 0000 000 9418 Dog Training S D 41.67 41.67

161



R

e

s

p

oDept GL Code Charge Description VAT Rate

Statutory/ 

Discretionary

Current Charge 2018/19     

(excl VAT)

Proposed Charge 

2019/20      (excl VAT)

Environmental Protection

354 0000 000 9399 Sampling Fees (split of fees below)

354 0000 000 9399 Sampling plus analysis Domestic S D 150.00 150.00

354 0000 000 9399 Sampling plus analysis Domestic per additional sample at same location S D 30.00 30.00

354 0000 000 9399 Sampling plus analysis Commercial S D 225.00 225.00

354 0000 000 9399 Sampling plus analysis Commercial per additional sample at same location S D 38.40 38.40

354 0000 000 9399 Granting an authorisation S D 100.00 100.00

354 0000 000 9399 Investigation following sample failure S D 100.00 100.00

354 0000 000 9399 Resample charge Reg 10 supplies S D 30.00 30.00

354 0000 000 9399 Resample charge Reg 9 supplies S D 38.40 38.40

354 0000 000 9399 Sampling plus analysis reg 11 Large domestic / commercial  premises S D 409.00 409.00

354 0000 000 9399 Sampling reg 11 additional sample at the same location S D 222.00 222.00

354 0000 000 9399 Sampling Radiation where required S D 500.00 500.00

354 0000 000 9399 Fee for abortive pre-booked sampling visits (<24 hours notice) Domestic S D 120.00 120.00

354 0000 000 9399 Fee for abortive pre-booked sampling visits (<24 hours notice) Commercial S D 195.00 195.00

354 0000 000 9392 Risk Assessment Fee (variable based on actual time so average fee shown) B S 238.00 238.00

354 0000 261 9393 EPA Registration Fees B S Variable Variable

354 0000 000 9293 High Hedges B S 350.00 350.00

Environmental Health

Food Safety:

153 0000 000 9329 Export Certificates  - first hour E D 85.00 90.00

153 0000 000 9329 Export Certificates  - Hourly charge thereafter E D 55.00 60.00

153 0000 000 9320 Food Hygiene Rating Re-Scoring Request Fee B D 150.00 180.00

EHTC:

623 0000 000 9444 EHTC Cosultancy day rates/retainers S D Variable Variable

623 0000 000 9444 LA Work/ Contracted Inspections/consultancy S D Variable Variable

623 0000 391 9424 Training Services/Courses ( including on-line) E D Variable Variable

623 0000 391 9424 Primary Authority Hourly Charge E D 50.00 60.00

623 0000 391 9444 Consultancy income S D Variable Variable

623 0000 391 9444 EHTC Consultancy ( Hourly Charge) S D 55.00 60.00

623 0000 391 9444 Contaminated Land Searches B D 62.00 64.00

623 0000 393 9444 Consultancy income S D Variable Variable

623 0000 395 9444 Consultancy income S D Variable Variable

623 0000 000 9397 Primary Authority work - Hourly rate - need to add this one in B D 50.00 60.00

Health & Safety:

250 0000 000 9349 Health & Safety Factual Statement - minimum charge first hour E D 85.00 90.00

162



R

e

s

p

oDept GL Code Charge Description VAT Rate

Statutory/ 

Discretionary

Current Charge 2018/19     

(excl VAT)

Proposed Charge 

2019/20      (excl VAT)

250 0000 000 9349 Health & Safety Factual Statement - Hourly Charge E D 55.00 60.00

250 0000 000 9397 Primary Authority work - Hourly rate B D 50.00 60.00

Car Parking

052 0000 000 9427 Fines B D 50.00 50.00

Facilities

561 2417 000 9416 Anglia Room full day S D 240.00 260.00

561 2417 000 9416 Anglia Room half day S D 150.00 170.00

561 2417 000 9416 Anglia Room evening S D 165.00 185.00

561 2417 000 9416 Norfolk Room full day S D 150.00 160.00

561 2417 000 9416 Norfolk Room half day S D 80.00 90.00

561 2417 000 9416 Norfolk Room evening S D 90.00 100.00

561 2417 000 9416 Dereham Room full day S D 60.00 70.00

561 2417 000 9416 Dereham Room half day S D 40.00 50.00

561 2417 000 9416 Dereham Room evening S D 50.00 60.00

Environmental Services

125 0000 000 9385 Clean neighbourhoods litter fixed penalty& prosecutions (paid within 14 days) B D 60.00 60.00

125 0000 000 9385 Clean neighbourhoods litter fixed penalty& prosecutions (paid after 14 days) B D 80.00 80.00

503 0000 257 9348 Garden Waste scheme B D 44.00 46.00

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection and Disposal - non domestic properties 240 litre bin green &black (per annum) S D 505.01 505.01

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection and disposal - non domestic properties 1,100 litre bin green &black (per annum) S D 1,007.86 1,007.86

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection and disposal - non domestic properties 240 litre bin green & 1100 litre black (per annum) S D 646.39 646.39

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection and disposal - non domestic properties 240 litre bin black only (per annum) S D 253.26 253.26

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection and Disposal - non domestic properties 1,100 litre bin black only (per annum) S D 453.36 453.36

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection Only - non domestic properties 240 litre bin green &black (per annum) S D 441.71 441.71

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection Only - non domestic properties 1,100 litre bin green &black (per annum) S D 724.48 724.48

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection - non domestic properties 240 litre bin green & 1100 litre black (per annum) S D 583.09 583.09

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection - non domestic properties 240 litre bin black only (per annum) S D 253.26 253.26

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection  - non domestic properties 1,100 litre bin black only (per annum) S D 453.36 453.36

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection - Exisiting Schools 240 litre bin green &black (per annum) S D 253.26 253.26

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection - Existing Schools 1,100 litre bin green &black (per annum) S D 453.36 453.36

503 0000 000 9447 Waste Collection - Existing Schools 240 litre bin green & 1100 litre black (per annum) S D 253.26 253.26

503 0000 000 9407 Prescribed Clinical Collection Group E - annual charge S D 521.30 521.30

503 0000 000 9407 Prescribed Clinical Collection Group E - per bag charge S D 1.08 1.08

503 0000 000 9351 Charge for Wheeled bins for new developments S D 62.00 62.00

503 0000 000 9351 Charge for Wheeled bins upgrade 240 litre to 360 litre S D 62.00 62.00

503 0000 000 9351 Charge for Wheeled bins downgrade S D 62.00 62.00

503 0000 000 9443 Bullky Waste up to 3 items D 0.00 30.00

163



R

e

s

p

oDept GL Code Charge Description VAT Rate

Statutory/ 

Discretionary

Current Charge 2018/19     

(excl VAT)

Proposed Charge 

2019/20      (excl VAT)

503 0000 000 9443 Bullky Waste - extra £5 per extra item up to 6 D 0.00 5.00

Local Elections/Registration of Electors

402 0000 000 9418 Sale of marked register - data plus £1 per 1,000 entries S S £1 per 1,000 £10 plus £1 per 1,000

402 0000 000 9418 Sale of marked register - paper plus £2 per 1,000 entries S S £2 per 1,000 £2 per 1,000

402 0000 000 9418 Sale of edited register - data plus £1.50 per 1,000 entries S S £1.50 per 1,000 £1.50 per 1,000

402 0000 000 9418 Sale of edited register - paper plus £5 per 1,000 entries S S £5 per 1,000 £5 per 1,000

402 0000 000 9418 Sale of full register - data plus £1.50 per 1,000 entries S S 179.00 179.00

402 0000 000 9418 Sale of full register - data plus £1.50 per 1,000 entries (Monthly updates) S S 274.00 274.00

402 0000 000 9418 Sale of full register - paper plus £5 per 1,000 entries S S £5 per 1,000 £20 plus £5 per 1,000

Development Control & Land Charges

102 0000 000 9383 Planning Application Fees B S Variable Variable

102 0000 000 9400 S106 agreement income S D Nil Nil

102 0000 000 9412 Charges for Services - general S D Nil Nil

102 0000 000 9347 Discharge of planning conditions S D Variable Variable

Search Fees :

300 0000 000 9390 Standard search fees: B/S D 114.20 114.20

300 0000 000 9390 Extra Parcel (including Con 29 & LLC1 parcel fees (£9.70+£4.00) B D 13.70 13.70

300 0000 000 9390 Extra parcel fee for enquiry number 22 (each) B S/D Nil Nil

300 0000 000 9390 Additional Solicitor's own Enquiries B D 12.50 12.50

300 0000 000 9390 LLC1 (Official Certificate of Search) B D 26.00 26.00

300 0000 000 9390 Each additional parcel Nil Nil

300 0000 000 9390 LLC1 in any one part of the register Nil Nil

Search Fees :

300 0000 000 9390 Con 29O - part 2 enquire 4-21 S D 8.50 8.50

300 0000 000 9390 Con 29O - part 2 enquire 22 S S/D 17.00 17.00

300 0000 000 9390 Con 29R - part 1 enquiry S D 88.20 88.20

300 0000 000 9390 Personal Searches B S Nil Nil

300 0000 000 9390 Each additional parcel (up to a maximum of £16.00) B D Nil Nil

300 0000 000 9390 Registration of a charge in Part 11 of the Register (Light Obstruction Notice) Nil Nil

300 0000 000 9390 Filing a definitive certificate of the Lands Tribunal under rule 10(3) of the Local Land Charges Rules 1977 Nil Nil

300 0000 000 9390 Filing a judgement, order or application for the variation or cancellation of any entry in Part 11 of the Nil Nil

300 0000 000 9390 Inspection of documents filed under rule 10 in respect of each parcel of land Nil Nil

300 0000 000 9390 Office copy of any entry in the register (not including a copy or extract of any plan or document filed Nil Nil

Building Control

005 0000 000 9381 Building Regs - Plan deposits S S Variable Variable

Forward Planning, Countryside and Street Naming

164



R

e

s

p

oDept GL Code Charge Description VAT Rate

Statutory/ 

Discretionary

Current Charge 2018/19     

(excl VAT)

Proposed Charge 

2019/20      (excl VAT)

457 0000 000 9388 Re-name of House Name S D 79.96 79.96

457 0000 000 9388 New Properties up to 10 plots S D 119.94 119.94

457 0000 000 9388 New Properties more than 10 plots S D 199.90 199.90

457 0000 000 9388 New Street Name Plate S D 159.96 159.96

Sustainable Communities

003 0000 000 9429 All Holiday Activities are individually priced D 0.00 0.00

Strategic Housing

256 0000 000 9358 HMO Licence Fees B D/S 399.00 399.00

256 0000 000 9380 HMO Enforcement Fees B S 215.25 215.25

256 0000 000 9340 Caravan Site Inspection Fee B S Variable Variable

257 0000 000 9901 Hostel Room Charges - Rent B S 69.37 69.37

257 0000 000 9901 Hostel Room Charges - Service Charge B S 20.63 20.63

257 0000 000 9901 Flat charges - Rent B S 63.48 63.48

257 0000 000 9901 Flat charges - Service Charge B S 26.52 26.52

257 0000 000 9901 Chasing outstanding rent deposit debtors Variable Variable

257 0000 000 9901 B&B Charges Variable Variable

263 0000 000 9411 Rechargeable Works (including welfare burials) - Recovery of costs + 10% estimated S D 1,200.00 1,500.00

263 0000 000 9418 Breckland Key Select - Non Members Landlords charge S D 90.00 90.00

263 0000 000 9418 Breckland Key Select - Members Landlords charge S D 65.00 65.00

263 0000 000 9418 Breckland Key Select - Membership Fee - based on stock holding S D 6,580.00 6,580.00

204 0000 000 9396 Nightly stopping charge per unit B D Nil Nil

204 0000 000 9396 Per caravan per night B D 5.25 5.00

204 0000 000 9396 Per caravan per week B D 36.75 35.00

2 caravans per family charged as follows:

204 0000 000 9396 per night B D 5.25 5.00

204 0000 000 9396 per week B D 10.50 10.00

Breckland Training Services

557 0000 263 9344 Delivery of external training S D Variable Variable

165



1 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England 
 
These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards. 
 
This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed 
Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended) 
 
The fee should be paid at the time the application is submitted. If you are unsure of the fee 
applicable, please contact your Local Planning Authority. 
 
Outline Applications 
£462 per 0.1 hectare for sites up to and 
including 2.5 hectares 

Not more than 2.5 
hectares 

£462 per 0.1 hectare 

£11,432 + £138 for each 0.1 in excess of 
2.5 hectares to a maximum of £150,000 

More than 2.5 
hectares 

£11,432 + £138 per 0.1 
hectare 

 
Householder Applications 
Alterations/extensions to a single 
dwellinghouse, including works within 
boundary 

Single 
dwellinghouse 

£206 

 
Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
Alterations/extensions to two or more 
dwellinghouses, including works within 
boundaries 

Two or more 
dwellinghouses (or 
two or more flats)  

£407 

New dwellinghouses (up to and 
including 50) 

New 
dwellinghouses 
(not more than 50) 

£462 per dwellinghouse 

New dwellinghouses (for more than 50) 
£22,859 + £138 per additional 
dwellinghouse in excess of 50 up to a 
maximum fee of £300,000 

New 
dwellinghouses 
(more than 50) 

£22,859 + £138 per 
additional dwellinghouse 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

166

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2920/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/changes/affected/uksi/2012/2920
https://1app.planningportal.co.uk/YourLpa/FindYourLpa


2 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of buildings (not dwellinghouses, agricultural, glasshouses, plant nor machinery): 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

No increase in 
gross floor space 
or no more than 
40 sq m 

£234 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 40 sq m 
but no more than  
75 sq m 

£462 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 75 sq m 
but no more than  
3,750 sq m 

£462 for each 75sq m or 
part thereof 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 3,750 
sq m 

£22,859 + £138 for each 
additional 75 sq m in excess 
of 3,750 sq m to a 
maximum of £300,000 

The erection of buildings (on land used for agriculture for agricultural purposes) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 465 sq 
m but not more 
than 540 sq m 

£462 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 540 sq 
m but not more 
than 4,215 sq m 

£462 for first 540 sq m + 
£462 for each 75 sq m (or 
part thereof) in excess of 
540 sq m 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 4,215 
sq m   

£22,859 + £138 for each 75 
sq m (or part thereof) in 
excess of 4,215 sq m up to a 
maximum of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

167



3 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Full Applications 
(and First Submissions of Reserved Matters; or Technical Details Consent) 
continued… 
Erection of glasshouses (on land used for the purposes of agriculture) 
Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

Not more than 465 
sq m 

£96 

Gross floor space to be created by the 
development 

More than 465 sq 
m  

£2,580 

Erection/alterations/replacement of plant and machinery 
Site area Not more than 5 

hectares 
£462 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 5 
hectares 

£22,859 + additional £138 
for each 0.1 hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 5 
hectares to a maximum of 
£300,000 

 
Applications other than Building Works 
Car parks, service roads or other 
accesses 

For existing uses £234 

Waste (Use of land for disposal of refuse or waste materials or deposit of material remaining 
after extraction or storage of minerals) 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + £138 for each 0.1 
hectare (or part thereof) in 
excess of 15 hectares up to 
a  maximum of £78,000 

Operations connected with exploratory drilling for oil or natural gas 
Site area Not more than 7.5 

hectares 
£508 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 7.5 
hectares 

£38,070  + additional £151 
for each 0.1 hectare (or part 
thereof) in excess of 7.5 
hectares up to a maximum 
of £300,000 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

168



4 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Applications other than Building Works continued… 
Operations (other than exploratory drilling) for the winning and working of oil or 
natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£257 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£38,520 + additional £151 
for each 0.1 in excess of 15 
hectare up to a maximum of 
£78,000 

Other operations (winning and working of minerals) excluding oil and natural gas 
Site area Not more than 15 

hectares 
£234 for each 0.1 hectare 
(or part thereof) 

Site area More than 15 
hectares 

£34,934 + additional £138 
for each 0.1 in excess of 15 
hectare up to a maximum of 
£78,000 

Other operations (not coming within any of the above categories) 
Site area Any site area £234 for each 0.1 hectare 

(or part thereof) up to a 
maximum of £2,028 

 
Lawful Development Certificate  
Existing use or operation Same as Full 
Existing use or operation - lawful not to comply with any 
condition or limitation   

£234   

Proposed use or operation Half the normal planning 
fee. 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

169



5 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Prior Approval  
Agricultural and Forestry buildings & operations or demolition 
of buildings 

£96 

Communications (previously referred to as 
‘Telecommunications Code Systems Operators’) 

£462 

Proposed Change of Use to State Funded School or Registered 
Nursery 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
State-Funded School or Registered Nursery 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a flexible 
use within Shops, Financial and Professional services, 
Restaurants and Cafes, Business, Storage or Distribution, 
Hotels, or Assembly or Leisure 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from Office (Use Class 
B1) Use to a use falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse) 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), where there are no Associated 
Building Operations 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of Agricultural Building to a 
Dwellinghouse (Use Class C3), and Associated Building 
Operations 

£206 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class 
A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential Use to a use 
falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), where there are 
no Associated Building Operations 

£96 

Proposed Change of Use of a building from a Retail (Use Class 
A1 or A2) Use or a Mixed Retail and Residential Use to a use 
falling within Use Class C3 (Dwellinghouse), and  Associated 
Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change Of Use from 
Storage or Distribution Buildings (Class B8) and any land 
within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from 
Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) 
and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3) 

£96 

 
Continued on next page… 
  

170



6 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Prior Approval continued… 
Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from 
Amusement Arcades/Centres and Casinos, (Sui Generis Uses) 
and any land within its curtilage to Dwellinghouses (Class C3), 
and  Associated Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1), Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1), Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops and Casinos (Sui Generis 
Uses) to Restaurants and Cafés (Class A3), and  Associated 
Building Operations 

£206 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Change of Use from Shops 
(Class A1) and Financial and Professional Services (Class A2), 
Betting Offices, Pay Day Loan Shops (Sui Generis Uses) to 
Assembly and Leisure Uses (Class D2) 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for a Development Consisting 
of the Erection or Construction of a Collection Facility within 
the Curtilage of a Shop 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for the Temporary Use of 
Buildings or Land for the Purpose of Commercial Film-Making 
and the Associated Temporary Structures, Works, Plant or 
Machinery required in Connection with that Use 

£96 

Notification for Prior Approval for the Installation, Alteration 
or Replacement of other Solar Photovoltaics (PV) equipment 
on the Roofs of Non-domestic Buildings, up to a Capacity of 1 
Megawatt 

£96 

 
Reserved Matters 
Application for approval of reserved matters following outline 
approval 

Full fee due or if full fee 
already paid then £462 due 

 
Continued on next page… 
 
  

171



7 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Approval/Variation/discharge of condition 
Application for removal or variation of a condition following 
grant of planning permission 

£234 

Request for confirmation that one or more planning 
conditions have been complied with 

£34 per request for  
Householder otherwise 
£116 per request 

 
Change of Use of a building to use as one or more separate dwellinghouses, or 
other cases 
Number of dwellinghouses Not more than 50  

dwellinghouses 
£462 for each 

Number of dwellinghouses More than 50 
dwellinghouses 

£22,859 + £138 for each in 
excess of 50 up to a 
maximum of £300,000 

Other Changes of Use of a building or land £462 
 
Advertising  
Relating to the business on the premises £132 
Advance signs which are not situated on or visible from 
the site, directing the public to a business 

£132 

Other advertisements £462 
 
Application for a Non-material Amendment Following a Grant of Planning 
Permission  
Applications in respect of householder developments £34 
Applications in respect of other developments £234 
 
Application for Permission in Principle (valid from 1 June 2018) 
Site area £402 for each 0.1 hectare 

(or part thereof) 
 
Continued on next page… 
  

172



8 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Concessions 
Please note: Not all concessions are valid for all application types. Upon receipt of your 
application, the local authority will check the fee is correct and if the concession is applicable. 
Exemptions from payment 
An application solely for the alteration or extension of an existing dwellinghouse; or works in 
the curtilage of an existing dwellinghouse (other than the erection of a dwellinghouse) for 
the purpose of providing: 
• Means of access to or within it for a disabled person who is resident in it, or is proposing 

to take up residence in it; or 
• Facilities designed to secure that person's greater safety, health or comfort. 
An application solely for the carrying out of the operations for the purpose of providing a 
means of access for disabled persons to or within a building or premises to which members 
of the public are admitted. 
Listed Building Consent 
Planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
Works to Trees covered by a Tree Preservation Order or in a Conservation Area 
Hedgerow Removal 
If the application is the first revision of an application for development of the same character 
or description on the same site by the same applicant: 
• For a withdrawn application: Within 12 months of the date the application was received 
• For a determined application: Within 12 months of the date the application was granted, 

refused or an appeal dismissed 
• For an application where an appeal was made on the grounds of non-determination: 

Within 12 months of the period when the giving of notice of a decision on the earlier valid 
application expired 

If the application is for a lawful development certificate, for existing use, where an 
application for planning permission for the same development would be exempt from the 
need to pay a planning fee under any other planning fee regulation 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement following either a withdrawal of 
an earlier application (before notice of decision was issued) or where the application is made 
following refusal of consent for display of an advertisement, and where the application is 
made by or on behalf of the same person 
If the application is for consent to display an advertisement which results from a direction 
under Regulation 7 of the 2007 Regulations, dis-applying deemed consent under Regulation 
6 to the advertisement in question  
 If the application is for alternative proposals for the same site by the same applicant, in 
order to benefit from the permitted development right in Schedule 2 Part 3 Class V of the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) 
 
Continued on next page… 

173



9 
 

Planning Portal - Application Fees England - January 2018 – V2018.1.2 

Concessions continued… 
Please note: Not all concessions are valid for all application types. Upon receipt of your 
application, the local authority will check the fee is correct and if the concession is applicable. 
Exemptions from payment continued… 
If the application relates to a condition or conditions on an application for Listed Building 
Consent or planning permission for relevant demolition in a Conservation Area 
If the application is for a Certificate of Lawfulness of Proposed Works to a listed building 
Prior Approval for a Proposed Larger Home Extension 
Reductions to payments 
If the application is being made on behalf of a non-profit making sports club for works for 
playing fields not involving buildings then the fee is £462 
If the application is being made on behalf of a parish or community council then the fee is 
50% 
If the application is an alternative proposal being submitted on the same site by the same 
applicant on the same day, where this application is of lesser cost then the fee is 50% 
In respect of reserved matters you must pay a sum equal to or greater than what would be 
payable at current rates for approval of all the reserved matters.  If this amount has already 
been paid then the fee is £462 
If the application is for a Lawful Development Certificate for a Proposed use or development, 
then the fee is 50% 
If two or more applications are submitted for different proposals on the same day and 
relating to the same site then you must pay the fee for the highest fee plus half sum of the 
others 
Where an application crosses one or more local or district planning authorities, the Planning 
Portal fee calculator will only calculate a cross boundary application fee as 150% of the fee 
that would have been payable if there had only been one application to a single authority 
covering the entire site.  
 
If the fee for this divided site is smaller when the sum of the fees payable for each part of the 
site are calculated separately, you will need to contact the lead local authority to discuss the 
fee for this divided site. 
 
The fee should go to the authority that contains the larger part of the application site. 
 
ENDS 

174



Reserve statement Appendix E

01/04/18 IN OUT 01/04/19 IN OUT 01/04/20 IN OUT 01/04/21 IN OUT 01/04/22 IN OUT 01/04/23

Reserve £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Commercial Assets (476) (30) 176 (330) (82) 74 (338) (82) 46 (373) (82) 26 (428) (82) 28 (482)

Purpose - Money received from tenants to provide funding for Commercial Property repairs and maintenance

Community Projects (1,498) (1,786) 1,284 (2,000) (1,480) 983 (2,497) (1,141) 26 (3,612) (876) 18 (4,470) (411) 18 (4,863)

Purpose - To provide funds for community projects 

General Fund (2,669) 0 0 (2,669) 0 0 (2,669) 0 0 (2,669) 0 0 (2,669) 0 0 (2,669)

Purpose - To offer a prudent level of contingency against unexpected events

Insurance (43) (5) 6 (42) (5) 0 (47) (5) 0 (52) (5) 0 (57) (5) 0 (62)

Purpose - To self insure for items not covered by the Council's insurance

Growth & Investment (6,166) (1,659) 1,037 (6,788) (1,201) 1,583 (6,406) (324) 1,306 (5,424) 0 3,000 (2,424) 0 1,201 (1,223)

Purpose - To fund purchase of Assets to generate an ongoing income

John Room House Major Replacements (45) (8) 34 (19) (8) 6 (20) (8) 6 (22) (8) 6 (23) (8) 6 (25)

Purpose - To meet commitments not covered by the annual maintenance programme

LABGI (17) 0 17 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Purpose - To fund schemes that encourage business growth and development

LDF (56) 0 56 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Purpose - To provide funds for planning related projects

Organisational Development (2,546) (516) 2,656 (406) (184) 316 (273) (227) 22 (478) (227) 0 (705) (227) 0 (932)

Purpose - To provide funding for one off corporate projects or invest to save initiatives

PFI (35) 0 0 (35) 0 0 (35) 0 0 (35) 0 0 (35) 0 0 (35)

Purpose - To provide funding for future benchmarking costs for the leisure facility

Revenue & Benefits (1,761) (614) 500 (1,875) (614) 0 (2,489) (614) 0 (3,103) (614) 0 (3,717) (614) 0 (3,831)

Purpose - To cover housing benefit local authority error threshold, business rate losses and council tax pressures

Revenue Grants (1,595) (275) 1,700 (171) (207) 180 (197) 0 64 (132) 0 2 (131) 0 0 (131)

Purpose - To hold specific grants which cross over more than one financial year

Revenue Match Funding (496) 0 496 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Purpose - To provide funds for community projects 

Waste & Recyling (100) 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Purpose - To provide specific funding as budgeted

Total (17,503) (14,335) (14,971) (15,900) (14,660) (14,753)

175



Appendix F 

Sensitivity Analysis 
We have calculated a sensitivity analysis of our key variables in order to quantify the 
potential financial impact on the budget.  These sensitivities are shown below. 
 
Business Rates Retention sensitivity 
This area carries a high level of risk for the Council as the retained business rates scheme is 
based on a cash amount and therefore reduced cash receivable will impact the Council and 
this risk increases with the 75% retention scheme from 2020-21. 
 
A ‘Safety Net’ is in place to protect local authorities from large decreases in Business Rates 
income, for Breckland the maximum income lost for 2019-20 would be around £3,949k (or a 
32% reduction in overall business rates).  There is currently £1,169k in the revenues and 
benefits reserve allocated to protect the Council in any one year from a significant loss in 
business rates income. 
 
An allowance for lost income relating to Business Rates appeals is already incorporated into 
the estimated retained income.  The appeals level for future years is set based on expected 
appeals under the new ‘Check-Challenge-Appeal’ system.  Each 0.5% change in the appeals 
level equates to an overall change of £223k (around £89k effect to Breckland). 
 
The assumed Business Rates collection rate is 99% which has historically been achieved, 
any reduction in collection rate will reduce the income retained by the Council. 
 
Return on cash investments sensitivity 
Another factor outside of the Council’s control is interest rates, investment income will be 
closely monitored and our return on investments will not be at the expense of security and 
liquidity. 

Avg rate 
of return Average cash balances 

  14,209,000  19,209,000  24,209,000  29,209,000  34,209,000  

  Annual investment income 

0.450% 63,941  86,441  108,941  131,441  153,941  

0.950% 134,986  182,486  229,986  277,486  324,986  

1.450% 206,031  278,531  351,031  423,531  496,031  

1.950% 277,076  374,576  472,076  569,576  667,076  

 
Contract Inflation Sensitivity 
Many of the Council’s major contracts are in some way linked to differing inflation rates.  The 
table below shows the financial impact of percentage increases/decreases above the 
inflation rates budgeted for in 2019-20 for the Council’s major value contracts. 

  
% inflation increase/decrease compared to budgeted 

figure 

Contract Area +/- 0.5% +/- 1.0% +/- 1.5% +/- 2.0% 

Waste Collection 24,919  49,839  74,758  99,677  

Leisure PFI 11,150  22,300  33,451  44,601  

Planning & Building Control 11,590  23,179  34,769  46,359  

TOTAL 47,659  95,318  142,978  190,637  

 
Any increase would have a compounding financial effect on future years contract costs. 
 
 
 
 
 

176



Additional Capital Expenditure Sensitivity 
Additional capital expenditure above that budgeted for creates an additional revenue cost as 
a result of lost interest on the funds which would previously have been invested.  The table 
below shows the effect of additional capital spend on the revenue budget. 

Capital 
Spend 

Amount 

Additional Cost to Revenue Budget 

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 

£250,000 £2,375 £3,450 £3,875 

£500,000 £4,750 £6,900 £7,750 

£1,000,000 £9,500 £13,800 £15,500 

 
If borrowing was required to fund a capital programme this would also have an impact on the 
revenue budget.   
Borrowing of £1m over 10 years would have the following revenue cost per year: 

  Year 1 
Cumulative 

10 year 

Interest (based on PWLB rate of 1.88%)          21,400         121,435  

Provision for repayment of principal          90,744      1,000,000  

Total Revenue Cost        112,144      1,121,435  

 
 
 

177



 
PART 1 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
Breckland Council renews its Capital Strategy on an annual basis. This ensures a 
strategy that maintains a strong and current link to our Corporate Plan.  

 
Extract from Corporate Plan 
…….“Breckland Council has always been a forward-thinking, entrepreneurial 
authority.  We continue to strive for excellence and we deliver great value for money 
for our residents while making the most of the huge opportunities for economic 
growth in our district”………. 
 
…..Corporate Plan priorities are: 

 Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive 

 Providing the right services, at the right time and in the right way 

 Developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth 

 Enabling stronger, more independent communities 

 
This Strategy aims to drive the authority’s capital investment ambition whilst ensuring 
capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management are appropriately 
aligned and managed to support sustainable, long term delivery of services.  
 
This strategy has been updated to incorporate the revised Ministry for Communities, 
Housing and Local Government (MCHLG)  statutory guidance on Local Government 
Investments, included in the updated Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury management and the Prudential 
Code) effective from 01/04/2018) 
 
The key changes arising from the new guidance are: 
1 The definition of an investment which now covers financial and non-financial 

investments  
2 The extension of the role of the S151 Officer 

 
This Capital Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to commercial activity and it’s 
policies and investment management practices for those non-financial investments.   
 
The Council’s Treasury Management Policies and Prudential Indicators have been 
amended to include both a definition of and a schedule of financial and non-financial 
investments.  New indicators have been added to the Treasury management 
Strategy to ensure the same robust procedures for the consideration of risk and 
return are applied to both financial and non-financial investments. (Governance & 
Audit Committee 14th December 2018 & Council 24th January 2019) 
 
The management and monitoring of the Treasury Management Policies and 
Prudential indicators (for financial and non-financial investments) remains the 
responsibility of Full Council (via the Governance and Audit Committee).   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Capital Strategy  
2019/20 – 2022/23 

178



 
 
 
The Strategy is set out as follows: 
 
1.0 Introduction 
2.0  Core strategy principles 
3.0 Strategic context 
4.0 Non-financial investments 
5.0 Capital resources and financing 
6.0 Framework for management and monitoring 
7.0 Risk and mitigation 

  

179



 
PART 2 

 
2.0 CORE STRATEGY 

 
This Core strategy explains how we will manage our capital resources to deliver our 
current and foreseeable capital programme. From 2019 to 2023 the Council is likely 
to need significant investment to advance the priorities stated within its corporate 
plan and will need to adopt a responsive and flexible approach to how it invests in 
services.  In order to deliver the corporate plan priorities we need to deliver 
efficiencies, seek additional funding and periodically review both the consumption of 
our capital resources and our stated priorities. We will ensure this happens through 
these 5 core principles:  
 

Principle 1 – Managing the impact of investment decisions on our revenue budgets 

We will do this by, 

 Ensuring capital investment decisions do not place additional pressure on 
Council Tax or our Medium Term Financial Plan 

 Promoting capital investment which allows either invest to save outcomes or 
generates revenue/capital income to support the objectives of the Council 

 Setting a rolling 3-5 year capital programme annually and identify future 
risks/unfunded items to support longer term decision making /prioritisation 

Principle 2 - Ensure decisions to invest are transparent and demonstrate the extent 
to which the capital invested is placed at risk including the impact of any potential 
losses on the financial sustainability of the Council is understood 

We will do this by, 

 Maintaining a schedule of financial and non-financial investments  

 Using performance Indicators to ensure the proportionality of all investments 
so that the Council does not undertake a level of investing which exposes 
the authority to an excessive level of risk compared to its financial resources 

 Using Treasury Management Practices (TMP’s) which specifically deal with 
how non treasury investments will be carried out and managed 

 Ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the authority 

Principle 3 – Optimise the availability of capital funding where that funding supports 
the priorities of Breckland Council 

We will do this by, 

 Disposal of surplus or poor performing assets and use the funds to reinvest 

 Having effective working relationships with potential funders 

 Listening to and support effective partnering arrangements 

 Accessing external funding wherever possible 

Principle 4 – Ensure we have an effective approval process and pre/post project 
appraisal 

We will do this by, 

 Ensuring a system of competition exists for project approval – bid forms 

 Due diligence in project appraisal, fully considering project risk 

 Robust financial evaluation, carefully considering VFM and Efficiency of 
every project and outcomes 

 Ensuring our capital schemes use appropriate project management tools 
appropriate to the project’s size 

Principle 5 – Ensure effective performance reporting and management of capital 
programme 

We will do this by, 

 Reporting on the capital programme via monthly financial reporting and 
quarterly Cabinet reporting 

 Ensuring responsibility for the delivery of the capital programme is clearly 
defined and the relevant parties have adequate expertise  

180



 
 
 

PART 3 
 

3.0 STRATEGIC CONTEXT 
 
3.1 Aims of the Capital strategy 

 
The aim of this strategy is to ensure delivery of the Corporate Plan Priorities and 
ensure support for the delivery of the Council’s core functions.   
 
Specific aims are to ensure: 

 Physical assets and related resources are efficiently and effectively used to 
support the Breckland Council Corporate Plan.  

 Issues related to property and other assets are fully reflected in the Council’s 
planning, specifically adequate funds for maintenance are available and 
prioritised to the assets which generate the majority of income; 

 The strategy itself is a useful tool to assist stakeholders understanding of the 
Council’s decision making process and project management of its capital 
investments; 

 Adequate provision is made for delivering corporate priorities and  
demonstrated through effective resource allocation; 

 Invest to save and invest to earn projects and projects which generate an 
ongoing revenue return or economic benefits are encouraged; 

 The Council works within the prudential code framework and demonstrates 
robust and linked capital and treasury management;  

 The Investment Strategy (Assets) provides an adopted position on how the 
Council will manage its cash, reserves and funding within a given timeframe 
to manage the risk of limited availability of cash and reserves whilst 
developing a balanced portfolio of investment opportunities to provide the 
potential for significant longer term return to the Council and the District, with 
associated benefits to the economy through rising wage levels and a better 
skilled workforce. 

 Review of the asset management plans to identify surplus or poor 
performing assets which can move through a disposal process to generate 
new capital resources; 

 Capital spending plans are affordable and integrated with the Medium Term  
Plan (MTP); 

 Inward investment into the district is encouraged and innovative approaches 
to investment such as partnerships with the Private Sector, collaborative 
arrangements with other Local Authorities and creation of new delivery 
vehicles 

 Resources are managed to meet our short, medium and longer term  
Corporate priorities  

3.1 Strategic Links 
 
This strategy is a high level summary of Breckland Council’s approach to capital 
investment. It guides the development of service capital plans, and sets out the 
policies and practices that the authority uses to establish monitor and manage the 
Council’s capital programme, in line with the MTP.  
 
The priorities in the corporate plan provide the backdrop to the MTP which in turn 
ensures all new resources, be it revenue or capital, are allocated through the 
principles on which it is based. 

 
 
 
 
 

181



 
 
 
 
 

This strategy is linked to a number of corporate strategies and initiatives, 
underpinned by the Breckland Council Corporate Plan. The key strategies and 
initiatives impacting on capital are:  
 

 Corporate Asset Management Strategy (part 4 of this strategy) 

 Risk Management Policy (part 7 of this strategy) 

 Investment Strategy (Assets) 

 Treasury Management and Investment Strategy 

 Medium Term Financial Plan (MTP) 

 ICT Strategy 

 Digital Strategy 

 Housing Strategy 
 

  
3.2       ICT Strategy 

 
The ICT Strategy is used to manage the assets which are the communications and 
computer systems and infrastructure.  Delivery of the service is managed in house.    
Funding is allocated for this in the capital programme and over the longer term the 
ICT service will provide revenue funding (through savings) to cover future capital 
investment. 

 
3.3       Digital Strategy 

 
The strategy vision is to provide high quality, easy-to-use services that are designed 
with customers in mind, delivered efficiently with improved value for money.  
The strategy aims are to give staff and elected Members the right digital tools and 
training to work ‘smarter’, minimise internal costs of services and generate revenue 
by making it easier and more convenient to pay online and use digital marketing to 
promote our traded services.  ICT is the foundation for delivery of the digital strategy 
and funding will be allocated in the capital programme as appropriate. 
 
 

3.4 Housing 
 
This capital strategy can support the housing needs of the Council, stimulating good 
quality new build housing and enabling delivery of affordable housing and temporary 
accommodation.  Section 106 affordable Housing Contributions will be applied to 
support the council’s housing ambitions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

182



 
 
 
 
 

PART 4 
 
4.0 NON-FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS 
 
4.1 Corporate Asset Management Strategy 
 
4.2 The Corporate Asset Management Strategy 2012-20 is a high level summary of the 

Council’s overall approach to the strategic management of its land and building 
assets.  It is linked to the vision and priorities of the Council to provide a policy 
direction for the effective and efficient use of the Council’s assets for the benefit of 
the residents.  
 

4.3 The Council has split the management of its Operational Assets into the Place 
portfolio and the Investment Assets into the Commercialisation portfolio to recognise 
the different requirements of the asset base. For the investment asset portfolio an 
assessment of the level of maintenance required for the properties has been made 
and this assessment will feature in both capital and revenue budgets, as it is 
important that the quality of the stock is maintained in order to sustain 
performance.  The available capital budgets will be prioritised to those assets which 
generate the majority of income. The income generated by the Commercial Property 
Account supports other spending in the district and helps keep the council tax low.   
 

4.4 The Authority continually seeks to identify assets that are surplus and to undertake 
disposals accordingly.  This not only brings in a capital receipt but maintenance costs 
and liabilities are reduced.  As a principle we will review and dispose of underutilised 
or poor performing assets and ensure that the top performing assets are adequately 
maintained. Assets that fail to meet the required yield that will be sought to be 
disposed of so that the capital receipt can be re-invested into other higher performing 
assets to create a stronger return profile and generate additional revenue income   
 

4.5 Breckland Bridge Ltd 
Breckland Bridge Ltd undertakes development of the Council’s land and property 
assets to generate a positive financial return.  For each project, subject to agreement 
the Council will provide a shareholder loan which will earn interest at market rates, 
supporting the Council’s revenue budget.  The Council may also provide an 
additional construction loan subject to agreement.  
 

4.6 The table below provides the gross book values of the council’s Assets including 
those assets which are held primarily for financial return (non-financial investments).    
 
Table 1 – Breckland Council’s Fixed Assets  

Asset Type Valuation  

 £’000s 
2018 

£’000s 
2017 

Community      328       334 

Heritage       211       204 

Infrastructure    1,110         1,110 

Investment  26,392  24,611 

Intangible 1,159       1,082 

Property Plant & Equipment  36,207  37,663 

Assets Held for Sale 10 0 

Finance leases 9,832 9,854 

Total  75,249          74,858 

 
This table sets out the gross value of assets by category as at 31st March for the last 
2 years. The value of the finance leases is the outstanding sum as at 31st March. 

 

183



4.7 When seeking to make Commercial Investments, the Council will ensure the same 
robust procedures for the consideration of risk and return are applied as is for 
Treasury Investments.   

 
4.8 In respect of security of investment, the Council will use the scoring matrix (Appendix 

A) as an indicator of whether to pursue a commercial investment and then undertake 
further due diligence if appropriate.  Whilst yield is a determining factor, due 
consideration will be given to the risks relating to: 

1. failure to create income/exposure to market changes 
2. covenant strength/possibility of arrears 
3. ongoing management/maintenance of the asset 
4. lease arrangements  
5. exposure in one sector 
6. exposure to one/few tenants 
7. exposure to one locality 

 
On an ongoing basis, following purchase of an asset, risks will be monitored.  Risks 
1-4 above are operational risks currently reported on through the Council’s 
performance reporting system, Pentana (as detailed at 4.11).  Risks 5 -7 will be 
reported on Pentana from 01/04/2019 as operational risks.  If risks are red for two 
quarters they will get flagged and potentially be raised as strategic risks. 
 
The risks will be defined and measured as follows: 
 
Exposure in one sector – market information will be monitored and an assessment 
made as to whether that impacts at a local level.  eg local and national sector 
forecasts, investment activity and yields from professional journals/agents. 
 
Exposure to one/few tenants – 10% of the Councils rental income equates to 
approximately £300k.  If one tenant equates to 10% or more of the rental income 
stream then we will review the investment decision and existing tenants will be kept 
under review in respect of this threshold. 
 
Exposure to locality – The Council’s Commercial investment strategy focuses 
investment in the Breckland District but market information will be monitored and an 
assessment made as to whether that impacts at a local level eg local and national 
sector forecasts, investment activity and yields from professional journals/agents. 
 
Liquidity of investments is considered at 4.10 below as part of the wider issue of 
proportionality. 
 

The Performance Indicators (PIs) are monitored at Performance Board, which is 
officer based group chaired by the Director of Strategy and Governance.  Services 
are asked to attend this board when indicators are Red or Amber in order to escalate 
issues and seek explanations.  This is a monthly board.  Alongside Performance 
Board, Performance Indicators are reported to Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 
a quarterly basis where the Corporate Improvement team provide members with 
context in the report such as issues as to why the PI is red or amber and what the 
service is doing to try and improve performance. 
 

4.9 All bids for funding including non-financial investments will be appraised in line with 
the project evaluation criteria set out in section 6 and significant projects will adopt 
the Council’s risk management framework and use the risk scoring matrix to assess 
risk. 

 
4.10 In respect of commercial investments, new indicators are included in the Treasury 

Management strategy to monitor the extent to which the Council relies on income 
generating activity to achieve a balanced budget (proportionality indicator).  
Proportionality in this sense describes the size and risk of commercial activities with 
regards to the Council’s operating and reserves activities.  Should the Council 
undertake any borrowing, it’s maximum exposure to borrowing costs will not exceed 
£500,000.   

  
184



4.11 The Council recognises the importance of managing the performance of its assets 
and the Corporate Asset Management Strategy 2012-20 features performance 
targets which are reported on the Council’s performance management system  

 
 

Performance Indicators Description Frequency 

BSCPIND001 Commercial Property Occupancy 98% Monthly 

BSCPIND002 Breckland Business Centre 
(Dereham) Occupancy 78% Monthly  

BSCPIND003 Breckland Business Centre 
(Thetford) Occupancy 96% Monthly  

BSCPIND004 Commercial Property Maintenance 
Backlog reduce liability Quarterly 

BSCPIND005 Commercial Property Condition 
Surveys 

No condition survey over 5 years 
old Quarterly 

BSCPIND006 Condition of Commercial Property 
Assets 

80% of investment assets at 
grade C or above Quarterly 

BSCPIND007 Commercial Property Rent Arrears less than 3% at 90+ days Monthly 

BSCPIND008 Breckland Business Centre 
(Dereham) Rental Income Gross income Monthly 

BSCPIND009 Breckland Business Centre 
(Thetford) Rental Income Gross income Monthly 

BSCPIND010 Commercial Property Average Yield 
Net yield across the investment 
assets Half yearly 

BSCPIND011 Commercial Property Gross Rental 
Income Gross income Monthly 

BSCPIND013 Property Gross Capital Income 
Gross income from asset 
disposals Yearly 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

185



PART 5 
 

 
5.0 CAPITAL RESOURCES AND FINANCING 

 
5.1 Capital Resources  

 
The Local Government Act 2003, which includes the legislation for the capital finance 
system, does not specify what precisely constitutes capital expenditure. Instead it: 

 Refers to “expenditure of the authority which falls to be capitalised in 
accordance with proper practices”. 

 Enables the Secretary of State to prescribe by regulation which local authority 
expenditure shall be treated as capital expenditure and which shall not be 
treated as capital expenditure (SI 3146 as amended). 

 Enables the Secretary of State to prescribe by regulation that the spending of 
a particular local authority shall, or shall not, be treated as capital 
expenditure. 

 
The Council will set a de-minimus limit of £20,000 for expenditure to be considered 
for capitalisation providing it meets the criteria for capitalisation as per the capital 
regulations (SI 3146) and the CIPFA accounting code. 

 
Regulations state that expenditure on repair and maintenance which does not 
increase the life, value or extent of use of an asset is not deemed as capital 
expenditure.  The de-minimus is not applicable to capital grants which may be of any 
value and are made as a contribution to a larger capital scheme.  The Council 
sometimes receives directives that grant contributions are to be applied as Capital 
expenditure.  Should such directives be received, the Council will treat the grant as 
capital expenditure if the spend is deemed to meet grant conditions.  From time to 
time the Council needs to buy vehicles and equipment and a de-minimus of £10,000 
is applicable to vehicles and equipment. 
 
Table 2 sets out the position of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), adjusted 
for expected capital programme spend and forecast sources of funding as at October 
2018.   
 

There is an underlying need to borrow from 2020/21 as shown in table 2.  Borrowing 
will only take place after full consideration of the need for and the implications of 
borrowing.  Table 2 represents the Council’s spending ambitions but release of 
funding is subject to approval.  The scope for new investment is limited unless 
additional capital receipts or funding is generated or external borrowing takes place.  
The Council will support the principle of lending on to Breckland Bridge or a separate 
entity which will create a funding need by the Council to ensure funding for projects is 
delivered in the most cost effective way and will consider any requests on an 
individual basis.  In addition it will fund on a project by project basis, if appropriate to 
improve Treasury returns.  Whilst all projects within the capital programme are 
approved, the funding is not released until a detailed report or if appropriate a Project 
Initiation Document (PID) is approved (see section 6).  
 
The CFR will need to be monitored closely to ensure future capital expenditure 
remains affordable, prudent and sustainable. The opening and closing balances 
include adjustments for PFI and Finance Leases which effectively reduce the 
available capital resources until such time as principal payments are received.  Any 
future decision on borrowing for capital projects would only be supported if the 
business case for the projects does not place additional cost pressure on the tax 
payer through the council tax charge.  The council would not undertake any un-
supported borrowing whilst it still has reasonable capital receipt resources available.  
However regulations require the Council to approve its ‘Prudential Indicators’ at least 
annually. 
 
 
 
 186



Table 2 – Summary of Estimated Capital Resources*   

Capital Financing requirement 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23 

  £000's £000's £000's £000's £000's 
Capital resources available @ beginning of year 

5,657 6,455 6,284 8,814 13,265 

Movement (Spend less funding & receipts) (7,480) (8,206) (5,250) (3,060) (8,194) 

CFR (1,823) (1,751) 1,034 5,754 5,071 

 
* based on assumed levels of activity at October 2018 
 

5.2 Capital Receipts 
 
The forward availability of capital receipts is an important part in both the timing and 
scope of the capital programme.  The Council is looking to manage it’s assets in such 
a way as to obtain best value and is looking at innovative ways of creating income 
such as Breckland Bridge Ltd where the Council is working with the private sector to 
manage and deliver increased investment and receipts.   There are plans to generate 
a significant capital receipt in 2019/20 from the sale of an asset. Surplus and poor 
performing assets are reviewed for potential disposal as part of the Council’s 
Corporate Asset management Strategy (see section 4) with re-investment in higher 
performing assets and the Council’s focus on Commercialisation will ensure 
maximum return from council assets. 
   

5.3 Section 106 – Planning obligations  
 
When the Council adopts land for open space or play area the developer pays a 
commuted sum under a ‘section 106 agreement’. This is held on the balance sheet 
and the interest earned offsets the future maintenance costs of the recreation asset. 
The Council also seeks to secure the provision of infrastructure and facilities to 
mitigate the effects of development under section 106. 
 

5.4 External Grants and Contributions  
 
The partnership approach to service delivery is a core belief of the Council. Through 
its services, partnership working, supportive funding and innovation, the Council will 
seek to attract investment into the District. We seek to maximise external funding to 
support our programme. This tends to be for specific purposes.  Working with public 
and private sector partners we are able to make better use of Council money.   
Central government funding is likely to be constrained as capital for existing and new 
programmes continues to be reduced or deleted.   
 

5.5 Revenue contributions 
 
The Council’s budget and MTP sets out the approach to the allocation of reserve 
balances and this Council’s approach to managing its surplus cash. The budget 
makes provision for annual revenue contributions in support of some capital 
expenditure e.g. Elizabeth House ongoing maintenance, replacement air monitoring 
equipment.  Where applicable specific contributions are identified from reserves or 
revenue contributions from specific services (such as ICT).   

  
5.6 Balances and Reserves  

 
Breckland council continues to hold a healthy level of specific reserves. This reflects 
the robust financial management and policy decisions made in recent years and 
enables internal borrowing and cash flow to be managed.  However, reserves are 
mostly earmarked for specific projects, limiting funding for new initiatives.   
  
 
 
 

 
187



PART 6 
 
 

6.0 Framework for managing and monitoring performance 

Following approval of a capital project (as set out in section 2), there are several 
functions associated with the management of the approved Capital Programme:- 

 Allocation of capital funding 

 Release of capital funding 

 Monitoring and reporting of delivery of the capital programme 
 
Allocation of Capital Funding involves these functions: 

 The assessment of the available funding resources 

 Assessment of proposed schemes and business cases 

 Prioritisation of schemes 

 Recommendations of approval of schemes within the programme 

 Approval of change control to Capital schemes where this changes 
funding requirements 

 
These functions will be undertaken by Executive Management Team, Cabinet and 
Council.  In summary the capital budget is agreed annually along with any revenue 
implications, which are factored into revenue planning. The budget is set in 
accordance with the timetable laid out in the Medium Term Financial Plan.  The 
programme is approved by Council in January/February to allow schemes to 
commence during the following year.   A Bidding Form is used for all capital projects 
to enable indicative funding to be allocated to projects.   

 
Release of Funding will be by the Finance Board upon receipt of an appropriate 
report or PID document (depending on the scale of the project) to ensure it is 
deliverable.  Key staff charged with responsibility for delivery of the project will be 
invited to attend Finance Board as appropriate.  
 
Monitoring and reporting of progress of the delivery of Capital Programme involves 
these tasks: 

 Regular review of project progress and forecasting including achievement 
of key milestones, outputs and outcomes with post project reviews taking 
place depending on the scale of the project.   

 Management of risks and issues 

 Removal of barriers to delivery 

 Approval of any changes to schemes not requiring funding changes 

 Reporting on required funding changes 

 Post implementation review taking account of any corporate learning 
opportunities 

 
These tasks will be monitored and reported monthly in the Capital Financial 
Performance Report and through the Council’s Performance System (Pentana) if 
deemed appropriate. 
   
Budgets for individual schemes are assigned to lead officers who are responsible for 
delivering the project on time and to budget. The lead officers are responsible for 
managing capital projects, including Capital bid forms, risk assessment, checking 
parameters, PID’s, procurement, contract management, and post implementation 
reviews.  
 
Progressing schemes in accordance with agreed timescales is an important aspect to 
managing the capital programme.  Costs incurred compared to budget are monitored 
on a monthly basis in line with revenue budgetary control. 
 
 
 
 

188



Financial progress against the capital programme is reported to Cabinet on a 
quarterly basis as a minimum and more often as required.  This allows a continuous 
cycle of monitoring and forecasting. The bidding round will be conducted annually so 
that every year the 4 year programme is reviewed and refined and reflects the latest 
corporate priorities.  
 
Project Evaluation 
 
All capital projects need to be appraised according to existing project management 
guidance to inform the decision making process.  Options appraisals are also 
required to ensure value for money in achieving the project objectives and realising 
benefits.  Matters to be considered within the capital bidding process are: 
 

 Council Objective/Priority 

 Whole life cost of the proposal including the revenue effects * 

 Affordability and source of funding 

 Partnership involvement 

 Options appraisal 

 Risks 

 Improvements in service delivery 

 Customer facing outcomes 

 Other benefits and success criteria 

 Efficiencies and ongoing returns/capital receipts 

 In principle support from the Director and Portfolio Holder 

 Exit strategy 

 Timescales 
 

*Whole Life Costing (WLC) is defined in ISO Standard 15686-5. WLC shifts the emphasis of capital appraisal 
from comparing alternative construction/acquisition costs to a Value for Money approach by reviewing 
comparative costs over the life of the scheme. WLC will not always be appropriate for all prescribed aspects 
of the Council’s capital programme. 

 

Project evaluation should include the following activities: 

 Feasibility 

 Appraisal (to include report, financial appraisal, risk appraisal) 

 Budget 

 Monitoring and review 

 Outturn 
 
This will ensure that any capital scheme that feeds into the programme will comply 
with the principles of the Prudential Code: 

 Affordability  

 Sustainability 

 Prudence 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
189



PART 7 
 
7.0       RISK 

The Council is faced with diminishing capital finance and reduced access to grants 
and external funding which means the Council will need to monitor spend against 
available funds carefully to ensure that it does not spend or commit in advance of 
receiving funding.  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) will need to be 
monitored carefully.  Risk is therefore addressed throughout this strategy by setting 
out clearly how projects will appraised, approved, monitored and reported on.  The 
strategy is closely aligned to the Treasury Strategy which contains key performance 
indicators.  
 
Significant capital projects will be managed through the council’s performance 
system if appropriate.  All risks that may affect a project are considered. These can 
include political, economic, legal, technological, environmental and reputational as 
well as financial.  Large projects will use appropriate project management tools in 
accordance with the size of the project. 
 
Disinvestment initiatives will be followed through to ensure they perform as expected 
and as the Council diversifies its capital investment into areas such as loans to 
Breckland Bridge Ltd, exposure to non-repayment will be carefully managed through 
the contract management arrangements in place.    
 
A specific risk as a VAT registered body is the recovery of exempt VAT only up to a 
value of 5% of all the VAT it incurs.  This is known as the de-minimis limit.  
Monitoring and control of exempt input tax is essential for the council as where 
exempt input tax exceeds the 5% limit the whole amount is irrecoverable and will 
represent an additional cost to the council.  Each capital investment will be closely 
reviewed to assess its VAT implications. 
 

7.1       Sustainability 
 
Breckland Council is always mindful of proposals put forward by the MHCLG.  In 
conjunction with targets being proposed for all new homes to meet energy/carbon 
standards.   
 

7.2 Procurement 
 
The purchase of capital assets should be conducted in accordance with the 
Procurement Strategy, ensuring value for money, legality and sustainability at all 
times.  Contract standing orders and rules governing the disposal or write off of 
assets are contained in the Constitution which is continuously reviewed.  
Where capital spend involves a specific procurement process which differs from the 
standard process, we will adopt the principal that by approving the capital project we 
are also approving the specific procurement process. 
 

7.4 Value for Money 
 
The Council recognises that effective procurement lies at the heart of delivering value 
for money and is essential if the Council is to obtain real improvements to quality and 
service costs.  The Council seeks to achieve value for money by applying rigorous 
procurement standards in the selection of suppliers and contractors to ensure 
efficiency, economy and effectiveness is received throughout the life of a contract. 
The significant resources applied to capital expenditure require the adopted 
principles of value for money to be at the heart of our capital strategy. Specifically we 
will seek to strengthen the outcome indicators as part of post project reviews.  
 

7.5 Disposals  
 
Any proceeds from the disposal of assets such as land in excess of £10,000 are 
determined as a ‘capital receipt’. The policy to sell small pockets of land often brings 
in income of less than £10,000. This income is classed as ‘revenue income’ and is 
posted to the revenue income and expenditure account.   

190



 
 
 

Author Margaret Bailey 

Review Date September 2018 

Next Review September 2019 

Document Version V1 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

191



APPENDIX A

Breckland Council Property Investment Scoring Matrix

This scoring matrix can be used to assess at an early stage the potential attractiveness of an investment

The criteria has been weighted and each criteria is given a score of 0 to 4

The total score available is 300 Investment: XXXXXX

Date of Scoring: XXXXXX

 

4 3 2 1 0

Scoring Criteria Weighting Excellent Good Acceptable Marginal Unacceptable Score 0-4
Weighted Score

Location 8

Major prime Micro prime Major secondary Micro secondary Tertiary

0

Repair Liability 8

None Less than 5% capital 

value

Less than 10% capital 

value

Less than 20% capital 

value

Greater than 20% 

capital value

0

Tenancy Strength 7

Single tenant with 

strong financial 

covenant

Single tenant with good 

financial covenant

Multiple tenants with 

strong financial 

covenant

Multiple tenants with 

good financial covenant 

or vacant

Multiple tenants with 

poor financial covenant

0

Payback 7

5 years 5-10 years 10–15 years 15–20 years 20 years +

0

Tenure 5

Freehold Lease 125 years plus Lease between 50 & 

125 years

Lease between 20 & 50 

years

Lease less than 20 

years

0

Lease Term / Unexpired 

Term
3

10 years + 7–10 years 4–7 years 2–4 years Less than 2 years or 

vacant

0

Repairing Terms 2

FRI Internal repair 100% 

recoverable

Internal repair part 

recoverable

Internal repair non-

recoverable

Landlord repairs and 

insures

0

Geography 6

Market town in 

Breckland

Other location in 

Breckland

Norfolk Eastern Region UK

0

Gross Yield 10

10%+ 8 to 9.9% 6 to 7.9% 4 to 5.9% Below 3.9%

0

Specification  /Condition 5

Newly built Built within last 5 years Built within last 10 years Built within last 30-40 

years

Older than 40 years

0

Occupied 6

100% 90% 80% 70% Below 70%

0

Lot Size 3

£1m £1m to £2m £2m - £2.5m £2.5m to £3m £3m +

0

Growth Prospects / 

Rent Reviews
3

Good growth 

anticpated, rent reviews 

3 yearly upwards only

Growth anticipated, rent 

reviews 5 yearly 

upwards only

Some growth 

anticipated in rental 

value of capital value

Little growth anticipated 

in rental value or capital 

value

No growth anticipated in 

rental value or capital 

value

0

Use 2

Industrial Office / Health Retail / Leisure Community Amenity

0

 0

Using the scoring for each investment opportunity the following table confirms the next action

Scored Opportunity Rating Action Outcome:

Below 150 Poor No further action

150-200 Satisfactory Initiate enquiries

200-300 Good Pursue immediately

Scoring

192



Appendix H

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

SCHEMES
2018/19 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2018/19 

FORECAST

2018/19 

CARRY OVER 

TO 19/20

2019/20 

BUDGET

2019/20 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2020/21 

BUDGET

2021/22 

BUDGET

2022/23 

BUDGET

Total budget 

2018/19 - 

2022/23

2018/19 

Funding

2019/20 

Funding

2020/21 

Funding

2021/22 

Funding

2022/23 

Funding

Total Funding 

2018/19 - 

2022/23

Net Breckland 

contribution
Comments

A B C D E F (D + E) G H I J=C+F+G+H+I K L M N O P Q (J-P) R

Strategy and Governance - Funding Released

Shared Management ICT 271,932 271,932 - - 271,932 (76,000) (76,000) 195,932 Budget provision for phase 1 of bringing ICT in house

Superfast Broadband
- - 950,000 950,000 950,000 (950,000) (950,000) -

This is a contractual commitment to provide a contribution to Norfolk's 

Better Broadband project and the contribution is due in 2019/20 as per 

NCC confirmation 27/7/2018

Total Strategy and Governance - Released
271,932 271,932 - 950,000 950,000 - 1,221,932 (76,000) (950,000) - - - (1,026,000) 195,932 -

Strategy and Governance - Funding NOT Released

ICT Strategy /refresh

- - 200,000 200,000 200,000 (76,000) (76,000) 124,000 

Budget provision for ICT future years - 200k 19/20 - no further 

provision added.  From 18/19 £76,000 will be put to reserve from 

revenue efficiencies to fund capital spend.  Risk that budget is 

required 20/21 onwards and/or revenue savings are not achieved.

Total Strategy and Governance - Not Released - - - 200,000 200,000 - - 200,000 - (76,000) - - - (76,000) 124,000 

Total Strategy and Governance 271,932 271,932 - 1,150,000 1,150,000 - - 1,421,932 (76,000) (1,026,000) - - - (1,102,000) 319,932 

SCHEMES
2018/19 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2018/19 

FORECAST

2018/19 

CARRY OVER 

TO 19/20

2019/20 

BUDGET

2019/20 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2020/21 

BUDGET

2021/22 

BUDGET

2022/23 

BUDGET

Total budget 

2017/18 - 

2021/22

2018/19 

Funding

2019/20 

Funding

2020/21 

Funding

2021/22 

Funding

2022/23 

Funding

Total Funding 

2017/18 - 

2021/22

Net Breckland 

contribution
Comments

A B C D E F (D + E) G H I J=C+F+G+H+I K L M N O P Q (J-P) R

Place - Funding Released

Decent Homes Grants

110,324 110,324 - 110,324 (110,324) (110,324) -

This is residual unringfenced grant funding and is a finite pot. The 

funding is used as part of the Council's RESTORE initiative to bring 

empty homes back into use.  Alternative funding is being investigated 

but funding is normally one off and not sustainable so presents a risk 

to the Council.

Disability Adaptations (DFG's/Re-Able)

1,277,509 1,277,509 1,100,000 1,003,721 1,003,721 1,003,721 1,003,721 5,292,393 (1,165,649) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (5,180,533) 111,860 

Report to Council October 2018 to transfer administration of grants to 

Flagship housing company to improve efficiency of grant processing 

and maximise value from DFG grant.  RISK - 1. Assumes BCF funding 

continues as is 2. needs review in 19/20 after 1 year to ensure a long 

term solution in place (see Council report and Pro B for more info 

(WIP))

Car Parks resurfacing 17/18
15,930 2,741 - 2,741 - 2,741 

Retention sum due.  Balance transferred to 18/19 programme of car 

park works

Joint use agreement - Attleborough 6,378 6,378 - 6,378 - 6,378 Works are complete 

Roof replacement Joint use Agreement - Swaffham 38,298 38,298 - 38,298 - 38,298 share of roof repair costs

Air Conditioning, Elizabeth House, Dereham 20,000 20,000 - 20,000 - 20,000 
Car park resurfacing 2017/18 c/over retention 5,801 6,017 - 6,017 - 6,017 Retention sum

Car parking ticket machines Attleborough &Swaffham 21,930 21,930 - 21,930 (21,930) (21,930) -
Narborough Parish Council  3PL/2012/1093 S106 26,841 26,841 - 26,841 (26,841) (26,841) -
Narborough Parish Council 3PL20150928 S106 14,285 14,285 - 14,285 (14,285) (14,285) -

Public Lighting 345,000 345,000 - - - 345,000 - 345,000 Released at Finance Board August 2018

Public protection shared platform NEW 64,000 64,000 7,500 7,500 71,500 - 71,500 

Total Place - Released 1,946,296 1,933,323 - 1,107,500 1,011,221 1,003,721 1,003,721 1,003,721 5,955,707 (1,339,029) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (5,353,913) 601,794 

Place - Funding NOT Released

Roof replacement Joint use Agreement - Swaffham
161,702 161,702 - 161,702 - 161,702 

The Academy has attracted funding to re-develop Swaffham leisure centre.  

The Council' contribution is not agreed and the leisure options report may 

impact on this budget requirement

Affordable Housing S106

509,586 509,586 - 509,586 (509,586) (509,586) -

The council's original budgeted contribution for 2018/19 of £525,276  

has been separated from the Affordable Housing line and renamed 

Temporary Accommodation to support the Council's housing strategy.  

This budget line represents the available S106 monies for affordable 

housing.  An extension to the spend by date for 292k of this funding 

has been negotiated

Temporary accommodation 

525,276 525,276 525,276 525,276 

The council's original budgeted contribution for 2018/19 of £525,276  

has been separated from the Affordable Housing line and renamed 

Temporary Accommodation to support the Council's housing strategy 

Car Parks resurfacing 18/19 - 21/22 - INCREASED 19/20 FROM 25K TO 130K

248,917 262,106 130,000 130,000 392,106 - 392,106 

18/19= Drainage woks Theatre Street Swaffham & main resurfacing 

theatre street Swaffham (198k).  19/20 = Cowper Road Dereham (65k) 

School Lane Thetford (65k).  No requirement beyond 19/20 as this was 

a 5yr rolling programme that is complete in 19/20 subject to additional 

funding.  Resurfacing should last 10-15 years so no further 

requirement for car parks in this budget cycle.  Forecast 18/19 

includes 15930 carried over from 17/18

Adoption of roads - INCREASED FROM 601K TO 850k 601,535 - - - - 850,000 850,000 - 850,000 bid form required

Public Lighting 
85,000 85,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 90,000 445,000 - 445,000 

£345,000 released at Finance Board August 2018.  Balance for 

repairs/replacements ongoing.  (annual figure)

Air Conditioning, Elizabeth House, Dereham - INCREASED FROM 20K TO 30K 

PER ANNUM - 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 30,000 120,000 - 120,000 

Based on 18/19 cost, programme is Finance/HR area, then Strategic 

property area then Capita area - expected cost is £30k per annum 

ongoing for replacement units in each area.  22/23 may need 

reprofiling to earlier yrs for committee suite

Waste vehicle purchases NEW 5,000,000 5,000,000 (625,000) (625,000) (1,250,000) 3,750,000 Purchase of new vehicles to be repaid over 8 years

Total Place - Not Released 2,132,016 1,543,670 - 250,000 250,000 970,000 5,120,000 120,000 8,003,670 (509,586) - - (625,000) (625,000) (1,759,586) 6,244,084 

Total Place 4,078,312 3,476,993 - 1,357,500 1,261,221 1,973,721 6,123,721 1,123,721 13,959,377 (1,848,615) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,628,721) (1,628,721) (7,113,499) 6,845,878 

193



SCHEMES
2018/19 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2018/19 

FORECAST

2018/19 

CARRY OVER 

TO 19/20

2019/20 

BUDGET

2019/20 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2020/21 

BUDGET

2021/22 

BUDGET

2022/23 

BUDGET

Total budget 

2017/18 - 

2021/22

2018/19 

Funding

2019/20 

Funding

2020/21 

Funding

2021/22 

Funding

2022/23 

Funding

Total Funding 

2017/18 - 

2021/22

Net Breckland 

contribution
Comments

A B C D E F (D + E) G H I J=C+F+G+H+I K L M N O P Q (J-P) R

Commercialisation - Funding Released

LABV- Riverside Regeneration
230,609 49,470 181,139 181,139 230,609 - 230,609 

Balance of budget is for fit out of remaining units plus retention sum.  

Breckland House, Thetford (DWP)

3,520 31,029 - 31,029 (3,520) (3,520) 27,509 

Relocation of DWP to Thetford offices.  Fully funded by DWP but short 

term cashflow issue for the Council.  Needs release by Finance Board.  

Await final report and costings.  5k spent 16/17 to be repaid

Purchase of Land, Watton
24,500 24,500 24,500 (24,500) (24,500) -

Decision  21/48 - purchase of land for potential development subject to 

feasibility.  Funded from Growth & Investment reserve

Total Commercialisation - Released 258,629 104,999 181,139 - 181,139 - - - 286,138 (28,020) - - - - (28,020) 258,119 

Commercialisation - Funding NOT Released

Commercial Property Rolling Maintenance (profiling change + additional year 

added)

150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000 200,000 120,000 120,000 740,000 - 740,000 

Funding from Roof and Asphalt reserve will be applied if appropriate.  

19/20 = Minstergate car park, 20/21 = 200k 14/15 Bertie ward Way re-

roofing.   21/22 onwards - provision of 120k requested .  £820k 

backlog maintenance identified and 33 units require a new condition 

survey that may identify further requirement.

Snetterton Power Upgrade
2,525,470 444,217 1,274,546 904,530 2,179,076 809,707 3,433,000 (444,217) (2,179,076) (809,707) (3,433,000) -

Council in May 17 approved that the Council accepted a Grant from the LEP 

to deliver the Snetterton Power upgrade.   The project is fully funded.

Investment Strategy - Investment reserve
1,000,000 - 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 3,000,000 1,201,219 6,201,219 - (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (3,000,000) (1,201,219) (6,201,219) -

Growth & Investment reserve allocation to generate a minimum 4% 

return from investment in commercial assets.  Check amount and 

profiling

Investment strategy (from disinvestment)

512,360 - - - - -

£972,500 capital receipts are planned from disinvestment strategy to 

fund £460,140 already spent (AMB units Swaffham). Risk is that spend 

has occurred before receipt has been generated so balance of spend 

is not assumed and only £460,140 receipt is assumed. Investment 

assets for disposal approved by Members and valued.  Currently 

consulting with affected tenants

Riverside - Finishing items

40,000 40,000 - 40,000 - 40,000 

A number of finishing items have been identified.  A revenue growth 

bid for £28,500 has been submitted for non capital items and £40k for 

potential capital works to lower the wall outside the cinema and 

potential improvement works to the three legged bridge (hand rail).  

Health Hub dereham - NEW

- - - - 1,800,000 400,000 2,200,000 (200,000) (200,000) (400,000) 1,800,000 

Feasibility funded by One Public Estate programme suggested 

Breckland Business centre Dereham could accommodate a health 

use.  Minimum of 100k extra revenue income per annum. (50k in 

20/21)  Net contribution = £600k subject to receiving 200k per annum 

for 8 yrs from tenants (part of lease arrangements) - have shown 6 

years contribution in 22/23

Total Commercialisation - Not Released
4,227,830 634,217 1,274,546 2,054,530 3,329,076 3,809,707 3,520,000 1,321,219 12,614,219 (444,217) (3,179,076) (1,809,707) (3,200,000) (1,401,219) (10,034,219) 2,580,000 

Total Commercialisation 
4,486,459 739,216 1,455,685 2,054,530 3,510,215 3,809,707 3,520,000 1,321,219 12,900,357 (472,237) (3,179,076) (1,809,707) (3,200,000) (1,401,219) (10,062,239) 2,838,119 

Capital loans

Breckland bridge Shareholder Loan - Mileham phase 2 19,662 - - - - -

Breckland bridge shareholder loan Attleborough 463,376 463,376 - 463,376 - 463,376 Subject to stage 2 approval process.  Agreed in principle

483,038 463,376 - - - - - 463,376 - - - - - 463,376 

9,319,741 4,951,517 1,455,685 4,562,030 5,921,436 5,783,428 9,643,721 2,444,940 28,745,042 (2,396,852) (5,208,797) (2,813,428) (4,828,721) (3,029,940) (18,277,738) 10,467,304 -

Forecast capital receipts
2018/19 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2018/19 

FORECAST

2018/19 

CARRY OVER 

TO 19/20

2019/20 

BUDGET

2019/20 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2020/21 

BUDGET

2021/22 

BUDGET

2022/23 

BUDGET

Total budget 

2017/18 - 

2021/22

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

-

Right to Buy (282,000) (282,000) (94,000) (94,000) (94,000) (470,000)

Disinvestment in underperforming assets (972,500) - (460,140) (460,140) (460,140)

Sale of land Gressehall (90,000) (90,000)

LABV Receipts (exc capital loans) - - - -

Chapel Road land receipt (142,786) (142,786) - (142,786)

Breckland Bridge Loan repayments up to 31/3/2018 (464,770) (464,770) - (464,770)

Breckland Bridge Loan repayments 18/19 (19,662) - - -

Breckland Bridge loan repayments Attleborough (463,376) (463,376) - (463,376)

Riverside lease income (84,475) (84,475) (87,697) (87,697) (91,049) (94,536) (98,164) (455,921)

Total (2,429,569) (1,527,407) 0 (641,837) (641,837) (185,049) (94,536) (98,164) (2,546,993)

Funding
2018/19 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2018/19 

FORECAST

2018/19 

CARRY OVER 

TO 19/20

2019/20 

BUDGET

2019/20 TOTAL 

BUDGET

2020/21 

BUDGET

2021/22 

BUDGET

2022/23 

BUDGET

Total budget 

2018/19 - 

2022/23

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Revenue - Superfast Broadband (950,000) (950,000) (950,000)

Revenue - ICT Strategy (76,000) (76,000) (100,000) (76,000) (152,000)

Revenue - Investment reserve (1,000,000) - (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (3,000,000) (1,201,219) (6,201,219)

Revenue - car park machines (21,930) (21,930) - (21,930)

revenue - Purchase of land, Watton (24,500) (24,500) (24,500)

Grant - Better Care Fund - Disabled Facilities Grant (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (1,003,721) (5,018,605)

Grant - Better Care Fund - Disabled Facilities Grant carry over from 17/18 (161,928) (161,928) - (161,928)

Grant - Decent Homes (110,324) (110,324) - (110,324)

Grant - DWP Thetford (3,520) (3,520) - (3,520)

Grant - Match funding - Shipdham Church - - - -

Grant - Snetterton power Upgrade (LEP) (2,525,470) (444,217) (2,179,076) (2,179,076) (809,707) (3,433,000)

Grant - health hub contribution to capital - - - (200,000) (200,000) (400,000)

S106 (26,841) (26,841) - (26,841)

S106 (14,285) (14,285) - (14,285)

S106 - Affordable Housing (509,586) (509,586) - (509,586)

Waste Vehicles Purchase - - - - - (625,000) (625,000) (1,250,000)

Total (5,478,105) (2,396,852) 0 (5,232,797) (5,208,797) (2,813,428) (4,828,721) (3,029,940) (18,277,738)

Capital Financing requirement 18/19 19/20 20/21 21/22 22/23

£000's £000's £000's £000's £000's

Capital resources available @ beginning of year
5,657 6,455 6,284 8,814 13,265

Movement (Spend less funding & receipts) (7,480) (8,206) (5,250) (3,060) (8,194)

CFR (1,823) (1,751) 1,034 5,754 5,071

194



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Member for People and Information

To: Cabinet – 27 November 2018

Author: Corey Gooch – Senior Business Intelligence Officer

Subject: Performance Overview Report – Quarter 2 2018/19 

Purpose: To provide an update on Council performance for the period 1st July 2018 to 
31st September 2018

Recommendation(s): 

1) To note the content of the report
2) To agree the proposed changes to the staff turnover performance target changes highlighted 

in this report 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Quarter 2 Performance Report (Appendix A) provides Members and residents with 
information about the Council’s delivery against its Corporate Priorities and on the 
Council’s Corporate Health.  This covering report presents a summary of the status of the 
Council’s key indicators.

1.2 Areas of success, where performance is above target, are brought to Members’ attention, 
as are areas of concern where performance is below anticipated outcomes or is 
considered to be worsening.  Areas of performance are discussed at Performance Board.

1.3 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

1.4 Current status of key performance indicators (above):  Quarter 1’s performance is 
assessed as ‘moderate’ with 7 indicators (47%) marked ‘Green’, 6 indicators (40%) at 
‘Amber’ and 2 indicators (13%) that are ‘Red’.

195

Agenda Item 13



1.5 AREAS OF SUCCESS

1.6 The performance of the Breckland lottery scheme has shown further success in this 
quarter as £14,799 has been generated for community ‘good causes’ since the lottery 
launched in March, this figure continues to climb which is positive and reflects on the 
work being done by the teams internally as well as working with marketing agencies to 
launch marketing campaigns which look to attract more good causes and lottery players

1.7 FOI response rates have improved dramatically within the council, the figure for the % of 
requests responded to within deadlines currently sits at 84% from the quarter, whilst the 
target continues to be 100% for all requests it is important to note that this is the highest 
this figure has been at since the end of October 2016, there is still work and plans in 
place to ensure this figure continues to improve but it is a positive reflection on the 
engagement and processes in place for the teams to deal with FOIs in a timely and 
effective manner.

1.8 The Housing benefit LA error rate sits at 0.2% for this quarter which is in fact the lowest 
recorded score at this period in the year since this figure has been reported, this is a 
positive reflection on the work being done by the benefit team within ARP to ensure the 
threshold for financial penalty due to error is not breached.

1.9 AREAS OF CONCERN

1.10 Staff turnover is above its optimal target of 2.5% or less, the figure sits at 5.3% for 
quarter 2 and there have been 14 leavers in the time period reported. A majority of the 
leavers consist of resignations and reasons for leaving continues to be monitored via 
leaver interviews conducted by HR. This report will further detail a recommendation to 
change the target for this indicator based on national analysis, this information can be 
found in the recommendations/options section below.

1.11 The number of empty homes that have been brought back into use for this quarter 
currently sits at 0, this is a cause for concern as there has also been no information 
provided regarding the data for this figure and any context from the housing service. 

2.0 ADDITIONAL POINTS

2.1     It was requested at the last overview and scrutiny commission that a breakdown be 
provided on staff reasons for leaving the organisation over the last 12 months, below is a 
chart detailing the top reasons for leaving based on all staff who have left the organisation 
in the last 12 months.

196



As the chart demonstrates, general resignations make up nearly half of all leavers, with 
resignations to join other local authorities making up nearly 20% of reasons. It Is important 
to note the HR department continue to study these reasons and look for trends or areas of 
concern/learning that we can take from this.

2.2    Members will also note the addition of two new performance measures in this report which 
monitors the number of customers who have been made vexatious as set out by the 
councils vexatious policy, this was requested by cabinet that this figure is reported to OSC. 
The other new measure requested by cabinet covers the number of RIPA (Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act) applications made by the council for each quarter. As members 
will likely be aware this act allows local authority officers to put in a request under RIPA 
that will grant the local authority information and surveillance when investigating criminal 
offences.

3.0 OPTIONS

3.1      This report makes one recommendation that the current target score for Staff turnover is 
amended to reflect modern turnover rates for local authorities, the proposal is that 
maximum threshold for staff turnover is amended from 10% to 17.5% for 18/19

3.2      Do Nothing

4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

197



4.1      Analysis conducted by the Corporate Improvement and Performance team tells us that 
when defining a “Healthy” turnover rate, the most accurate representation we can assess 
is the mean/average turnover rates for all local authorities across England, the analysis 
conducted shows that average turnover rate for local authorities is slowly rising and 
currently sits at 17.5%, whilst this may seem high it is important to note this is still the 
average, therefore If we look to have a healthy turnover rate based on all other 
authorities it would be recommended we amend our targets to reflect this national 
average, currently the target is 10% or less and it is worth noting that the national 
average for all local authorities has not been 10% since 2012/13. 

5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

5.1      Not applicable.

6.0 IMPLICATIONS

6.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

6.1.1   Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of 
the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.2       Constitution & Legal

6.2.1    Constitution and Legal Issues have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report 
Author that there are no implications.

6.3       Contracts

6.3.1   Contracts implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author 
that there are no implications.

6.4       Corporate Priorities

6.4.1   The report presents progress monitoring of performance of the corporate priorities.

6.5       Crime and Disorder 

6.5.1   Crime and Disorder implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report 
Author that there are no implications.

6.6       Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

6.6.1    Equality and Diversity / Human Rights implications have been considered and it is the 
opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.7       Financial 

6.7.1    Financial implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author 
that there are no implications.

6.8       Health & Wellbeing

6.8.1    Health & Wellbeing implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report       
Author that there are no implications.

198



6.9       Risk Management 

6.9.1   Risk implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that 
there are no implications.

6.10 Staffing

6.10.1  Staffing implications have been considered and it is the opinion of the Report Author that    
there are no implications.

6.11 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

6.11.1 Stakeholder / Consultation / Timescale implications have been considered and it is the 
opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

7.1       No Wards or Communities are affected

8.0 ACRONYMS 

8.1      EMT – Executive Management Team

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide
Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Ross Bangs – Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager
Telephone Number: 01362 656268
Email: ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk 

Director / Officer who will be attending the Meeting
Name and Post: Ross bangs – Corporate Improvement & Performance Manager

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Quarter 2 Performance Report

199

file://bcf01.intranet.breckland.gov.uk/corporate_improvement_performance/Performance/Reports/BDC%20OSC%20Cabinet/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
file://bcf01.intranet.breckland.gov.uk/corporate_improvement_performance/Performance/Reports/BDC%20OSC%20Cabinet/Democratic%20Services/Committee/Committee/Report%20Guide/2014/THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc
mailto:ross.bangs@breckland-sholland.gov.uk


1

Q2 2018/19 BDC Overview and Scrutiny Report

Generated on: 24 October 2018

         

         

Indicator Value of Grants Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 £11,968.00

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The total amount of 
grant money that has 
been awarded to the 
community 
development team

 

 Data Only

 

 Higher is better as the community 
development team look to bring in 
more money for grants

Summer is a notoriously slow time for grant funding 
applications due to the council being closed and 
holidays being taken which has resulted in a slight dip in 
this figure

200



2

         

         

Indicator Breckland Lottery (Value awarded) Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year

Current Performance Q2
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 £32,728.80

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The overall amount 
of money that has 
been awarded via 
the Breckland 
lottery

 

Data Only 

 

 Higher is better as we look to 
generate more money for 
community ‘good causes’

£32,728.80 has been generated for community 'good 
causes' to date in 2018/19, since the Lottery launched 
on March 30th 2018.

Candour Marketing agency launched a 4 month online 
Marketing campaign looking to attract both 'good 
causes', and new lottery player, on our behalf in 
September. We continue to monitor the yield from this. 
Internally Locality Team officer has developed a monthly 
e-newsletter which is being sent to both good Causes 
and Lottery Player alike for promotional purposes and to 
offer incentive and support. 

201



3

         

         

Indicator % of FOI requests responded to within the time limit Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Num responded 
in timescale

Number due in 
month

Value

Q2 2017/18 109 157 69%
Current Performance Q2

Num responded 
in timescale

Number due in 
month

Value

Q2 2018/19 98 116 84%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Of the FOI's 
responded to in the 
month, the 
percentage of ones 
that were 
responded to within 
the statutory 20 day 
timescale

 

100%

 

A higher % is better as we look to 
answer more FOI's in the 20 day 
timescale

Members asked at last OSC that the note for this 
measure covers a breakdown of the source of FOIs over 
the last year, the breakdown is roughly as follows based 
on our data, 46% of our FOIs came from businesses, 30% 
came from members of the public, 17% came from the 
media, 3% came from students, 1.5% came from 
charities, 1% came from other local authorities and 0.8% 
came from MPs

         

         

202



4

Indicator % of complaints responded to within agreed timescales Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Complaints in 
Timescale

Complaints 
Closed in Period

Value

Q2 2017/18 14 28 50%
Current Performance Q2

Complaints in 
Timescale

Complaints 
Closed in Period

Value

Q2 2018/19 87 106 82.08%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Of the complaints 
responded to in the 
period, the 
percentage of ones 
that were 
responded to within 
the agreed 
timescale

 

90%

 

 Higher is better as we look to 
respond to as many complaints 
within the agreed timescales as 
possible

The % of complaints responded to within agreed 
timescales has dipped slightly this quarter but is 
still high overall when comparing to last year’s 
scores, it is also worth noting a slight increase in 
the number of complaints, this is due to changes in 
the complaint logging process by customers which 
has resulted in services issues (ASB, Missed bins 
etc.) being logged as formal complaints online, this 
is being addressed by the CIP team and services are 
dealing with as service issues appropriately

         

203



5

         
Indicator Number of Vexatious Customer Registrations Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 0

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

This Performance 
measure monitors the 
number of customers 
who have been made 
vexatious in the time 
period.
The vexatious 
application is 
managed via the 
Corporate Complaints 
team and the Legal 
team.

 

Data Only 

Le
r 

 There isn’t necessarily a good or bad 
measure in relation to this PI, 
customers will be registered as 
vexatious as per the policy and often 
the figure doesn’t directly correlate to 
circumstances the council can control.

This is a new PI as per a request from Cabinet, to date 
there have been no customers of Breckland council who 
have been deemed officially as vexatious.

        

204



6

 

         

Indicator % of Calls Abandoned Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

# Calls Abandoned # Calls Received Value

Q2 2017/18 8,674 37,266 23.28%

Current Performance Q2

# Calls Abandoned # Calls Received Value

Q2 2018/19 4,634 34,017 13.62%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of calls that are 
answered by an 
appropriate member of 
staff from the total of calls 
offered 

 

10.1%

 

A lower % is better as we look to answer more 
calls  

Most of the red days have occurred when necessary external Benefits 
training has taken place to upskill staff following secondments and a 
couple of full time staff leaving early October. Also long term 
sickness. There have been agents within the service signed off for the 
majority of September, Any agents off sick are due to return by the 
end of October however. We are also experiencing more than 
forecasted calls in specific areas such as Council Tax and Housing, 
the recent survey has shown that a vast majority of these avoidable 
calls are chase ups.

Future forecast based on current call trends, known absence and 
staffing plans should ensure this performance measure will return to 
green. We have also identified a need for 2x FTE posts in order to 
meet performance targets and mitigate risk

         

205



7

         
Indicator New website visits Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 51,415
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value
Q2 2018/19 74,192

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of new 
visits to the 
Council's website

 
Data Only 

 
A higher number is better as we 
look to get more people accessing 
the website

The number of new website visits continues on an 
upwards trend as we continue to promote our 
digital channels. 

        

206



8

 

         

Indicator % of household waste recycled or composted Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Recycle/Compost 
Tonnage

Total Waste 
Collected 
Tonnage

Value

Q2 2017/18 5671.71 13627.41 41.62%
Current Performance Q2

Recycle/Compost 
Tonnage

Total Waste 
Collected 
Tonnage

Value

Q2 2018/19 4822.79 12898.92 37.43%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of household 
waste which has 
been recycled and 
composted 
(includes garden 
waste) against all 
the household 
waste collected

 

41.57%

 

A higher % is better as we look to 
recycle or compost more waste  

We are slightly below our target as the % of 
household waste recycled or composted did not 
meet the desired targets for August and July, the 
team as working to encourage recycling and 
composting through the relevant channels as well 
as continuing to promote the garden waste scheme.

         

207



9

         

Indicator Flytipping - tonnes Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 60.00 tonnes
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value
Q2 2018/19 65.00 tonnes

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Estimated tonnage 
of Waste collected 
from fly tipping 

 
 Data Only

 
Lower is better as we look to 
reduce the fly tipping tonnage 
collected

This is the estimated tonnage for this Quarter until 
confirmed by county, fly tipping enforcement is a 
key focus for the service.

         

     

 

 

  

208



10

Indicator Missed Waste Collections Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Number of 
missed 
collections

Num of 
collections per 
100,000

Value

Q2 2017/18 64.333 2.647 24
Current Performance Q2

Number of 
missed 
collections

Num of 
collections per 
100,000

Value

Q2 2018/19 49 2.643 19

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of missed 
waste collections 
per 100,000 
households

 

15

 

A lower number is better as we 
look to ensure fewer waste 
collections are missed 

Slightly above what we target our missed waste 
collections to be due to August and September 
resulting in a higher number of missed bins, whilst 
high these are forecast to be busy months with a 
slightly higher number of collections being missed 
and the service is looking to reduce this number 
and these months are showing signs of 
improvement as the figure has been higher than 
this for the same period in the last 2 years.

209



11

         

 

        

Indicator Number of Incidents of Fly Tipping Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 155

Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 262

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of reported 
fly tipping incidents 
collected by Serco

 

 Data Only

 

Lower is better There are a higher number of fly tips reported this year 
as we encourage the reporting of fly tipping where 
possible, this has led to more being identified and dealt 
with accordingly.

210



12

         

         

Indicator Number of Garden waste subscribers Trend Chart

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 22,231

Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 20,993

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Total # of subscribers 
to garden waste for 
the month  

 

Data Only 

Hi
gh 

 Higher is better as we look to gain as 
many subscribers for the scheme as 
possible.

Following the audit in June which identified changes 
required in reporting, we have continued to cleanse and 
clarify the data, which has resulted in the number of 
subscribers decreasing slightly.

211



13

Indicator Gross income generated by EHT&C Trend Chart
The amount of gross 
income generated by the 
Environmental Health, 
Training and consultancy 
commercial trading arm  

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 £45,805.00

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

£52,500.00
 

Higher is better as we look to generate more 
income from our environmental health training 
and consultancy department

Despite being slightly under target for this quarter, overall forecast 
for yearend remains on target as there are still orders being received 
which the service is yet to invoice etc.

Indicator Net Income generated by EHT&C (after expenditure) Trend Chart
The amount of net income 
(surplus after expenditure) 
generated by the 
Environmental Health, 
Training and consultancy 
commercial trading arm 

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 £44,663.00

   Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

   

£29,500.00
 

Higher is better as we look to generate more 
income from our environmental health training 
and consultancy department

EHT&C remains on target to achieve forecast targets

212



14

         

         

Indicator Food Businesses Rated 'Generally Satisfactory' or Above Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Number rated 3,4 
or 5

Total number of 
food businesses

Value

Q2 2017/18 1,395 1,481 94.19%
Current Performance Q2

Number rated 3,4 
or 5

Total number of 
food businesses

Value

Q2 2018/19 1,378 1,420 97.04%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

The % of rateable 
food businesses 
with a rating of 3 
(generally 
satisfactory), 4 
(good) or 5 (very 
good) as a % of the 
total number of 
rateable businesses

 

95%

 

Higher is better as we look to have 
more businesses with a good or 
above food rating

It is pleasing to note that the number of Food 
business with a rating of ‘Generally satisfactory’ or 
above is at one of the highest we have seen this 
figure at, in contrast this puts only 42 business with 
a score lower than 3 and it is important to note 
intervention action is being taken where possible to 
bring these food businesses to a higher standard.

         

        

213



15

 

Indicator Staff turnover % Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Number of 
Leavers

Number of 
Employees

Value

Q2 2017/18 14 270 5.2%
Current Performance Q2

Number of 
Leavers

Number of 
Employees

Value

Q2 2018/19 14 265.5 5.3%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of total leavers 
against total 
number of staff 
employed in period 
(includes 
involuntary leavers)
  Target is 10% 
which has been 
benchmarked

 

2.5%

 

Lower is better as we look to retain 
staff 

90% of leavers in this period were due to resignations 
spread across multiple areas, HR have not identified any 
particular areas or reasons for concern and is currently 
working to re-score turnover targets

        

214



16

 

         

Indicator % of time lost to sickness Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Working Hours 
Lost

Working Hours 
Available

Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year

Current Performance Q2
Working Hours 
Lost

Working Hours 
Available

Value

Q2 2018/19 1,497.625 42,430.278 3.53%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% of time lost in 
hours due to 
sickness

 

Data Only 
Lo
w
er 

 Lower is better as we look to lose 
as little time as possible to 
sickness

There has not been much change since the last 
quarter as HR continue to monitor sickness and 
work with services where issues have been 
identified.

        

215



17

 

         
Indicator Cases Prevented from Homelessness per 1,000 Households Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value
Q2 2018/19 N/A N/A N/A

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

P1E Return - 
Prevention and 
Relieving of 
Homelessness (No. 
of potentially 
homeless cases 
diverted from 
homelessness per 
1,000 households)  

 

 

 

This is not a targeted measure. 
The number does not reflect % of 
cases prevented from 
homelessness and therefore will 
fluctuate dependent upon demand 
to the service.  

This indicator measures net increase and decrease of 
properties liable for council tax receipts, with this said, 
the number of properties has remained static for quarter 
2, it is proposed that future performance of this 
measure is based on properties brought back into use 
by means of direct officer intervention.

        

216



18

 

         

Indicator Empty Properties - Back in Use Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year

Current Performance Q2
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 0

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Number of empty 
properties brought 
back into use 
through direct 
intervention by the 
council i.e. Restore 
Grant. 
 
Amount should be 
cumulative for the 
year  

25
 
More is better as we look to reduce 
the number of empty properties in 
the District

Commentary on this figure has not been provided 
by the services on this quarter

     

 

   

217



19

         

Indicator Breckland Empty Commercial Properties (Not in use) Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year

Current Performance Q2
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 226

 
Current 
Target  

What does good look like?
 
Latest Note

 

Number of NDR 
Empty 
commercial 
properties at the 
defined time 
period (No 
business rates 
will be received 
on these 
properties whilst 
vacant)

 

Data Only 

 

Lower is better as we look to 
have as few empty 
commercial properties as we 
can in order to increase the 
amount of business rates 
collected as well as boost the 
districts economy

As of Q2 there are 226 empty commercial 
properties not in use within the district, this 
figure has reduced by 4 since the end of Q1

        

218



20

 

         

Indicator Breckland Empty Homes Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 Data not recorded last year

Current Performance Q2
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 419

 
Current 
Target  

What does good look like?
 
Latest Note

 

Number of Empty 
homes within the 
district at the 
defined time 
period

 
Data Only 

 
Lower is better as we look to 
have as few empty homes as 
possible

As of Q2 there are 419 empty homes in the 
district, this is a slight increase of 13 empty 
properties since the last Quarter

   

 

     

         

219



21

Indicator Local Unemployment Levels Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 2,430
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value
Q2 2018/19 2,600

 
Current 
Target  

What does good look like?
 
Latest Note

 

Figures from 
external sources 
to provide 
context on the 
District

 

Data Only 

 

Lower is better as it provides 
context of an economically 
active District

According to the data source NOMIS 
Brecklands local unemployment levels are as 
follows (number of people unemployed)
Jul - 885
Aug - 870
Sep 845

        

220



22

 

         
Indicator % of Major applications determined within 13 weeks or agreed extension Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 85%
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value
Q2 2018/19 86.67%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

% determined within 
13 weeks (or with 
agreed extension) 
 
(Contractual target 
is 50%) 

 

90%

 

Higher is better as we look to get 
more applications agreed in 
timescale

The planning service continues to meet 
targets set by ensuring planning 
applications are determined within time 
limits or agreed extension

 

 

       

         

221



23

Indicator % of Minor applications determined within 8 weeks or agreed 
extension

Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 90.67%
Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value
Q2 2018/19 87.67%

 
Current 
Target  

What does good look like?
 
Latest Note

 

% determined 
within 8 weeks 
(or with agreed 
extension) 

 

70%

 

Higher is better as we look to 
get more applications agreed 
in timescale

The planning service continues to meet 
targets set by ensuring planning 
applications are determined within time 
limits or agreed extension

      

 
 

 

222



24

         
Indicator Housing Benefit LA Error Rate Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Error expenditure Total housing benefit 

expenditure
Value

Q2 2017/18 40,309.56 15,365,058.61 0.26%
Current Performance Q2

Error expenditure Total housing benefit 
expenditure

Value

Q2 2018/19 30,096.61 14,881,503.58 0.20%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Local Authority 
error in Housing 
Benefit overpayment 
Amount of benefits 
overpaid divided by 
benefits paid (% of 
overall expenditure)  

 

0.35%

 

Lower is better as we look to 
minimise the amount of money 
paid in error and reduce the risk of 
financial penalty (which occurs 
above 0.48%)  

Trends and forecasting from the service indicate the 
LA error rate will remain well below the threshold 
for financial penalty, the error rate for this quarter 
is lower by 0.6% than the same period last year 
which is pleasing to note.

        

223



25

 

         

Indicator Net Business Rates receipts Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
In year collection 
amount

Total collectable 
debit

Value

Q2 2017/18 £17836817
Current Performance Q2

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable 
debit

Value

Q2 2018/19 £20189166

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Actual revenue 
collected in respect 
of Business Rates 
against budget 

 
£19116141

 
Higher is better as we look to 
collect as much of the business 
rates debit as possible 

ARP Continues to collect above target for Net 
Business Rates receipts

        

 
 

     

224



26

Net Council Tax receipts Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
In year collection 
amount

Total collectable 
debit

Value

Q2 2017/18 £38673103
Current Performance Q2

In year collection 
amount

Total collectable 
debit

Value

Q2 2018/19 £41587632

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

 
£41581757

 
Higher is better as we look to 
collect as much of the Council Tax 
debit as possible  

ARP continues to work above the targets set for 
Council tax collection

 
 

       

         

225



27

Indicator Commercial Property Occupancy Trend Chart

 

Same time last year
Total floor space 
let (sq.ft)

Total lettable 
space (sq.ft.)

Value

Q2 2017/18 571,830.667 633,038 90%
Current Performance Q2

Total floor space 
let (sq.ft)

Total lettable 
space (sq.ft.)

Value

Q2 2018/19 578,505.667 637,341 91%

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

Target is to achieve 
90% occupancy level 
of the Council's 
commercial 
property 
(investment, non 
operational) assets 
which excludes 
operational assets 
Calculated by total 
floor space let over 
the total lettable 
space.  

 

98%

 

A higher number is better as we 
look to rent out as much of the 
commercial property space as 
possible and increase income  

The Commercial Property occupancy remains lower 
than previously reported primarily due to the Kings 
Lynn investment asset (ex Jaeger unit) remaining 
void.  This one asset represents 7%.  We are actively 
promoting and marketing all of our vacant 
properties to minimise void periods. 

         
         

Indicator Commercial Property Gross Rental Income Trend Chart

226



28

 

Same time last year

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2017/18 £1,433,408.00

Current Performance Q2

Numerator Denominator Value

Q2 2018/19 £1,338,053.00

 Current Target  What does good look like?  Latest Note  

This is the total gross 
rental income that is 
forecast to be achieved 
from the Commercial 
Property assets 
including Riverside and 
Barnham Broom.
 

 

£1,380,618.93

 

Higher is better as we look to increase our 
income from assets

Commercial property occupancy is currently at 91% against a 
target of 98%

The monthly value is below target as the lease surrender of 
the Kings Lynn property has affected our outturn as no rent 
has been received on this property since July 2017.  We are 
actively promoting and marketing this property to minimise 
the void period along with the remaining void units within the 
portfolio.

END OF REPORT

227


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	RESTRICTED MINUTES Public Pack, 16/10/2018 Cabinet

	8 Safeguarding Policy
	Appendix A Safeguarding Policy

	9 Quarter 2 Financial Performance Report 2018-19
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 2 Financial Performance Report 2018-19

	10 Local Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers
	Appendix A for Local Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers
	Appendix 1 for Local Council Tax Discount for Care Leavers

	11 Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan refresh 2018
	Appendix 1 Norfolk Strategic Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2018

	12 Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix A for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix B for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix C for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix D for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix D2 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	A Guide to the Fees for Planning Applications in England
	These fees apply from 17 January 2018 onwards.
	This document is based upon ‘The Town and Country Planning (Fees for Applications, Deemed Applications, Requests and Site Visits) (England) Regulations 2012’ (as amended)
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	Continued on next page…
	ENDS

	Appendix E for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix F for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix G for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix G1 for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20
	Appendix H for Draft Budget, Medium Term Plan and Capital Strategy 2019-20

	13 Q2 2018-19 Performance Overview Report
	Appendix 1 for Quarter 2 2018-19 Performance Overview Report


